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INSOLIDATED PROFIT AN

for the year ended 313t Dreember 1598

1998 1957
Not Ussm UsSsSm

Sales ' I 5.757.4 6,888.3
Cost of sales (4,20%7,9) {3.124.9)
Gross margin 1,540.5 1,763.4
Net operating costs (1,397.6) (1,645.0
Operating profit 151.9 F18.4
Share of profits less losses of associates 30.6 65.1
Exceptional items 2 12.4 129.9)
Profit before interest t 1949 153.6
INet interest income/iexpense) 3 4.9 {13.5)
Profit before taxation : 4 199.8 140.1
Taxation : 3 (32.9) {36.6)
Minority interests (5.3) 225
Profit after taxation and mingrily interests 161.6 126.0
Preference dividends 16.0) 113.6)
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 155.0 f12.4

use Use
Earnings per share 7
- basic 8.46 6.26
— diluted 8.45 6.26
Earnings per share excluding discontinued activities

and exceptional items 7

- basic 7.89 7.26
— diluted 7.88 7.26

1998 1997
Nate LSSm Ussn

At Ist january
— as previously reported 811.0 81056
- change in accounting policy 19 113.7} i5.9)
— as restated 797.3 801.7
IProfit after taxation and minority interests 161.6 126.0
Prefarence dividends 16.6) ti3.6)
Ordinary dividends 6 (110.2) (109.7)
Property revaluation tneat) 1113.2} -
Defarred taxation on property revaluation (1.5} -
Redemptionfrepurchase of convertible preference sharas (15.7) -
Reserves arising on scrip issued in lieu of dividends 5.6 50.9
Net exchange translation differences
— amount arising in year (10.2) 155.9)
- disposal of subsidizries and associates 7.6 -
Cther 0.4 (2.1}
At 315t December 7791 7973




160

ALASDAIR MORRISON
RONALD | FLOTO
Dirctors

10th March 1999

1998 1997
Note Ussm USSm
NET OPERATING ASSETS
tntangible assets 8 8.5 1.1
" Tangible fixed assets g 949.8 1.267.6
Associates and other investments i 149.6 333.0
Deferred taxation assets L 7.6 16.2
Non-current assets 1,1155 1.617.9
Stocks 475.9 518.2
Debtars and prepayments 184.5 2039
£ank balances 12 715.4 608.4
Current assels 1,375.8 1.330.5
Craditors, accruals and provisions 1828.7) 11.048.2)
Bank advances 13 [115.6) (1123
Taxation 114.3) 120.4}
Proposed dividends (79.9) 188.2)
Current liabitities (1,038.5) 11,2691
Net current assets 337.3 61.4
Term loans 14 i391.9; (422.5)
Deferred taxation Habilities 15 (38.1} 131.6)
Other non-current liabilities (5.0) -
1,017.8 1,225.2
CAPITAL EMPLOYED
Share capital 16 91.8 258.6
Share premium 18 146.5 180.0
Revenue and other reserves 19 779.1 797.3
Shareholders' funds 1.017.4 12339
* Mingrity interests 0.4 (10.7}
1,017.8 1,225.2




161

A. Basls of preparation
The Financia! Stztements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
certain non-current assets, and in conformity with International Accounting Standards.

B. Basis of consolidation

{i) The consclidated profit and loss account and balance sheet include the financial statements of the Company,
its subsidiaries and, on the basis set out in (ii] below, its associates. The resulis of subsidiaries and associates are
included or excluded from their effective dates of acquisition or disposal respectively, and are based on their latest
audited financial statements which are made up to 31st December 1998.

(i} Associates are companies, not being subsidiaries, in which the Group exercises significant influence and has an
attributable interest of 20% or more of the ordinary share capital held for the long term. Associates are included on the
equity basis of accounting.

C. Foreign currencies .
Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries and assoclates. together with ail other monetary assets and liabilities expressed
in foreign currencies are translated into United States Dollars at the rates of exchange ruling at the year end. Results
expressed in foreign currencies are translated into United States Dollars at the average rates of exchange ruling during
the yaar,

et exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries and associates
expressed in foreign currencies, and exchange differences on transactions which hedge these investments ara taken
directly to exchange reserves. On the disposal of these investments, such exchange differances are racognised in the
consolidatad profit and loss account. Al other exchange difierences are dealt with in tha consolidated profit and
loss account.

D. Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of an acquisition and the fair value of the Group's share of the net
assets of the acquired subsidiary or associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acguisitions cccurring on or after
Ist January 1995 is reported in the balance sheet as an intangible asset or included within associates, as appropriate,
and is amortised using the stralght line method over its estimated usefut lifz which is generally between 5 and

20 years. Goodwill on acquisitions which occurred prior to Ist January 1995 was taken directly to reserves.

The profit or loss on disposal of subsidiaries and associates is calculated by reference to the net assets at the date of
disposal including the attributable amount of goodwill which remains unamortised but does not include any
attributable goodwill previously eliminated against reserves,

E. Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

Land and buildings are stated at valuation. Independent valuations are performed every three years oa an open
market for e«isting use basis. [n the intervening years the Directors review the carrying value of land and buildings and
adjustment is made where there has been a material change. Revaluation surpluses and deficits are dzalt with in
capital reserves except for movements on individual properties below depreciated cost which are dealt with in the
profit and loss account Other tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less amounts provided for depreciation.

Depreciation Is calculated on the straight line basis at annual rates estimated to write off the cost or valuation of each
assel over its estimated useful life.

The principe! rates genesally in use are as lollows:

Leasehold land and buildings . up to 3%
Leasehold improvements over the period of lease
Plant and machinery T 10% - 334%
Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles 10% — 33/5%

Mo depreciatian is provided on freehold land The cost of maintenance, repairs and minar equipmest is charzad to the
profit and loss account as incurred and the cost of sigaificant improvements is capitalised. The profit or loss oa
dispesal of tangible fixed assets is recognised by reference to their carrying value.

@';\;;;arg‘epm. 1993 °
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1598 1997
10. ASSQCIATES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS ussm Ussm
Group share of attributable net assets;
— Listed investments: PT Hero Supermarket 7.3 -
Kwik Save - 208.5
— Other 129.3 }21.0
[36.6 3295
Goodwill on acquisition fnet) 12.6 3.1
Associates 149.2 3324
Other investments 0.4 0.4
149.6 333.0
Market value of listed investments 9.5 2185
Movements of goodwill on acquisition for the year:
Net book value at Ist january 3.0 3.4
Exchange rate adjustments 3.2 {2.8
New associates 34.0 39
Amortisation {4.7) {1.4)
Diminution in value and amount written off 123.0) -
Net book value at 31st December 12,6 3.1

The inveslmient in PT Hero Supermarket is considered to be strategic in nature, accordingly, the gbuctwilt is amortised over 10 years,

The Directars have reviewetl the carrying value of the goodwill in PT Hero Supermarket and as a result, eeflected a permianant diminution in

the carrying value of US520.2 millicn

1998 i997
11. DEFERRED TAXATION ASSETS usém Ussm
Unused tax losses 3.0 1.1
Cther temporary differences 4.6 5.1
7.6 16.2

Defereed taxation of USS7.0 million (1997: USS5.6 million) arising from unused tax Josses of USS34.9 million (1997: USS25.6 million)

has not been recognised at the encl of the year. :

1998 1997
12. BANK BALANCES USSm UssSm
Deposits with banks 642.8 518.4
Bank and cash balances 65.6 90.0
715.4 608.4

At 315t December 1998, the Group hekl fixed interest rate hedges of USS77.6 miillion 11997 USS77.6 millnon] carrying & weighred average rate
of 6. 1% 11997: 6.1%1 for a weighted average period of 1.7 years (1997, 2.7 years).

1998 1997

13. BANK ADVANCES ussm Ussm
Bank ad\.jances — unsecured 56.4 86.0
Current portion of term loans {note 14) 59.2 263
115.6 1123
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1998 1957

18. SHARE PREMIUM ussm Ussm
AL 1st January 214.2 2109
Capitalisation arising on scrip issued in lieu of dividends {0.2) {3.5)
Repurchase/redemption of convertible preference shares (35.3) -
Shares issued under share incentive schemes [net} 10.5 6.8
At 31st Decemnber 189.2 2142
Qutstanding under share incentive schemes (42.77) - {342y
146.5 180.0
Capital
reservs and
Revenue contrifuted Exchange
reseneed surplug 1eseris TFotal
19. REVENUE AND OTHER RESERVES UsSSm LSS UssSm USSnt
1998
At st January
~ as previously reported 459.0 456.0 £104.0) 811.0
— change in accounting policy 23 116.0) - t13.7)
— asrestated . 4613 440.0 1104.0) 797.3
Profit after taxation and minority interasts ) t6E6 - - 1606
Preference dividends : . {6.6) - - 6.6}
Ordinary dividends {110.2) - - (110.2}
Property revaluation [net} - (113.2) - 1113.2)
Defersed taxation on property revaluation - (1.9} - (1.5}
Redemption/repurchase of convertible preference shares (15.7) - - (s
Reserves arising on scrip issued in lieu of dividends 5.6 - - 5.6
INet exchange translation differences
— amount arising in year - - 110.2) 110.2)
— disposzls of subsidiaries and associates - - 716 Tl6
Transfer :
— additional depreciation on revaluation 8.2 8.2} - -
— disposals - (34.0 34.0 - -
Other 0.2 0.2 - 04
At 31st December 470.4 351.3 (42.6) 7791
of which.

Company 672.0 162.1 21.5 8356
Associates w7 16.8 {3.0) 845

Antuci Regert 1958
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21. FINANCIAL TNSTRUMENTS [continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group s exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing [iabHities and assets.
These exposures are managed partly by using natura] hedges that arise from offsetting interest rate sensitive assets and
liabilities, and partly through the use of derlvative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps, caps and options,

Funding risk
The Group’s ability to fuad its existing and prospective debt requirements is managed by maintaining the availability
of adequate committed funding lines from high quality lenders.

Counterparty risk

The Group's ownership of financial assets involves the risk that counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of
their agreements. The Group manages these risks by monitoring credit ratings and limiting the aggregate risk to any
individual counterparty. -

Fair values :
The fair values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities, before taking account of hedging transactions.
are summarised as follows:

F9%8 1997
Carrging Fair Carrying Fair
amosnt vithee asrourt value
USSm Ussm Usss Ussm
Financia! assets

Fixed asset investments 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4
Debtors 153.6 153.6 181.3 181.3
Bank balances 715.4 7i5.4 608.4 608.4
869.4 © o 869.4 790.1 7901

Financial liabilities ]
Creditors and accruals 821.9 821.9 921.5 9215
Bank and other advances 115.6 115.6 1123 112.3
Term loans 391.9 391.2 4225 420.9
1,329.4 1.328.7 1.456.3 1.454.7

The fair value of dehitars, bank batances. creditors and accruals. and bank and ather aclvances approximale their casrying amount clus to the
short-terms matyrities of these assets and liabilsties. The fir valoe of term loans is estinated using the expected future payments discounted
atmarket interest rates. '

Cutrency profile )
The currency profile of the Group's financial assets and kabilities, before taking account of hedging transactions.
tssummarised as follows:

1593 1997

Financinl Finanginl Firnaneial Froania!
assets liabilities assts hirhilitics
ussSm USEn ussn: USSm

Currency
Australian Dollar 63.9 458.8 69.5 4db.1
Hong Kong Dollar : 93.2 466.4 107.8 442 .4
[apanase Yen - - 10.5 0.4
New Taiwanese Dollar 14.0 BI¥ 15.2 95.6
New Zealand Dollar 23.4 181.0 205 t81.6
Singapore Dollar . [6.7 94.7 17.8 65.3
Spanish Peseta - - 18,5 1322
United States Dollar 648.8 394 523.2 56.7
Other 4.4 7.4 . 7.1 1.0

869.4 1,329.4 790.1 14363
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1998 1557
24. PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET ussm USSa
Subsidiaries, at cost 1 ,218.3 1.684.7
Qther investments 0.4 0.4
Current assets . 0.5
Current liabilities . {80.6) (83.9)
INet current liabilities (80.6) (88 4)
Net operating assets ' 1,138.6 1.596.7
Share capital (note 16) 93.8 2633
Share premium (note 18} . 189.2 2142
Revenue and other reserves (note 19} : 855.6 11222
Shareholders’ funds 1,138.6 - 1,596.7

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In luly. the Group purchased the remaining 25% shareholding in Sims Trading from Jardine Pacific Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Jardine Matheson Holdings Limited, at a cost of US$5.7 miition.

In the normal course of business the Group undertakes on an arm's length basis a wide variety of transactions with its
associates and with Jardine Matheson Holdings Limited and its subsidiary undertakings and associates. All of such
transactions are considered to be immatarial if the context of the Group.

In zddition, the Group paid a manzgement fee to lardine Matheson Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of jardine
Matheson Holdings Limited. being 0.5% per annum of the Group's net prefit after taxation and minority interests in
consideration for certain management consultancy services provided by Jardine Matheson Limited.

26. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

In January 1999, Dairy Farm completed the sale of 100% of its interest in Oliver's Super Sandwiches to Jardine Pacific
Limited, & wholly-owned subsidiary of Jardine Matheson Holdings Limited, for US$5.8 million.

27. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

A list of principal subsidiaries and associates is presented on page 37.
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‘REPORT OF THE:AUDITOR

To the Members of Dairy Farm International Holdings Limited

We have audited the financial statements on pages |6 to 34, These financial statemenis are the responsibility of the
Company's Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonzble assurance about whether the tinancial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signilficant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We belizve that our audit provides
a reasongble basis for our opinion,

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group at
315t December 1998 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Internationa!
Accounting Standards and the Bermuda Companies Act.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS _ ' Southwark Towers

32 London Bridge Street
Londeon SEI 9SY
Londdn, 10th March 1999 United Kingdom
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4t 31st Decrmber 1995

Country of Altributable
Compainy Naome insorertion Particulars of issued cagital interests (%) Mature of business
Dairy Farm Management Limited Bermuda HKD 100,000 Ocdinary  100°°  Holding company
usoD 100 Orcdinary
Dairy Farm Management Bermuda usD 12,000 Ordinary 180**  Group management
Services Limited
DFL Trea'sury Limited British Virgin  USD 1 Ordinary 106> Treasury company
1slands
ASIA
Guanadong ling Yun Distribution Maintand RMB 7.500000 Ordinary 80 Distribution
Company Limited China :
Guangzhou Convenience ~ Mainland HKD 33.000.000 Ordinary 100 Convenience stores
Stores Limited China
Shenzhen Convenience Stores Limited Mainland HKD 15,000,000 Ordinary 78 Convenience stores
China i
Shenzhen Wellcome Gintian Mainland RMB 45,000,000 - Ordinary 51 Supermarkets
Supermarket Company Limited China
Asian Food Industries |HK) Limited Hong Kong  HKD 5.800.000 Ordinary 100 Purchasing
Asian Food Industries {Properties) Hong Kong  HKD 10.006.065 Ordinary 100 Pioperty
Limited
lceberg Properties Limited Hong Kong  HKD 500.000 Ocdinary 100 Property
Hayselton Enterprises Limited Hong Kong  HKD 2 Ordinary 100 Holding company
Hong Kong Convenience Hong Kong  HKD 2 Ordinary 100 Convenience stores
Stores Limited '
Mannings Retail Limited Hong Kong  HKD 1,000,000 Ordinary 100 Drugstores
Maxim's Caterers Limited* HongKong  HKD  60.000.009 Ordinary 50 Restaurants
Ruthin Investments Limited Hong Konzg  HKD 200 Ordinary 10¢ Property
Sims Trading Company Limited Hong Kong  HKD 300000 Ordinary 100 Wholesaling
The Dairy Farm Company, Limited HongKeng HKD  60,000.000 Ordinary 100 Investment holding and
. ice manufacturing
Wellcome Company Limited Hong Keng  HKD 255,000 Ozdinary 100 Supermarkets
DFI Supermarkets (M} Sdn Bhd* Malaysia MYR 14,500,002 Ordinary 50 Supermarkets
Cold Sroraze Retail {Malaysia) Malaysia MYR 12,000,000 Ordinary 30 Drugstores
5dn Bhd*
Fitzpatrick's Holdings Pte Limited Singapore SGD 30,000,000 Ordinary 100 Holding company
Cold Storage Singapore (1983) Singapore SGD 25,685.000 Ordinary - 100 Supermarkets &
Pte Limited . convenience stores
Guardizn SEA Pte Limited Singapore SGD 4000000 Ordinary - 70 Drugstores
DFI Géant Taiwan Company Limited®  Taiwan ™D  1,770,000,000 Ordinary 5C Hypermarkets
Welicome Talwan Company Limited Taiwan TwD 1.800.000.000 Ordinary 97 Supermarkets
PT Hero Supermarket Tok* Indonesia IDR  117.650.000000 Ordinary 32 Supermarkets.
drugstares &
convenience stores
RPGC Guardian Ltd* Indiz INR 45,000,000 Ordinary 50 Drugstores
AUSTRALASIA
Franxlins Holdings Limited Australia AUD 115,010,000 O:dinary 100 Holding company
Franklins Limited Ausiralia AUD 1.250.000 Ordinary 100 Supermarkars
Denstreg Corporation Limited New Zealand NZD 3.300 Ordinary 130 - Holding company
' NZD 10.200 Preference
Woolwerihs [New Zealand) Limited New Zealand NZD 5503850 Ordinary 100 Supermarkets
NZD 100,000 Preference

*Associates. All other companics are subsidiarics
* *Quaed drractly

"Annuel Repost 1993 :
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KING POWER INTERMATIONAL GROUP CO., LED AND SUBSEIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AS OF DEZCEMAER 31,

RSSETS

ASSETS
Cash and cash eguivalents
Trade accounts receivable
Refundable valuz added tax

CURRENT

Loans and advances to and accrued interest

receivable from affiliates, net
Merchandise inventories -~ net
Restricted fixed deposits
Deferred income tax assets
Prepalid expenses
Other current asssts

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment - net
Investment and other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIASILITIES AND SHAREHOLDEPS '
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank overdraft and loans from banks
Current porticon of long = term loans
Trade accounts payable
Accrued concession fee
Other current liabilities

Totdl current liabilities
Long -~ term loans, net
Total liabilities

Minority interest
Shareholders' equity
Common stock, $0.001 par wvalue,
20,250,000 shares issusd and outstanding
2dditional paid in c¢epital
Retained (daficit)
Translation adiustments

EQUITY

Total shareholdars' eguity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

1999 1998
§ 2,192,510 $ 1,371,739
179,485 334,015
4 1,180,438 2,238,862
12 5,214,335 11,911,642
16,428,754 14,910,164
3 3,845,62¢ 5,254,483
11 4,354,132 4,454, 600
5 2,607,982 273,163
€67,209 612,437
36,740,452 41,371,213
& 5,257,949 6,173,610
214,180 531,405
$42,212,581 $48,076,12%
7 $ 10,048,791 $ 10,185,747
9 28,089 1,346,820
10,003,574 11,398,114
8 8,467,028 10,797,835
1,587,995 4,849,894
30,515,478 38,578,410
9 254,000 402,827
30,769,478 38,981,337
378,457 343,473
20,250 20,250
20,848,145 20,848,145
(9,503,816} {11,916,895)
(293,833) (200,181)
11,084,646 8,751,319

$ 42,212,581
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KING POWER INTERNATIONAL GROUP CO., LTD AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAPREHOLDZIRS' EQUITY
FOP, THE YEARS ENDED DEZCEN3ZR 31, 1927, 1998 AND 1993

Shares Amount

. uss
Balances, January 1, 1997 i3, 800, 000 18,800
Recapitalization at June 12, 1997 1, 200,000 1,200
Pegulation § issuance at August 19, 1997 250,000 230

Net Income
Other Comprehensive income, net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustmant

Comprehensive Income

Balances, December 31, 1997 ' 20, 250,000

nom=snsEEss

Balances, January 1, 1998 20, 250,000 20,250
Net Incoms
Other Comprehensive income, net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Comprehensive Incomne

Balances, December 31, 1998 20,250,000 20,250

Balances, January 1, 1999 2¢, 250,000 20,250

Het Incoms
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustment .

Comprenensive Income

Balances, Decexber 31, 1959 20,250,000 20,250
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KING POWEER INTERNATIONAL GROUP CO., LTD AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Sales revenue

Cost of sales:
Cost of merchandise sold
Concession fees

Total cost of sales

Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Selling and administrative expenses
provision for doubtful account

Total operating expenses

Income from operation

Other income {expenses)
Interest income
Interest expenses
Gain (Loss) on Fforeign exchange - net
Unrealized loss on foreign exchange due to -
Baht dewvaluation

Gain (loss}) on investment in other companies
Management fee income
other income

Total cther revenues {expensas)

Net income before income tax

Income tax benefit (expenses)

Met income before minority interest
Minority interest

Net income attributed to common shares

Weaighted average number of comron shares
outstanding :

Basic earning per share

$ 89,482,559

. 43,280,910
8 22,342,213

23,859,435

21,836,679
(1,083,190}

3,105,947

917,421
(1,127,428}
227,904

(112, 608)

291,337

3,302,579

11 (848,249)

2,454,326
(41,347)

2,412,979

20,256,000

H .12

$

s

Legal | Privacy
Copyright ©@2000 EDGAR Online, Inc.

91,125,385

35,104, 944
24,969,793

27,050,648

16,184,978
15,745,552

(4,879,880

1,439,169
{1,364,622)
25,909

254,243
186,785

(4,338,392}

113,855

4,224,437}
{62,697)

(4,287,132}

20,250,002

(0.21)

$ 95,996,663

38,504,886
34,337,536

23,154,241

14,621,272

8,532,969

1,828,763
(1,226,176
(2,746,497
(1,625,558

1,647,548
278,285

6,687,334

1,219, 387

7,900,721
28,115
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KING POYEZR INTEZRNATIONAL GROUP CC., LTD AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEZRS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

1999 le98
Net income attribute to common shares $ 2,412,979 5 (4,287,134)
Other comprehensive income, before taw:
Foreign currency translation adjustments {99, 652) 3,274,159
Comprehensive income $ 2,313,327 $ {1,012,%7%8)

Legal | Privacy
Copyright ©2000 EDGAR Online, Inc.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS
KING POWER INTERNATIONAL GROUP CO., LTD.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of King Power International
Group Co., Ltd. as of December 31, 1999, and the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in
shareholders' equity for the year then ended. These financial statements

are the responsibility of the Company's Management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of King
Power International Group Co., Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
1999, and the results of their operations, cash flows and changes in
shareholders’ equity for the year then ended, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

/s/ Smith, Jackson, Boyer & Danieli, Pllc

SMITH, JACKSON, BOYER & DANIELL, PLLC

March 10, 2000
Dallas, Texas
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS
KING POWER INTERNATIONAL GROUP CO., LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of King Power
International Group Co., Ltd. and subsidiaries (the "Corporation") as of
December 31, 1998 and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the year

then ended. Our audit also included the financial statement schedule listed

in the Index at Item 14. These financial statements and the financial

statements schedule are the responsibility of the Corporation's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and
financial statement schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards in the United States of America. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of King Power International
Group Co., Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31,
1998 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement
schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the
information set forth therein.

/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU JAIYOS

April 1, 1999
BANGKOK, THAILAND
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTAN TS
To The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
King Power International Group Co., Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flow for the
year ended December 31, 1997. We have also audited the financial statements
schedules listed in the accompanying index. These financial statements and
financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and the financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements and financial statement schedules are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and
financial statement schedules. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of financial statements and
financial statement schedules. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial referred to above present

fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations, and cash flow

of King Power International Group Co., Ltd. for the year ended December 31 ,
1997, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedules, presents fairly, in all material respects, the

information set forth therein.

/s/ BDO International Limited

BDO International Limited
Bangkok, Thailand

February 27, 1998
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KING POWER INTERNATIONAL GROUP CO., LTD AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999, 1998 AND 1997

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

King Power International Group Co., Ltd. (formerly Immune America, Inc.) (herein
the "Company") was incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada on July 30,
1985. _

On June 12, 1997, the Company exchanged 18,800,000 shares of its common stock
for 99.94% of the issued and outstanding common shares of King Power Tax Free
Company Limited [(formerly JM.T. Group Company Limited)-KPT thereafter] and
94.95% of the issued and outstanding common shares of King Power Duty Free
Company Limited [(formerly J.M.T. Duty Free Company Limited)-KPD thereafter].

This exchange of the Company's common stock to the former KPT and KPD
shareholders resulted in those former shareholders obtaining a majority voting interest
in the Company. Generally accepted accounting principles require that the company
whose stockholders retain the majority interest in a combined business be treated as
the acquirer for accounting purposes. Consequently, this transaction was accounted
for as a "reverse acquisition” for financial reporting purposes and KPT and KPD were
deemed to have acquired 94% of equity interest in the Company as of the date of
acquisition. The relevant acquisition process utilized the capital structure of Immune
America, Inc., and the assets and liabilities of KPT and KPD were recorded at
historical cost.

KPT and KPD are the operating entities for financial reporting purposes and the
financial statements prior to June 12, 1997, represent KPT and KPD's financial
position and results of operations. The assets, liabilities and results of operations of
both KPT and KPD are included as of June 12, 1997. Although KPT and KPD are
deemed to be the acquiring corporations for financial accounting and reporting
purposes, the legal status of the Company as the surviving corporation does not
change.

Concurrent with the reverse acquisition, the Company changed its corporate name
from Immune America, Inc. to King Power International Group Co., Lid.

KPD is a Thailand-based corporation engaged in selling duty free merchandise to the
traveling public under the supervision of Thai customs in stores located in the
international terminals of the various airports located in Thailand. KPD holds from
the Airports Authority of Thailand a non-exclusive license to operate duty free stores
for all stores of this specific nature. For the duty free store operation, KPD is exempt
from input value added tax on purchases of import merchandise and from output
value added tax on sales of merchandise.
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KPT is a Thailand-based corporation engaged in selling various souvenirs
and consumer products in the international and domestic terminals of the
various airports located in Thailand to the general public. KPT holds the
exclusive operating license granted by the Airports Authority of Thailand
for all shops of this specific nature. For the tax-free operation, KPT is
subject to input value added tax on purchases of merchandise and is exempt
from output value added tax on sales of merchandise.

On October 10, 1997, the Company acquired 4,900 shares of common stock in
King Power International Group (Thailand) Company Limited (KPG Thai),
equivalent to 49% of the registered capital. KPG Thai was established in
Thailand on September 11, 1997, and has registered capital totaling Baht 1
million divided into 10,000 shares of common stock with Baht 100 per share.
On the same date, KPT acquired 5,093 shares of common stock in KPG Thai,
equivalent to 50.93% of the registered capital. Ultimately, the Company

owns 99.93% of equity interest in KPG Thai.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation - The consolidated financial statements, which
include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in other companies under
20% of interest are accounted for using the cost method. At December 31,
1999, these investments have been written down due to an assumed permanent
impairment of their value. The consolidated financial statements are

presented in U.S. dollars.

Marketable Securities - Securities held for trading are marked to market at
year-end with the resulting gain or loss being included in current income.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The carrying amount of cash, trade
accounts receivable, notes receivable, trade accounts payable and accrued
payables are reasonable estimates of their fair value because of the short
maturity of these items. The carrying amounts of the Company's credit
facilities approximate fair value because the interest rates on these
instruments are subject to change with market interest rates.

Reclassification - Certain 1997 and 1998 amounts has been reclassified to
onform to the 1999 presentation.
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12. RELATED PARTIES AND DIRECTORS TRANSATIONS

As at December 31,1998, the Company charged interest for loans to/from
related companies at 10.00 % per annum and to/from directors at 6.50 -10.00
% per annum. On March 24, 1999, the board of directors of the company
approved a resolution reducing the interest on loans to/from related
companies and directors to be

4.00% and 3.00% per annum, respectively, due to the dramatic decline of
market interest rate in Thailand and in order to maintain liquidity within

the group of companies. Effective April 1, 1999, promissory notes with
maturity less than 6 months bear no interest. Such loans have no formal
contracts or collateral and are due on demand.

The Company had operating transactions with related parties and directors
as follows ($ in thousands):

Related Companies

For the year ended December 31,

1929 1998 1997
Sales 5 3,218 $ 805 $ 1,253
Interest income 602 843 142
Management fee income -= 254 1,648
Purchase 2,658 : 945 9,127
Commission - 369 -
Concession fee 22,414 11,092 34,338

For the year ended December 31,
1999 1998 1997

Interest income 3 16 S 198 g 380
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Accounting for Investments

This reformatted International Accounting Standard supersedes the Standard originally approved by the
Board in October 1985. It is presented in the revised format adopted for International Accounting
Standards in 1991 on wards. No substantive changes have been made to the original approved text.
Certain terminology has been changed to bring it into line with current TASC practice.
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International Accounting Standard IAS 25
(reformatted 1994)

Accounting for Investments

The standards, which have been set in bold italic type, should be read in the context of the background
material and implementation guidance in this Standard, and in the context of the Preface to
International Accounting Standards. International Accounting Standards are not intended to apply to
immaterial items (see paragraph 12 of Preface).

Scope

1. This Standard should be applied in accounting for and disclosure of investments.

2. Enterprises should account for investments in accordance with paragraphs 8 to 44, unless they
ate specialised investment enterprises in which case they may account for investments in
accordance with paragraph 45.

3. This Standard does not deal with:

(a)

(b)

©

(d)

(e)

®

(g

the bases for recognition of interest, royalties, dividends and rentals earned on investments
(see International Accounting Standard IAS 18, Revenue, and International Accounting
Standard IAS 17, Accounting for Leases),

investments in subsidiaries (see International Accounting Standard IAS 27, Consolidated
Financial Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries);

investments in associates (see International Accounting Standard IAS 28, Accounting for
Investments in Associates);

investments in joint ventures (se¢ International Accounting Standard IAS 31, Financial
Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures);

goodwill, patents, trademarks and similar assets;

finance leases as defined in International Accounting Standard IAS 17, Accounting for

Leases; and

investments of retirement benefit plans and life insurance enterprises.
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Definitions

4. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meaning specified:

An investment is an asset held by an enterprise for the accretion of wealth through distribution
(such as interest, royalties, dividends and rentals), for capital appreciation or for other benefits
to the investing enterprise such as those obtained through trading relationships. Inventories as
defined in International Accounting Standard IAS 2, Irrventories, are not investments. Property,
Plant and equipment as defined in International Accounting Standard IAS 16, Property, Plant
and Equipment, (other than investment properties) are not investments.

A current investment is an investment that is by its nature readily realisable and is intended to
be held for not more than one year,

A long-term investment is an investment other than a current investment,
An investment property is an investment in land or buildings that are not occupied substantially
- for use by, or in the operations of, the investing enterprise or another enterprise in the same

group as the investing enterprise.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between a knowledgeable,
willing buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length transaction.

Market value is the amount obtainable from the sale of an investment in an active market.

Marketable means that there is an active market from which a market value {or some indicator
that enables a market value fo be calculated) is available.

Forms of Investments

5. Enterprise hold investments for diverse reasons. For some enterprises, investment activity is a
significant element of operations,’ and assessment of the performance of the enterprise may
largely, or solely, depend on the reported results of this activity, Some held investments as a store
of surplus funds and some hold trade investments in order to cement a trading relationship or
establish a trading advantage.

6. Some investments are represented by certificates or similar documents; others are not. The nature
of an investment may be that of a debt, other than a short or long-term trade debt, representing a
monetary amount owing to the holder and usually bearing interest; alternatively it may be a stake
in an enterprise’s results, such as an equity share. Most investments represent financial rights, but
some are tangible - such as certain investments in land or buildings and direct investments in gold,
diamonds or other marketable commodities. ‘

7. For some investments, an active market exists from which a market value can be established. For
such investments, market value is an indicator of fair value. For other investments, an active
market does not exist and other means are used to determine fair value.

'Enterprises for which investment activity is a significant element of operations, such as insurance
companies and some banks, are often subject to regulatory control. The Preface to International
Accounting Standards provides that International Accounting Standards do not override local
regulations governing the issue of financial statements.
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Classification of Investments

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

An enterprise that distinguishes between current and lorrg-term assets in its financial statements
shonld present current investments as current assels and long-term investments as long-term
assets.

Enterprise that do not distinguish between current and long-term investments in their balance
sheets should nevertheless make a distinction for measurement purposes and determine the
carrying amount for investments in accordance with paragraphs 19 and 23.

Most enterprises present balance sheets that distinguish current assets from long-term assets in
accordance with International Accounting Standard IAS 13, Presentation of Current Assets and
Current Liabilities. Current investments are included in current assets. The fact that a marketable
investment has been retained for a considerable period does not necessarily preclude its
classification as current.

Investments held primarily to protect, facilitate or further existing business or trading relations,
often called trade investments, are not made with the intention that they will be available as
additional cash resources and are thus classified as long-term. Other investments, such as
investment properties, are intended to be held for a number of years to generate income and capital
gain. They are therefore classified as long-term assets even though they may be marketable.

Some enterprises choose not to distinguish between current and long-term assets, and others may
be required by regulations to adopt a balance sheet format that makes no distinction. Many such
enterprises operate in the financial field, such as banks and insurance companies. Although such
enterprises do not intend to realise their assets in current operations, they usually regard many of
their investments as being available for the purposes of their current operations if required.

However, such enterprises may have investments properly regarded as long-term assets, for
example a bank may hold shares in a leasing company.

Many such enterprises therefore analyse their investments and attribute carrying amounts to them
according to whether their characteristics are those of current investments or long-term
investments.

Cost of Investments

15.

16.

17

The cost of an investment includes acquisition charges such as brokerages, fees, duties and bank
fees. .

If an investment is acquired, or partly acquired, by the issue of shares or other securities, the
acquisition cost is the fair value of the securities issued and not their nominal or par value. If an
investment is acquired in exchange, or part exchange, for another assets, the acquisition cost of the
investment is determined by reference to the fair value of the assets given up. It may be
appropriate to consider the fair value of the investment acquired if it is more clearly evident.

Interest, royalties, dividends and rentals receivable in connection with an investment are generally
regarded as income, being the return on the investment. However, in some circumstances, such
inflows represent a recovery of cost and do not form part of income. For example, when unpaid
interest has accrued before the acquisition of an interest-bearing investment and is therefore
included in the price paid for the investment, the subsequent receipt of interest is allocated between
pre-acquisition and post-acquisition periods; the pre-acquisition portion is deducted from cost.




18.

221

IAS 25 (reformatted 1994)

When dividends on equity securities are declared from pre-acquisition profits a similar treatment
applies. If it is difficult to make such an allocation except on an arbitrary basis, the cost of an
investment is normally reduced by dividends receivable only if they clearly represent a recovery of
part of cost.

The difference between the acquisition cost and redernption value of an investment in debt
securities (the discount or premium on acquisition) is usually amortised by the investor over the
period from acquisition to its maturity so that a constant yield is earned on the investment, The
amortised discount or premium is credited or charged to income as though it were interest and
added to or subtracted from the carrying amount of the security. The resulting carrying amount is
then regarded as cost.

Carrying Amount of Investments

Current Investments

19.

20.

21.

22.
. portfolios, and not with each individual investment, since the investments are held collectively as a

Investment classified as current assets should be carried in the balance sheet at either:

(a) market value; or
(b) the lower of cost and market value.

If current investments are carried at the lower of cost and market value, the carrying amount
should be determined either on an aggregate portfolio basis, in total or by category of investment,
or on an individual investment basis.

Opinions differ on the appropriate carrying amount for current investments. Some maintain that,
for financial statements prepared under the historical cost convention, the general rule of lower of
cost and net realisable value is applicable to investments; and since most current investments are
marketable, the carrying amount is the lower of cost and market value. Supporters of this method
of determining carrying amount claim that it provides a prudent balance sheet amount and does not
result in recognising unrealised gains in income. They also claim that fortuitous swings in stock
market prices, which may reverse, are not brought to account merely as the result of the choice of a
particular balance sheet date.

Others argue that, since current investments are a readily realisable store of wealth, or a cash
substitute, it is appropriate to value them at fair value, usually market value. The enterprise is not
concerned with the cost of such items but with the cash it could raise by disposing of them.
Investments are distinguished from inventories because they can generally be sold without effort,
wheréas it would normally be inappropriate to recognise profit on sale of inventories before the
sale was assured. Each investment is dispensable by the business — for example an equity
investment could be sold and the proceeds re-invested in a bank deposit account without detriment
to the business — and therefore it is appropriate to report it at market value. Supporters of market
value also argue that reporting investments at historical cost allows management to recognise
income at its discretion, since selected investments can be sold and immediately repurchased and
the resulting profit reported in income, although such transactions have hot changed the
enterprise’s economic position.

In general, the concern of an enterprise is with the overall value of its current investment

store of wealth. Consistent with this view, investments carried at the lower of cost and market
value are valued on an aggregate portfolio basis, in total or by category of investment, and not on
an individual investment basis. However, some argue that the use of the portfolio basis results in
Josses being offset against unrealised gains.
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Long-term Investments

23.

24,

23.

26.

Investments classified as lont-termn assets should be carried in the balance sheet at either:

{a) Cost;

(b) Revalued amounts; or

(c} In the case of marketable equity securities, the lower of cost and market value determined
on a porifolio basis.

If revalued amounts are used, a policy for the frequency of revaluations should be adopted and
entire category of long-term investments should be revalued at the same time.

The carrying amount of all lont-term investments should be reduced to recognise a decline other
than temporary in the value of the investments, such reduction being determined and made for
each investment individually.

Long-term investments are usually carried at cost. However, when there is a decline, other than
temporary, in the value of a long-term investment, the carrying amount is reduced to recognise the
decline. Indicators of the value of an investment may be obtained by reference to its market value,
the investee’s assets and result and the expected cash flow from the investment. Risk and the type
and extent of the investor’s stake in the investee are also taken into account. Restrictions on
distributions by the investee or on disposal by the investor may affect the value attributed to the
investment.

Many long-term investments are of individual importance to the investing enterprise. The carrying
amount of long-term investments is therefore normally determined on an item-by-item basis.
However, in some countries, marketable equity securities classified as long-term investments may
be carried .at the lower of cost and market value determined on a portfolio basis. In these cases,
temporary reductions and reversals of such reductions are included in equity.

Reductions for other than a temporary decline in the carrying amounts of long-term investments
are charged in the income statement unless they offset a previous revaluation (see paragraph 32).
Reductions in carrying amount may be reversed when there is a rise in the value of the investment,
or if the reasons for the reduction no longer exist. However, in some countries reductions in the
carrying amount are not reversed.

Revaluations

27.

Sometimes long-term investments are revalued to fair value. In the interests of consistency, a
policy for the frequency of revaluation is adopted and all long-term investments are revalued at the
same time or, at the minimum, an entire category is revalued.

Investment Properties

28. An enterprise holding investment properties should either:

(a) treat them as property in accordance with International Accounting Standard IAS 16,
Property, Plant and Equipment; or : '
(b} account for them as long-term investinents.
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Some enterprises elect to account for investment properties as iong-term investments. Other
enterprises prefer to account for and charge depreciation on investment properties under their
accounting policy for property, plant and equipment, in accordance with International Accounting
Standard IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment.

Enterprises that account for investment properties as long-term investments consider that change in
their fair value, usually market value, are more significant than their depreciation. The properties
are therefore revolued periodically on a systematic basis. Where fair values are recognised in the
carrying amount, any changes in carrying amount are accounted for in accordance with paragraph
32. Where such fair values are not recognised in the carrying amount, they are disclosed.

Changes in Carrying Amount of Investments

31

32.

An enterprise that carries current investments at market value should adopt, and consistently
apply, a policy for accounting for increases or decreases in carrying amount which should
either:

{a) be recognised as income or expense; or
(b) be accounted for in accordance with paragraph 32.

An increase in carrying amount arising from the revaluation of long-term investments should
be credited to owners’ equity as a revaluation surplus. To the extent that a decrease in carrying
amount offsets a previous increase, for the same investment, that has been credited to
revaluation surplus and not subsequently reversed or utilised, it should be charged against that
revalution surplus. In all other cases, a decrease in carrying amount should be recognised as an
expense. An increase on revaluation directly related to a previous decrease in carrying amount
Jor the same investment that was recognised as an expense, should be credited to income to the
extant that it offsets the previously recorded decrease.

Disposais of Investments

33.

34,

35.

On disposal of an investment the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount should be recognised as income or expense. If the investment was a current asset
carried on a portfolio basis at the lower of cost and market value, the profit or loss on sale
should be based on cost. If the investment was previously revalued, or was carried at market
value and an increase in carrying amount transferred to revaluation surplus, the enterprise
should adopt a policy either of crediting the amount of any remaining related revaluation
surplus to income or of transferring it to retained earnings. This policy should be applied
consistently in eccordance with International Accounting Standard IAS 8, Net Profit or Loss for
the period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting Policies.

Any reduction to market value of current investments carried at the lower of cost and market value
on a portfolio basis is made against the cost of the portfolio in aggregate; individual investments
continue to be recorded at cost. Accordingly the profit or loss on sale of an individual investment
is based on cost, however the aggregate reduction to market value of the portfolio needs to be
assessed.

When disposing of part of an enterprise’s holding of a particular investment, a carrying amount
must be allocated to the part sold. This carrying amount is usually determined from the average
carrying amount of the total holding of the investment.
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Transfers of Investments

36. For long-term investments re-classified as current investments, transfers should be made at:

(a) the lower of cost and carrying amount, if currerst investments are carried at the lower of
cost and market value. If the investment was previously revalued, any remaining related
revaluation surplus should be reversed on the trantsfer; and

(b) carrying amount if current investments are carried at market value. If changes in market
value of current investments are included in irncome any remaining related revaluation
surplus should be transferred to income.

37. Investiments re-classified from current to long-term should each be transferred at the lower of

cost and market value, or at market value if they were previously stated at that vaiue.

Switches of Investments in a Portfolio

38.

39.

40.

An enterprise with significant investment activity typically maintains a portfolio of investments in
which it trades constantly. In doing so, the enterprise seeks to improve the quality and yield of its
portfolio of investments. On disposing of a particular investment, funds released are available for
reinvestment or may remain as the cash element of the investment portfolio.

In view of the constant changes in investments in such a portfolio, different opinions are held as to
the appropriate accounting treatment on disposal of a particular investment:

(a) some maintain that an excess of deficiency of net sale proceeds over carrying amount
represents a realised profit or loss, which should be recognised in income immediately;

(b) other argue that the disposal merely reflects an adjustment of the constituents of the portfolio,
representing no value increase or decrease since it is only a substitution of one investment for
another, and that therefore no profit or loss should be reflected in income; and

(c) afew advocate a middle course, whereby the difference between net sale proceeds and cost is
amortised to income over a given period.

Alternative (a) is the preferred method. Alternative (b) is appropriate only when the market value
basis is used and changes in market value are included in income, since the adjustments to market
value will already have been accounted for. Alternative (c) is inappropriate because it fails to
recognise the whole of the profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Income Statement

41. The following should be included in income:

{a) investment income arising from:

L interest, royalties, dividends and rentals on long-term and current investments;

1L Pprofits and losses on disposal of current investments;

I, unrealised gains and losses on current investment investments carried ot market
value, where that policy is adopted under paragraph 31; and

v, reductions to market value and reversals of such reductions required to state

current investmenis at the lower of cost and market value;
(%) reduction of the carrying amount for other than a temporary decline in value of long-term
investments, and reversals of such reductions; and
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(c) profits and losses on disposal of long-term investment, calculated in accordance with
paragraph 33.

Some enterprises that carry current investments at market value on the ground that they are a store
of freely disposable wealth recognise any gains or losses in market value as an element of income
to be accounted for in the income statement along with profits and losses on disposals. However,
in some countries such gains are not permitted to be included in income and are credited direct to
owners’ equity and accounted for in the same way as revaluation surplus on long-term
investments.

If current investments are carried at the lower of cost and market value, any reductions to market
value and any reversals of such reductions are included in the income statement along with profits
and losses on disposals.

Any reductions in carrying amount for other than a temporary decline in value of long-term
investments, and reversals of such reductions, and profits and losses on disposal of long-term
investments, are included in income and presented in accordance with International Accounting
Standard IAS 8, Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting
Policies.

Specialised Investment Enterprises

45.

46.

47.

Specialised investment enterprises which are prohibited from distributing profits on the disposal
of investments may exclude from income changes in value of investments, whether realised or
not, provided they carry their investments at fair value. Such enterprises should include in the
financial statements a summary of all the movements in value of their investments for the
period,

In certain countries, there are specialised investment enterprises whose main business is the
holding of a portfolio of marketable securities as an investment vehicle for their individual
shareholders. These enterprises carry their investinents at fair value, usually market value, because
this is the most appropriate basis in the circumstances. They regard realised profits and losses on
their investment as being the same in substance as unrealised gains and losses and therefore
account for them in the same way. They disclose a summary of all the movements in the value of
their investments for the period.

The constitutions of these enterprise prohibit the distribution as dividends of profits on disposal of
investments and require a distinction to be drawn between income arising on the disposal of the
investments. Hence these enterprises exclude from income all changes in value of investments
whether or not they are realised.

Taxes

48.

Accounting for tax consequences resulting from the application of this Standard is dealt with in
accordance with International Accounting Standard IAS 12, Accounting for Taxes on Income.




226

IAS 25 (reformatted 1994)
Disclosure
49. The following should be disclosed:

{a) the accounting policies for:
the determination of carrying amount of investmenis;

II the treatment of changes in market value of current investments carried at market
value; and
FiiA the treatment of a revaluation surplus on the sale of a revalued investment:

(B) the significant amounts included in income for:

L interest, royalfies, dividends and rentals on long-term and current investments;
I profits and losses on disposal of current investment; and
HL changes in value of such investments;

(c) the market value of marketable investments if they are not carried at market value;

(d) the fair value of investment prapertie.i if they are accounted for as long-term investments
and not carried at fair value;

(e) significant restrictions on the realisability of investments or the remittance of income and
proceeds of disposal; .

{H Jfor long-term investments stated at revaliued amounts:

L the policy for the frequency of revaluations;
1L the date of the latest revaluation; and
1IL the basis of revaluation and whether an external valuer was involved;

(g) the movements for the period in revaluation surplus and the nature of such movements;
and

(h) for enterprise whose main business is the holding of investments an analysis of the portfolio
of investments.

50. The following disclosures may be provided to assist a reader’s understanding of the financial
statements:

(a) an analysis of long-term investments by category;
(b) the directors’ assessment of the fair value of investments that are not marketable;

(c) where investments are not marketable, the method of assessing value used for comparison
with cost, where applicable;

(d) the amount of any previous revaluation surplus which related to the investments disposed of
during the year and which has been previously distributed or converted into share capital; and

(e) details of any single investment which represents a significant propertion of the reporting
enterprise’s assets.

Effective Date

51. This International Accounting Standard becomes operative for financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after I January 1987,
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International Accounting Standard IAS 27
(reformatted 1994)

Consolidated Financial Statements and
Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries

The standards, which have been set in bold italic type, should be read in the context of the background
material and implementation guidance in this Standard, and in the context of the Preface to
International Accounting Standards. International Accounting Standard are not intened to apply to
immaterial items (see paragraph 12 of the Preface)

Scope

L

This Standard should be applied in the preparation and presentation of consolidated financial
statements for a group of enterprises under the conirol of a parent.

This Standard should also be applied in accounting for investments in subsidiaries in a parent’s
separate financial statements.

This Standard supersedes International Accounting Standard IAS 3, Consolidated Financial
Statements, except insofar as that Standard deals with accounting for investments in associates (see
International Accounting Standard IAS 28, Accounting for Investment in Associates).

Consolidated financial statements are encompassed by the term “financial statements” included in
the Preface to International Accounting Standards. Therefore, consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accoudance with International Accounting Standards,

This Standard does not deal with:
(a) methods of accounting for business combinations and their effects on consolidation,
including goodwili arising on a business combination (see International Accounting Standard

IAS 22, Business Combinations);

(b) accounting for investments in associates (see International Accounting Standard IAS 28,
Accounting for Investments in Associates); and

{c) accounting for investments in joint ventures (see International Accounting Standard IAS 31,
Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures).

Definitions

6.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meaning specified:

Control (for the purpose of this Standard) is the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an enterprise so as fo obtain benefits from its activities.

A subsidiary is an enterprise that is controlled by another enterprise (know as the parent).
A parent is an enterprise that has one or more subsidiaries,

A group is a parent and all its subsidiaries.
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Consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of a group presented as those of a
single enterprise.

Minority interest is that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary
attributable to interests which are not owned, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, by the
parent.

Presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements

7

10.

A parent, other than a parent mentioned in paragraph 8, should present consolidated financial
statements.

A parent that is a wholly owned subsidiary, or is virtually wholly owned, need not present
consolidated financial statements provided, in the case of one that is virtually wholly owned, the
parent obtains the approval of the owners of the minorily interest. Such a parent should disclose
the reasons why consolidated financial statemenis have not been presented together with the
bases on which subsidiaries are accounted for in ifs separate financial statements. The name
and registered office of its parent that publishes consolidated financial statements should also
be disclosed.

Tsers of the financial statements of a parent are usually concerned with, and need to be informed
about, the financial position, results of operations and changes in financial position of the group as
a whole, This need is served by consolidated financial statements, which enterprise without regard
for the legal boundaries of the separate legal entities,

A parent that is itself wholly owned by another enterprise may not always present consolidated
financial statements since such statements may not be required by its parent and the needs of other
users may be best served by the consolidated financial statements of its parent. In some countries,
a parent is also exempted from presenting consolidated financial statements if it is virtually wholly
owned by another enterprise and the parent obtains the approval of the owners ‘of the minority
interest. Virtually wholly owned is often taken to mean that the parent owns 90% or more of the
voting power,

Scope of Consolidated Financial Statements

11

12.

A parent which issues consolidated financial statements should consolidate all subsidiaries,
Joreign and domestic, other than those referred to in paragraph 13.

The consolidated financial statements include all enterprises that are controlled by the parent, other
than those subsidiaries excluded for the reasons set out in paragraph 13. Control is presumed to
exist when the parent owns, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, more than one half of the
voting power of an enterprise unless, in exceptional circumstances, it can be clearly demonstrated
that such ownership does not constitute control. Control also exists even when the parent owns one
half or less of the voting power of an enterprise when there is:

{a) power over more than one half of the voting rights by virtue of an agreement with other
investors;

(b) power to govern the financial and operating policies of the enterprise under a statute or an
agreement;

(c) power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors or
equivalent governing body: or
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(d) power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors or equivalent
governing body.

13. A subsidiary should be excluded from consolidation when:

14.

(a} control is intended to be temporary because the subsidiary is acquired and held exclusively
with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near future; or

(b} it operates under severe long-term restrictions which significantly impair its ability to
Iransfer funds to the parent.

Such subsidiaries should be accounted for as if they are investments in accordance with
International Accounting Standard IAS 25 Accounting for Investments.

Sometimes a subsidiary is excluded from consolidation when its business activities are dissimilar
from those of the other enterprises within the group. Exclusion on these grounds is not justified
because better information is provided by consolidating such subsidiaries and disclosing additional
information in the consolidated financial statements about the different business activities of
subsidiaries. For example, the disclosures required by International Accounting Standard IAS 14,
Reporting Financial Information by Segment, help to explain the significance of different business
activities within the group.

Consolidating Procedures

15.

16.

17.

In preparing consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of the parent and its
subsidiaries are combined on a line-by-line basis by adding together like items of assets, liabilities,
equity, income and expenses. In order that the consolidated financial statements present financial
information about the group as that of a single enterprise, the following steps are then taken:

(a)} the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in each subsidiary and the parent’s portion of
equity of each subsidiary are eliminated (see International Accounting Standard IAS 22,
Business Combinations, which also describes the treatment of any resultant goodwill);

(b) minority interests in the net income of consolidated subsidiaries for the reporting period are
identified and adjusted against the income of the group in order to arrive at the net income
attributable to the owners of the parent; and

(c) minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and presented in
the consolidated balance sheet separately from liabilities and the parent shareholders’ equity.
Minority interests in the net assets consist of:

(i The amount at the date of the original combination calculated in accordance with
~ International Accounting Standard IAS 22, Business Combinations; and

(ii) The minority's share of movements in equity since the date of the combination.

Taxes payable by either the parent or its subsidiaries on distribution to the parent of the profits
retained in subsidiaries are accounted for in accordance with International Accounting Standard
IAS 12, Accounting for Taxes on Income.

Intragroup balances and intragroup tranactions and resulting unrealised profits should be
eliminated in full. Unrealised losses resulting from intragroup transactions should also be
eliminated unless cost cannot be recovered,
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Intragroup balances and intragroup transactions, including sales, expenses and dividends, are
eliminated in full. Unrealised profits resulting from intragroup transactions that are included in the
carrying amount of assets, such as inventory and fixed assets, are eliminated in fuli. Unrealised
Josses resulting from intragroup transactions that are deducted in arriving at the carrying amount of
assets are also eliminated unless cost cannot be recovered. Timing differences that arise from the
elimination of unrealised profits and losses resulting from intragroup transactions are dealt with in
accordance with International Accounting Standard IAS 12, Accounting for Taxes on Income.

When the financial statements used in the consolidation are drawn up to different reporting
dates, adjustments should be made for the effects of significant transactions or other events that
occur between those dates and the date of the parent’s financial statemenis. In any case the
difference between reporting dates should be no more than three months.

The financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are usually drawn up to the same date. When the reporting dates
are different, the subsidiary often prepares, for consolidation purposes, statements as at the same
date as the group. When it is impracticable to do this, financial statements drawn up to different
reporting dates may be used provided the difference is no greater than three months. The
consistency principle dictates that the length of the reporting periods and any difference in the
reporting dates should be the same from period to period.

Consolidated financial statements should be prepared using uniform accounting policies for like
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. If it is not practicable to use uniform
accounting policies in preparing the consolidated financial statements, that fact should be
disclosed together with the proportions of the items in the consolidated financial statements to
which the different accounting policies have been applied.

In many cases, if a member of the group uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
appropriate adjustments are made to its financial staterments when they are used in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The results of operations of a subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial statements as
from the date of acquisition, which is the date on which control of the acquired subsidiary is
effectively transferred to the buyer, in accordance with International Accounting Standard JAS 22,
Business Combinations. The results of operations of a subsidiary disposed of are included in the
consolidated income statement until the date of disposal which is the date on which the parent
ceases to have control of the subsidiary. The difference between the proceeds from the disposal of
the subsidiary and the carrying amount of its assets less liabilities as of the date of disposal is
recognised in the consolidated income statement as the profit or loss on the disposal of the
subsidiary. In order to ensure the comparability of the financial statements from one accounting
period to the next, suppoementary information is often provided about the effect of the acquisition
and disposal of subsidiaries on the financial position at the reporting date and the results for the
reporting period and on the corresponding amounts for the preceding period.

An . investment in an enterprise should be accounted for in accrdance with International
Accounting Standard IAS 25, Accounting for Investrents, from the date that it ceases to fall
within the definition of a subsidiary and does not become an associate as defined in
International Accounting Standard IAS 28, Accounting for Investinents in Associates.

The carrying amount of the investment at the date that it ceases to be a subsidiary is regarded as
cost thereafter.
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26. Minority interests should be presented in the consolidated balance sheet separately from
liabilities and the parent sharcholders’ equity. Minority interests in the income of the group
should also be separately presented.

27. The losses applicable to the minority in a consolidated subsidiary may exceed the minority interest
in the equity of the subsidiary. The excess, and any further losses applicable to the minority, are
dharged against the majority interest except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation
to, and is able to, make good the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the majority
interest is allocated all such profits until the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the
majority has been recovered.

28. If a subsidiary has outstanding cumulative preferred shares which are held outside the group, the
parent computes its share of profits or losses after adjusting for the subsidiary’s preferred
dividends, whether or not dividends have been declared.

Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries in
A Parent’s Separate Financial Statements

29. In a parent’s separate financial statements investments in subsidiaries that are included in the
consolidated financial statements should be either:

(a) accounted for using the equity method as described in Intematwnal Accounting Standard
I4S 28, Accounting for Investments in Associatesy or

() carried at cost or revalued amounts under the parent’s accounting policy for long-term
investments (see International Accounting Standard IAS 25, Accounting for Investments).

30. Investments in subsidiaries that are excluded from consolidation should be accounted for in the
parent’s separate financial statements as if they are investments in accordance with
International Accounting Standard IAS 25, Accounting for Investments.

31. In many countries separate financial statements are presented by a parent in order to meet legal or
other requirements.

Disclosure

32. In addition to those disclosures required by paragraph 8 and 21, the following,dicclosures
should be made:

(@) in consolidated financial statements a listing of significant subsidiaries including the name,
country of incorperation or residence, proportion of ownership interest and, if different,
proportion of voting power held;

(b} in consolidated financial statements, where applicable:
{7] the reasons for not consolidating a subsidiary;

(i) the nature of the relationship between the parent and a subsidiary of which the
parent does not own, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, more than one half
of the voting power;

(iii) the name of an enterprise in which more than one half of the vofing power is
owned, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, but which, because of the
absence of control, is not a subsidiary; and
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(iv) the effect of the acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries on the financial position at

the reporting date, the results for the reporting period and on the corresponding
amounts for the preceding period; and

(¢} in the parent’s separate financial statements, a description of the method used to account
Jor subsidiaries.

Effective Date

33. This International Accouting Standard becomes operative for financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after I January 1999.
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International Accounting Standard IAS 28
(reformatted 1994)

Accounting for Investments in Associates

The standards, which have been set in bold italic type, should be read in the context of the background
material and implementation guidance in this Standard, and in the context of the Preface to
International Accounting Standards. International Accounting Standards are not intended to apply to
immaterial items (see paragraph 12 of the Preface).

Scope
1, This Standard should be applied in accounting by an investor for investments in associates.

2. This Standard supersedes International Accounting Standard TAS 3, Consolidated Financial
Statements, in so far as that Standard deals with accounting for investments in associates.

Definitions
3. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

An_associate is an enterprise in which the investor has significant influence and which is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture of the investor. '

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control over those policies.

Control_(for the purpose of this Standard) is the power fo govern the financial and operating
policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

A subsidiary is an enterprise that is controlled by another enterprise (known as the parent).

The equity method is a method of accounting whereby the investment is initially recorded at cost
and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the investor’s share of net assets of
the investee. The income statement reflects the investor’s share of the results of operations of
the investee,

The cost method is a method of accounting whereby the investment is recorded at cost. The
income statement reflects income from the investment only to the extent that the investor
receives distributions from accumulated net profits of the investee arising subsequent lo the date
of acquisition.

Significant Influence

4. Ifan investor holds, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, 20% or more of the voting power of
the investee, it is presumed that the investor does have significant influence, unless it can be
clearly demonstrated that this is not the case. Conversely, if the investor holds, directly or
indirectly through subsidiaries, less than 20% of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed
that the investor does not have significant influence, unless such influence can be clearly
demonstrated. A substantial or majority ownership by another investor does not necessarily
preclude an investor from having significant influence.
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5. The existence of significant influence by an investor is usually evidenced in one or more of the
following ways:
(a) representation on the board of directors or equivalent governing body of the investee;
(b) participation in policy making processes;
(¢} material transactions between the investor and the investee;
(d) interchange of managerial personnel; or
(e} provision of essential technical information.

Equity Method

6. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profits or losses of the investee after
the date of acquisition. Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount may
also be necessary for alterations in the investor’s proportionate interest in the envestee arising from
changes in the investee’s equity that have not been included in the income statement. Such changes
include those arising from the revaluation of property, plant, equipment and investments, from
foreign exchange translation differences and from the adjustment of differences arising on business
combinations.

Cost Method

7. Under the cost method, an investor records its investment in the investee at cost. The investor

recognises income only to the extent that it receives distributions from the accumulated net profits
of the investee arising subsequent to the date of acquisition by the investor. Distributions received
in excess of such profits are considered a recovery of investment and are recorded as a reduction of
the cost of the investment in accordance with International Accounting Standard IAS 25,
Accounting for Investments.

Consolidated Financial Statements

.3

10.

An investment in an associate should be accounted for in consolidated financial statement
under the equity method except when the investment is acquired and held exclusively with a
view to its disposal in the near future in which case it should be accounted for under the cost
method.

The recognition of income on the basis of distributions received may not be an adequate measure
of the income earned by an investor on an investment in an associate because the distributions
received may bear little relationship to the performance of the associate. As the investor has
significant influence over the associate, the investor has a measure of responsibility for the
associate’s performance and, as a result, the return on its investment, The investor accounts for this
stewardship by extending the scope of its consolidated financial statements to include its share of
results of such an associate and so provides an analysis of earning and investment from which
more useful ratios can be calculated. As a result, the application of the equity method provides
more informative reporting of the net assets and net income of the investor.

An investment in associate is accounted for using the cost method when it operates under severe
long-term restrictions that significantly impair its ability to transfer funds to the investor,
Investments in associates are also accounted for using the cost method when the investment is
acquired and held exclusively with a view to its disposal in the near future.
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11. An investor should discontinue the use of the equity method from the date that:

(a) it ceases to have significant influence in an associate but retains, either in whele or in part,
its investment: or :

(b) the use of the equity method is no longer appropriate because the associate operates under
severe long-term restrictions that significantly impair its ability to transfer funds to the
investor.

The carrying amount of the investment at that date should be regarded as cost thereafter.

Separate Financial Statements of the Investor

12, An investment in an associate that is included in the separate financial statements of an investor

13.

14.

15.

that consolidated financial statements should be either:

{a) accounted for using the equity method or the cost method whichever is used for the
associate in the investor’s consolidated financial statements; or

(b) carried at cost or revalued amounts under the accounting policy for long-term investments
(see International Accounting Standard IAS 25, Accounting for Investments).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements does not, in itself, obviate the need for
separate financial statements for an investor.

An investment in an associate that is included in the financial statements of an investor that does
not issue consolidated financial statements should be either:

(a) accounted for using the equity method or the cost method whichever would be appropriate for
the associate if the investor issued consolidated financial statements; or

(b) carried at cost or revalued amounts under the accounting policy for long-term investments (see
International Accounting Standard IAS 25, Accounting for investments). If the equity method
would be the appropriate accounting method for the associate if the investor issued
consolidated financial statements, the investor should disclose what would have been the
effect had the equity method been applied.

An investor that has investments in associates may not issue consolidated financial statements
because it does not have subsidiaries. It is appropriate that such an investor provides the same
information about its investments in associates as those enterprises that issue consolidated
financial statements.

Application of the Equity Method

16.

Many of the procedures appropriate for the application of the equity method are similar to the
consolidation procedures set out in International Accounting Standard IAS 27, Consolidated
Financial Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries. Furthermore, the board
concepts underlying the consolidation procedures used in the acquisition of a subsidiary are
adopted on the acquisition of an investment in an associate.”

? Where an associate is accounted for using the equity method, unrealised profits and losses resulting
From “upstream” and “downstream” transactions between an investor (or its consolidated subsidiaries)

and associates should be eliminated to the extent of the investor's interest in the associate.
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An investment in an associate is accounted for under the equity method from the date on which it
falls within the definition of an associate. On acquisition of the investment any difference (whether
positive or negative) between the cost of acquisition and the investor’s share of the fair values of
the net identifiable assets of the associate is accounted for in accordance with International
Accounting Standard IAS 22, Business Combinations. Appropriate adjustments to the investor’s
share of the profits or losses after acquisition are made to account for:

(a) depreciation of the depreciable assets, based on their fair values; and

(b) amortisation of the difference between the cost of the investment and the investor’s share of
the fair values of the net identifiable assets.

The most recent available financial statements of the associate are used by the investor in applying
the equity method; they are usually drawn up to the same date as the financial statements of the
investor. When the reporting dates of the investor and the associate are different, the associate
often prepares, for the use of the investor, statements as at the same date as the financial statements
drawn up to a different reporting date may be used. The consistency principle dictates that the
length of the reporting periods, and any difference in the reporting dates, are consistent from
period to period.

When financial statements with a different reporting date are used, adjustments are made for the
effects of any significant events or transactions between the investor and the associate that occur
between the date of the associate’s financial statements and the date of the investor’s financial
statements.

The investor’s financial statements are usually prepared using uniform accounting policies for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. In many cases, if an associate uses accounting
policies other than those adopted by the investor for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to the associate’s financial statements when they
are used by the investor in applying the equity method. If it is not practicable for such adjustments
to be calculated, that fact is generally disclosed.

If an associate has outstanding cumulative preferred shares, held by outside interests, the investor
computes its share of profits or losses after adjusting for the preferred dividends, whether or not
the dividends have been declared.

If, under the equity method, an investor’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds the
carrying amount of an investment, the investor ordinarily discontinues including its share of
further losses. The investment is reported at nil value. Additional losses are provided for to the
extent that the investor has incurred obligations of the associate that the investor has guaranteed or
otherwise committed. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the investor resumes including
its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of net losses not
recognised. '

The carrying amount of an investment in an associate should be reduced to recognise a decline,
other than temporary, in the value of the investment, such reduction being determined and
made for each investment individually.

Unrealised losses should not be eliminated to the extent that the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. (SIC-3)
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24. When there is a decline, other than temporary, in the value of an investment in an associate, the

carrying amount is reduced to recognise the decline. As many investments in associates are of

individual importance to the investor, the carrying amount is determined for each associate
individually.
Income Taxes

25. Income taxes arising from investments in associates are accounted for in accordance with
International Accounting Standard IAS 12, Accounting for Taxes on Income.

Contingencies

26. In accordance with International Accounting Standard IAS 10, Contingencies and Events
Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date, the investor discloses:

(a) its share of the contingencies and capital commitments of an associate for which it is also
contingently liable; and

(b) those contingencies that arise because the investor is severally liable for all the liabilities of
the associate.

Disclosure

27. In addition to the disclosure required by paragraph 14, the Jollowing disclosures should be
made: ~

(@) an appropriate listing and description of significant associates including the proportion of
ownerslip interest and, if different, the proportion of voting power held; and

(b) the methods used to account for such investments.

28. Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method should be classified as long-
term assets and disclosed as a separate item in the balance sheet. The investor’s share of the
profiis or losses of such investments should be disclosed as a separate item in the income
statement. The investor’s share of any extraordinary or prior period item should also be
separately disclosed,

Effective Date

29. This International Accounting Standard becomes operative for financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after 1 January 1990.



239

International! Accounting Standard IAS ’39
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Introduction

This Standard ('IAS 39°) establishes principles for recognising, measuring, and disclosing information
aboul financial assets and financial liabilities. It is LASC's first comprehensive Standard on the subject,
though some issues within the scope of this Standard have been addressed in other Standards. 1AS 25,
Accounting for Investments, covered recognition and measurement of debt and equity investments, as
well as investments in land and buildings and other tangible and intangible assels held as invesiments.
This Standard supersedes IAS 25 except with respect to land and buildings and other tangible and
intangible assels held as investments. |ASC is currently developing a Standard on such investment
properties. 1AS 38, Intangible Assets, superseded IAS 25 with respect to investments in intangible
assets. This Standard also supplements the disclosure pravisions of IAS 32, Financial Instruments;
Disclosure and Presentation. The various amendments to existing Intemational Accounting Standards
are se! out at the end of this Standard. IAS 39 is effective for financial statements for financial years
beginning on or after 1 January 2001. Earlier application is permitted only as of the beginning of a
financial year that ends after 15 March 1999, the date of issuance of this Standard. :

Background

2.

In 1989, IASC began a projedt, jointly with the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, to develop a
comprehensive Standard on the recognition, measuremen!, and disclosure of financial instruments.
IASC issued an exposure draft (E40) for comment in Septerber 1991. Based on exiensive input
received, the proposals were reconsidered and a re-exposure draft (E48) was issued for comment in
January 1994. '

In view of the crilical respenses 1o E48, evolving praclices in the use of financial instrumsants, and
developing thinking by certain national accounting standard setters, IASC decided 1o divide the project
into phases, starting with disclosure and financial statement presentation.

The first phase was completed in March 1995 when the IASC Board approved IAS 32, Financial
instruments: Disclosure and Presentation. IAS 32 deals with:

(a) classification by issuers of financial instruments as liabilities or equity, and the classification of
related interest, dividends, and gains and losses. This includes the separation of certain compound
instruments into their liability and equity components;

{b) offselting of financial assets and financial liabilities; and

(¢) disclosure of information about financial instruments.

The second phase of the project is to consider further the issues of recognition, discontinuing recognition
('derecognition’), measurement, and hedge accounting. This Standard addresses those matiers.

In July 1995, |IASC reached agreemen! with the Internationai Organization of Securities Commissions
(fOSCO) on the content of a work programme o complete & core sel of International Acceunting
Standards that could be endorsed by IOSCO for cross-barder capital raising and listing purpoeses in all
global markets. Those core standards include standards on recognition and measurement of financial
instruments, off-batance sheet items, hedging, and investments. The disclosure standards of IAS 32, by
themselves, do not fulfill IASC’s commitment lo IOSCQ with respect to the minimum core standards.
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In March 1997, IASC, jointly with the Canadian Inslitute of Charlered Accounlants, published a
comprehensive Discussion Paper, Accounting for Financial Assels and Financlal Liabilities, and invited
comments on the proposals therein. IASC held a series of special consultative meetings about thase
proposals with various nalional and international interesl groups and in numerous countries, Those
meelings and analysis of comment letters on the Discussion Paper confirm that IASC faces controversies
and complexities in seeking a way forward. While sorme acceptance exists of the view put forward in the
Discussion Paper - that measurement of all financial assets and liabilities at fair value is necessary to
obtain consistency and relevance to users - applicalion of that concept to some industries and to some
kinds of financial assets and liabilities continues to present difficully. Widespread unease is alse evident
about the prospect of including unrealised gains, pariculary on leng-term deht, in income as proposed in
the Discussion Paper. Those difficulties will not be easily or quickly resolved. Further, while several
nalional standard setters have undertaken projects to develop national standards on various aspects of
recognition and measurement of financial instruments, no country has in place or proposed standards
that are similar to the proposals in the Discussion Paper,

' Completion of a single comprehensive International Accounting Standard on financial instruments based

on the Discussion Paper forinclusion, before the end of 1998, in the core standards to be considered by
I0SCO was not a realistic possibility. Nonetheless, the ability to use International Accounting Standards
for invesiment and credit decisions and securities offerings and listings s urgent for both investors and
business enterprises. Moreover, while financial instruments are widely held and used throughout the
world, only a very few countries now have any national recognition and measurement standards at all for
financia!l instruments.

At its meeting in November 1997, therefore, the |ASC Board decided that:

(a}) JASC should join with national standard sctters to develop an integrated and hammonised
international accounting standard on financial instruments. That standard would build on the JASC
Discussion Paper, existing and emerging national standards, and the best thinking and research
on the subject world wide; and

(b) atthe same time, recognising the urgency of the matter, IASC should work to complete an interim
international Standard on recognition and measuremenl of financial instruments in 1998. That
solution, along with 1AS 32 on disclosure and presentation of financial instruments and several
other exisling Inlernational Accounting Standards thal address matlers relating to financial
instruments, will serve unlil the integrated comprehensive standard is completed.

A Jaint Working Group comprising representatives of IASC and a number of national standard setters
has begun work on the first of 1he foregoing two steps. This Standard is intended to accomplish the
second step. |ASC recognises that the proposals in its March 1997 Discussion Paper represen! far-
reaching changes frem tradilional accounting practices for financial instruments and that a number of
difficult technica! issues {which were discussed in the Discussion Paper) need 1o be resolved before
standards fully reflecting these proposals could be put in place. 1ASC also believes that a programme of
development work, field testing, preparation of guidance material, and educatlion will be necessary to
enable those principles to be effectively implemenled. The IASC Board is committed o work wilh
national standard setters throughout the world to achieve those goals within a reasonable time. In the
interim, until those goals are achiaved, this Standaré will significantly improve the reporting of financial
instruments. .

Exposure Draft E62

11.

This Standard is based on Exposure Draft E62, which IASC issued for public comment on 17 June 1898.
The formal comment deadline was 30 September 1998, but the Board announced that it would make
every effort to consider cornments received by 25 October, which it did. Constituents’ views about the
proposals in E62 were also solicited by a series of more than 20 seminars conducted around the world
by the project manager and through published summaries of ES2 in professional journals. To ensure the
longest possible period for IASC constituents to review and develop their comments on E62, a capy of
E62 was posted on [ASC's web site for downloading.
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Issues ari;ing as a result of the comment process were considered by an IASC Steering Commitiee,
which made recommendations to the Board, and then by the Board itself at meetings in Novernber and
December 1998, ‘

Greater Use df Fair Values for Financial Instrurments

13.

14.

15.

This Standard significantly increases the use of fair values in accounting for financial instruments,
consistent with the direction the Board has given to the Joint Working Group to continue to study further
the use of full fair value a2ccounting for alt financial assets and liabilities. This Standard changes current
praciice by requiring the use of fair values for:

(3) nearly all derivative assels and derivative liabilities (today these are often not even recognised, lel
alone measured at fair value);

{b) all debt securities, equily securities, and other financizl assets held for trading (IAS 25 allows these
to be reported at cost, lower of cost and market, or fair value, and praclice today is mixed);

{c) all debt secuiities, equily secusities, and other financial assets that are not held for trading but
nonetheless are available for sale (IAS 25 allows these o be reported at cost, lower of cost and
market, or fair value, and today they are generally reported al cost);

(d) cerain derivatives that are embedded in non-dervative instruments (generally not recognised
today); '

{e) non-derivalive financial instruments containing embedded darivative instruments thal cannot be
reliably separated from the non-derivative instrument (generally measured at amortised cosi
taday);

{  non-derivative assets and liabilities that have fair value exposures being hedged by derivative
instruments (since there are no hedge accounling standards today, practice varies widely);

() fixed maturity investments thal the enterprise does not designate as 'held to maturity’ (IAS 25
allows these to be reported at cost, lower of cost and market, or fair value, and {oday they are
generally reponted at cost); and

{h) purchased loans and receivables that the enterprise does not designate as ‘held to maturity’ (IAS
25 allows these to be reported at cost, lower of cost and market, or fair value, and today they are
generally reporied at cost). '

The three classes of financial assets that remain carried al cost under this Standard are loans and
recelvables originated by the enterprise, other fixed-maturity investments that the enterprise intends and
is able to hold to maturity, and unquoted equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured (inciuding derivatives that are linked to and must be setlled by delivery of such unguoted
equity instruments). The Board decided not to require fair value measurement for the loans, receivables,
and other fixed maturily investments at this time for a number of reasons. One is the significance of the
change from cusrent practice that would be required in many jurisdictions. Another reason is the porifolio
linkage of loans, receivables, and other fixed malurity investments, in many Industries, to Jiabilities that,
undeér this Standard, wili be measured at their amaorised original amount.  Also, seme question the
relevance of fair values for fixed maturity investments intended to be held until maturity. The Joint
Working Group is studying those matters.

Whether and how fair value can be reliably estimated for the unquoted equity instruments is alsc under
study by the Joint Working Group. Most liabilities are not. measured at fair value under this Standard -
though all derivative liabilities (unless indexed to an unquoted equity instrument whose fair value cannot
be refiably measured) and those held for trading are measured at fair value. Fair valuation of liabilities is
the subject of several studies currently being undertaken by the Jeint Working Group.

Summary of this Standérd

16.

Under this Standard, all financia} assets and financial liabilities should be recognised on the balance
sheet, including all derivatives, They should initially be measured at cost, which is the fair value of the
consideration given or received o acquire the financial asset or liability (plus certain hedging gains and
fosses).
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18.

19.

20.

21,

22,

23.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets should be remeasured to fair value, except for the
following, which should be carried at amorlised cost subject to a test for impairment:

(a) loans and receivabies originated by the enterprise and not held for trading;

(b) other fixed maturity investments, such as debt securities and mandatorily redeernable preferred
shares, that the enterprse intends and is able te hold to maturity; and

(c) financial assets whose fair value cannot be reliably measured (limited to some equity instruments
with ne quoted markel price and some derivatives that are linked to and must be seltied by delivery
of such unquoled equity instruments).

After acquisition most financial liabilities should be measured at original recorded amount less principal
repayments and amorlisation. Only derivatives and liabilities held for trading should be remeasured to
fair value.

For those financial assets and liabilities that are remeasured {o fair value, an enterprise will have a
single, enterprise-wide option to either:

{a) recognise the entire adjustment in net profit or loss for the period; or

{b) recognise in net profit or loss for the period only those changes in fair value relating to financial
assets and liabililies held for trading, with the value changes for non-trading instruments reported
in equity until the financial asset is sold, at which time the realised gain or loss is reported in net
profit or loss. For this purpose, derivalives are always deemed held for trading unless they are part
of a hedging refaticnship that qualifies for hedge accounting.

This Standard establishes conditions for detesmining when controf over a financial asset or hability has
been transferred 1o another party. For financial assets a transfer normally would be recognised if (a) the
transferee has the right to sell or pledge the asset and (b) the transferor does not have the right to
reacquire the transferred assets unless either the asset is readily obtainable in the markel or the
reacquisition price is fair value at the time of reacquisition. With respecl lo derecognition of liahilities, the
debtor must be tegally released from primary responsibility for the liability (or part thereof) either judicialiy
or by the creditor. If part of a financial asset or liability is sold or extinguished, the carrying amount is split
based on relative fair values. |f fair values are not delerminable, a cost recovery approach to profit
recognition is taken.

Hedging, for accounting purposes, means designating a derivative or (in limited circumstances) a noa-
derivative financial instrument as an offset, in whole or in part, to the change in fair value or cash flows of
a hedged item. A hedged item can be an asset, liability, firn commitment, or forecasted future
transaction that is expased to risk of change in value or changes in future cash flows. Hedge accounting
recognises the offsetling effects on net profit or loss symmetrically.

Hedge accounting is permitted under this Standard in certain circumstances, provided that the hedging
relationship is clearly defined, measurable, and actually effeclive,

This Standard applies to insurance enterprices excep! for rights and obligations under insurance
caniracls. This Standard applies to derivatives that are embedded in insurance contracts. A separate
IASC project is under way on accountiig forinsurance contracts.
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International Accounting Standard IAS 39

. Financial Instruments: Recognition arnd Measurement

The standards, which have been set in bold italic type, should be read in the context of the background
material and implementation guidance in this Standard, and in the conlext of the Preface [ International
Accounting Standards. International Accounting Standards are not infended to apply lo immaterial ifems (see
paragraph 12 of the Preface).

Objective

The objective of this Standard is to establish principles for recognising, measusing, and disclosing information
about financial instruments In the financial statements of business enterprises.

‘Scope

1. This Standard should be applied by all enterprises to all financial instruments except;

(a)

()

{c)

(d)

(e)

(0

(@)

(h)

those interests in subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures that are accounted for under
IAS 27, Consolidated Financlal Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries;
IAS 28, Accounting for Investments in Associates; and IAS 31, Financial Reporting of
Interests in Joint Ventures;

rights and obligations under leases, to which IAS 17, Leases, applies; however, (i} lease
receivables recognised on a lessor's balance sheet are subject to the derecognition
provisions of this Standard (paragraphs 35-65 and 169(g)) and (i) this Standard does apply

_ to derivatives that are embedded in leases (see paragraphs 22-26);

employers® assets and liabilities under employee benefit plans, to which IAS 19, Employee
Benefits, applies;

rights and obligations under Insurance contracts as defined in paragraph 3 of IAS 32,
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, but this Standard does apply to
derivatives that are embedded in insurance contracts (see paragraphs 22-26);

equity instruments jssued by the reporting enterprise including options, warrants, and
other financial instruments that are classified as shareholders' equity of the reporting
enterprise (however, the holder of such instruments is required to apply this Standard to
those instruments);

financial guarantee contracts, including letters of credit, that provide for payments fo be
made if the debtor fails to make payment when due (IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, provides guidance for recognising and measuring
financial guarantees, warranty obligations, and other similar instruments). In contrast,
financial guaranitee contracts are subject to this Standard if they provide for payments to be
made in response to changes in a specified interest rate, security price, commodity pricé,
credit rating, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, or other variable (sometimes
called the ‘underlying’). Also, this Standard does require recognition of financial
guarantees incurred or retained as a result of the derecognition standards set out in
paragraphs 35-65;

contracts for contingent consideration in a business combination (see paragraphs 65-76 of
IAS 22 (Revised 1998), Business Combinations);

contracts that require a payment based on climatic, geological, or other physical variables
(see paragraph 2), but this Standard does apply to other types of derivatives that are
embedded in such contracts (see paragraphs 22-26).
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Contracts that require a payment based on climatiz, geological, or other physical variables are commonly
used as insurance policies. (Those based on climatic variables are sometimes referred to as weather
derivatives.) In such cases, the payment made is based on an amount of loss 1o the enterprise. Rights
and obligations under insurance contracls are excluded fram the scope of this Standard by paragraph 1
(d). The Board recognises that the payout under some of these contracts is unrelated 1o the amount of
an enterprise’s loss. White the Board considered leaving such derivatives within the scope of the
Standard, it concluded that further study is needed lo develop oparational definitions that distinguish
between ‘insurance-type’ and ‘derivative type' contracts.

This Standard does not change the requirements re¥ating to: .

{a) accounting by a parent for investments in subsidiaries in the parent's separate financial statements
as sel outin paragraphs 29-31 of |1AS 27,

(b) accounting by an investor for investments in associales in the investor's separate financial
statements as set out in paragraphs 12-15 of 1 AS 28;

(c} accounling by a joint venturer far investments in joint ventures in the venturer's or investor's
separale financial statements as set out in paragraphs 35 and 42 of |AS 31; or

(d} employee benefit plans that comply with IAS 26, Accounting and Reporling by Ratirement Benefit
Plans.

Sometimes, an enterprise makes what it views as a ‘slrategic inveslment' in equity securities issued by
another enterprise, with the intent of establishing or maintaining a fong-lerm operating relationship with
the enlerprise in which the investment is made. The investor enterprise uses |AS 28, Accounting for
Investments in Associales, to determine whether the equity method of accounting is appropriate for such
an investment because the investor has significant influence over the associate, similarly, the investor
enterprise uses |AS 31, Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures, to determine whether
proportionale consolidation or the equity method is appropriate for such an investmenl. if neither the
equity method nor proportionate consolidation is appropriate, the enterprise will apply this Standard to
that strategic investment.

This Standard applies to the financial assets and liabilities of insurance companies other than rights and
abligations arising under insurance contracts, which are excluded by paragraph 1(d). A separate I1ASC
project on accounting for insurance contracts is currently under way, and it will address rights and
obligations arising under insurance contracts. See paragraphs 22-26 for guidance on financial
instrumenis that are embedded in insurance cantracts.

This Standard should be applied to commodity-based contracts that give either party the right to
setife in cash or some other financial instrument, with the exception of commodity contracts that
{a) were entered into and continue to meet the enterprise’s expected purchase, sale, or usage
requirements, {b) were designated for that purpose at their inception, and (¢} are expected to be
settled by delivery.

If an enterprse follows a pattern of entering into offsetting contracts that effeclively accomplish
setllement on a net basis, those contract= are not entered into to meet the enterprise's expectec
purchase, sale, or usage requirements,

Definitions

From |AS 32

8.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified in IAS 32:

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to hoth a financial asset of one enterprise
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.

A financial asset is any asset that s:

(a)' cash;
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(b) a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from another enterprise;

{¢) e contractual right to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under
conditions that are potentially favourable; or

() an equity instrument of another enterprise.

A financial liability is any labiiity that is a contractual obligation:
{a) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another enterprise; or

(b) 1o exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under conditions that dre
pofentially unfavourable,

An eguity instrument is any contract that evidences. a residual interest in the assets of an
enterprise after deducting ali of its liabilities (see paragraph 11;.

Eair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a fiability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's fength transaction.

8. For purposes of the foregoing definitions, 1AS 32 stales that the term ‘enterprise’ includes individuals,
partnerships, incorporated bodies, and government agencies.

Additional Definitions
10. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:
Definition of a Derivative

'A derivative is a financial instrument:

(a) whose value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, security price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, a credit rating or credit
index, or similar variable (sometimes cafled the ‘underlying); )

(b) that requires no initial net investment or [ittle initial net investment relative to other types of
contracts that have a similar response to changes in market conditions; and

{c) thatis settled at a future date.
Definitions of Four Categories of Financial Assets

A financial asset or liability held for trading Is one that was acquired or incurred principally for
the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fiuctuations in price or dealer's margin. A
financial asset should be classified as held for trading if, regardless of why it was acquired, it is
part of a portfolio for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking
{see paragraph 21). Derivative financial assets and derivative financial liabilities are always
deemed held for trading unless they are designated and effective hedging instruments. (See
paragraph 18 for an example of a liability held for trading.)

Held-to-maturity investments are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity that an enterprise has the positive jntent and ability to hold to maturity (see paragraphs
80-92} other than loans and receivables originated by the enterprise.

Loans and receivables originated by the enterprise are financial assets that are created by the
enterprise by providing money, goods, or services directly to a debtor, other than those that are
originated with the intent to be sold immediately or in the short term, which should be classified
as held for trading. Loans and receivables originated by the enterprise are not included in held-
to-maturity investments but, rather, are classified separately under this Standard (see paragraphs

19-20).
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Available-for-sale financial assets are those ﬁnaﬁciai assets that are not (a) loans and receivables
“originated by the enterprise, (b} held-to-maturity -investments, or (c) financial assets held for
trading (see paragraph 21).

Definitions Relating to Recognition and Measurement

Amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset
or liability was measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount,
and minus any write-down (directly or through the use of an allowance accounl) for impairment
or uncoflectability.

The effective interest methad is a method of calculating amortisation using the effective interest
rate of a financial asset or financial liability. The effective interest rafg is the rate that exactly
discounts the expected stream of future cash payments through maturity or the next market-
based repricing date to the current net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
That computation should incitide all fees and points paid or received between parties to the
contract. The effective interest rate is sometimes termed the level yield to maturity or to the next
repricing date, and is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or financial liability for that
period, {See IAS 18, Revenue, paragraph 31, and IAS 32, paragraph 61.}

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acguisition or
disposal of a financial asset or liability (see paragraph 17}.

A firm commitment is a binding agreement for the exchange of a specified quantity of resources
at a specified price on a specified future date or dates.

Control of an asset is the power to obtain the future economic bhenefits that flow from the assel.

Derecognise means remove a financial asset or lability, or a portion of a financial asset or
liabiiity, from an enterprise’s balance sheel.

Definitions Relating to Hedge Accounting

Hedging, for accounting purposes, means designating one or more hedging instruments so that
their change in fair value is an offset, in whole or in part, to the change in fair value or cash flows

of a hedged itemn.

A hedged item is an asset, liability, firm commitrment, or forecasted future transaction that (a)
exposes the enterprise 6 risk of changes in fair value or changes in future cash flows and that
(b) for hedge accounting purposes, is designated as being hedged (paragraphs 127-135 elaborate
on the definition of hedged items).

A hedging instrument, for hedge accounting purposes, is a designated derivative or (in limited
circumstances) another financial asset or liability whose fair value or cash flows are expected to
offset changes in the fair vaiue or cash flows of a designated hedged itemn (paragraphs 122-126
elaborate en the definition of a hedging instrument). Under this Standard, a non-derivative
financial assef or liability may be designated as a hedging instrument for hedye accounting
purposes only if it hedges the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates,

Hedqge effectiveness is the degree fo which offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows
attributable to a hedged risk are achieved hy the hedging instrument (see paragraphs 146-152),

cher Definitions

Securitisation is the process by which financial assets are transformed into securities.
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A repurchase agreement is an agreement fo transfer a financial asset to another party in
exchange for cash or other consideration and a concurrent obligation to reacquire the financial
asset at a future date for an amount equal to the cash or other consideration exchanged plus
interest. :

Eiaboration on the Definitions

Equity Instrument

11.

12.

An enterprise may have a confractual obligation that it can seftle either by payment of financial
assets or by payment in the form of its own equity securities. In such a case, if the number of
equity securlties required fo settle the obligation varies with changes in their fair value so that the
total fair value of the equity securities paid always equals the amount of the contractual
obligation, the holder of the obligation is not exposed to gain or foss from fluctuations in the
price of the equily securities. Such an obligation should be accounted for as a financial liability
of the enterprise and, therefore, is not excluded from the scope of this Standard by paragraph 1

{e).

An enlerprise may have a forward, oplion, or other derivative Instrument whose value changes in
response 1o something other than the market price of the enterprise’s own equity securities but that the -
enlerprise can choose 1o sellle -or is required o setlie in its own equity securities. In such case, the
enterprise accounts for the instrument as a derivative instrument, not as an equity instrument, because
the value of such an instrument is unrelated to the changes in the equity of the enterprise.

Derivatives

13.

14.

15.

186.

Typical examples of derivatives are futures and forward, swap, and option contracts. A derivative usually
has a notional amount, which is an amount of currency, a number of shares, a number of units of weight
or volume, or other units specified in the contracl. However, a derivative instrument does not require the
halder or writer to invest or receive the notional amount at the inception of the contracl. Alternatively, a
derivative could require a fixed payment as a result of some future event that is unrelated to a notional
amount, Forexample, a contract may require a fixed payment of 1,000 if six-rnonth LIBOR increases by
100 basis points, In this example, a notional amount is not specified.

Commitments to buy orsell non-financial assels and liabifities that are intended to be settled by the
reporting enterprise by making or taking delivery in the normal course of business, and for which there is
no practice of settling net {either with the counterparty or by entering into offsetting contracts), are not
accounted for as derivatives but rather as executory contracts. Settling net means making a cash
payment based on the change in fair value, '

One of the defining conditions of a derivative is that it requires Eltle initial net investment relative lo other
contracts that have a simitar response to market conditions. An option contract meets that definition
bacause the premium is significantly less than the investment that would be required to obtain the
underlying finrancial instrument to which the option is linked.

If an enterprise contracis to buy a financial asset on terms that require delivery of the asset within the
time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the market place concerned (sometimes
called a ‘regular way' contract), the fixed price commitment between trade date and settlement date is a
forward contract that meets the definition of a derivative, This Standard provides for special accounting
for such regular way contracts (see paragraphs 30-34).

Transaction Costs

17.

Transaction costs Include fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers, and dealers; levies by
regulatory agencies and securities exchanges; and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not
include debt premium or discount, financing costs, or allocations of internal administrative or holding
costs.
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Liability Held for Trading

18,

Liabilities held for trading include (a) derivative liabilities that are not hedging instruments and {b} the
obligation to deliver securities borrowed by a short seller {an enterprise that sells sscurities that it does
not yet own). The fact that a fiabiity is used to fund ¢rading activities does not make that liability one held
for trading.

L.oans and Receivables Originated by the Enterprise

19,

20.

A loan acquired by an enlerprise as a participation In a loan from another lender is considered to be
originated by the enterprise provided it is funded by the enterprise on the date that the loan is originated
by the other lender. However, the acquisition of an interest in a pool of ioans or receivables, for example
in connection with a securitisation, is a purchase, not an origination, because the enterprise did not
provide money, goods, or services directly lo the underlying dettors nor acquire its interest through a
participation with anather lender cn the date the underlying toans or receivables were ariginated, Also, a
transaction that is, in substance, a purchase of a loan thal was previously originated - for example, a loan
to an unconsolidated special purpase enlity that is made to provide funding for its purchases of loans
originated by others - is not a loan originatad by the enterprise. A loan acquired by an enterprise in a
business combination is considered o be originated by the acquiring enterprise provided that it was
similarly classified by the acquired eaterprise. The loan is measured a! acquisition under IAS 22,
Business Combinations. A loan acquired through a syndication is an originated loan because each
lender shares in the origination of the loan and provides money directly to the debtor.

Loans or receivables that are purchased hy an enterprise, rather than originated, are classified as held ta
maturity, available for sale, or held for trading, as appropriate.

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets

21.

A financial asset is classified as available for sale if jt does not properly belong in one of the three other
categories of financial assets - held for trading, held to maturity, and loans and receivables originated by
the enterprise. A financial asset is classified as held for trading, rather than available for sale, if it is part
of a podfolio of similar assets far which there is a pattern of trading for the purpase of generating a profit
from short-term fluctuations in price or dealer's margin. '

Embedded Derivatives

22.

23,

Sometimes, a derivative may be a component of a hybrid (combined) financial instrument that includes
both the derivative and a hast conlract - with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined
instrument vary in a similar way to a stand-alone derivative. Such derivatives are sometimes known as
‘embedded derivatives’, An embedded derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that otherwise
would be required by the contract to be modified based on a specified interest rate, security price,
commodily price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, or other variable.

An embedded derivative should be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a
derivative under this Standard if all of the followin g conditions are met:

{a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to
the economic characi_eristics and risks of the host contract;

(b) a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and

(c)  the hybrid (combined) instrument is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value
reported in net profit or loss.

If an embedded derivative is separated, the host contraci itsalf should be accounted for (a) under
this Standard if it s, itself, a financial instrument and {b) in accordance with other appropriate
International Accounting Standards if it is not a financial instrument,
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The economic characteristics and risks of an embedded derivative .are not considered to be closely
related to the hosi contract (paragraph 23(a)) in the following examples. In these circumstances,
assuming the conditions in paragraphs 23(b) and 23(c) are also met, an enterprise accounis for the
embedded derivative separately from the host confract under this Standard;

(a)

(b)

(c)

()

(e)

®

{9

(h)

a put option on an equity instrument held by an enterprise is not closely related to the host equity
instrument;

a call option embedded in an equity instrument held by an enterprise is not closely related to the
host equity instrument from-the perspective of the holder (from the issuer's perspective, the call
option is an equity instrument of the issuer if the issuer is required to or has the right to require
settlement in shares, in which case it is excluded from the scope of this Standard);

an oplion or automatic provision to extend the term (matusity date) of debt is not closely relaled to
the host debl coniract held by an enterprise unless there is a concurrent adjustment to the market
rate of interest at the time of the extension;

equity-indexed interesl or principal payments - by which the amount of interest or principal is
indexed to the value of equity shares - are not closely refated to the host debt instrument or
insurance contracl because the risks inherent in the host and the embedded derivative are
dissimilar; .
commodily-indexed interest or principal payments - by which the amount of interest or principal is
indexed to the price of a commodily - are not closely related {o the host debt instrument or
insurance contract because the risks inherent in the host and the embedded derivative are
dissimilar;

an equity conversion feature embedded in a debt instrument is not closely related to the host debt
instrument;

a call or put option on debt that is issued at a significant discount or premium s not closely related
to the debt except for debt (such as a zero coupon bond) that is callable or puttable at its accreted
amount; and

arrangements known as credit derivatives that are embedded in a host deb! instrument and that
allow one party (the ‘beneficiary’) to transter the credit risk of an asset, which it may or may not
actually own, to anather pary {the ‘guaranter’) are not closely related to the host debt instrument.
Such credit derivatives allow the guarantor to assume the credit risk associated with a reference
assel without direclly purchasing it.

On the other hand, the economic characteristics and risks of an embedded derivative are considered to
be closely related to the economic characleristics and risks of the hast centract in the following
examples. In these circumstances, an enlerprise does not account for the embedded derivative
separately from the host contracl under this Standard:

(@

)

(©

(d)

the embedded derivative is linked to an interest rate or interest rate index that can change the
amount of interest that would otherwise be paid or received on the host debt contract (that is, this:
Standard does not permit floating rate debt to be treated as fixed rate debt with an embedded
derivalive);

an emhedded floor or cap on interest rates is considered to be closely related to the interest rate
on a debt instrument if the cap is at or above the market rate of interest or if the floor is at or below
the market rate of interest when the instrument is issued, and the cap or floor is not leveraged. in
relation to the host instrument;

the embedded derivative is a stream of principal or interest payments that are dencminated in a
foreign currency. Such a dervative is not separated from the host contract because |AS 21, The
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, requires that fereign currency translation gains
and losses on the entire host monetary item be recognised in net profit or loss;

the host coniract is not a financial instrument and it requires payments denominated in {i) the
currency of the primary economic environment in which any subslantial party to that contract
operates or (i) the currency in which the price of the related good or service that is acquired or
defivered is routinely denominated in international commerce (for example, the U.S. dollar for
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crude oil transactions). That is, such contract is not regarded as a host contract with an embedded
foreign currency derivative; '

(¢) the embedded derivalive is a prepayment oplion with an exercise price that would not result in a
significant gain or loss;

{fi  the embedded derivative is a prepayment option that is embedded in an interest-only or principal-
only stiip that () initially resulted from separating the right to receive contractual cash flows of a
financial instrument that, in and of itself, did nol contain an embedded derivative and that (i) does
no! contain any lerms not present in the original host debt contract;

(o) with regard to a host contract thal is a lease, the embedded denvative is (i) an inflation-related
index such as an index of lsase payments to @ consumer price index {provided that the lease is not
leveraged and the index relates to inflation in the enterprise's own economic environment), (i)
contingent reatals based on related sales, and (i) contingent rentals based on variable inlerest
rates; or

() the embedded derivative is an interest rate or interest rale index that does not alter the net interest

" payments that otherwise would be paid on the hast conltract in such a way that the holder would

nol recaver substantially all of its recorded investment or (in the case of a derivative thal is &
liability) the issuer would pay 2 rate more than wice the market rate at inception.

If an enterprise is required hy this Standard to separate an embedded derivative from its host
contract but s unable to separately measure the emmbedded derivative either at acquisition or at a
subsequent financial reporting date, it should treat the entire combined contract as a financial
instrument held for trading.

Recognition

Initial Recognition

27.

28.

29.

An enterprise should recognise a financial asset or financial liability on its balance sheet when,
and only when, it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. (See
paragraph 30 with respect to ‘regular way’ purchases of financial assets.)

As a copsequence of the principle in the preceding paragraph, an enterprise recognises all of is
contractual rights or obligations under derivatives in its balance sheet as assets or liabilities.

The following are some examples of applying the principle in paragraph 27:

(a)  unconditional receivables and payables are recognised as assets or liabilties when the enterprise
becomes a parly to the contract and, as a consequence, has a legal right to receive, or a legal
obligation to pay, cash;

(b) assets to be acquired and liabilities to be incurred as a result of a firm commitment to purchase or
sell goods or services are not recognised under present accounting praclice until at least cne of
the parlies has performed under ihe agreement such that it either is entilled to receive an asset or
is obligated to disburse an assel. For example, an enterprise that receives a firm order does not
recognise an asset (and the enterprise that places the order does not recognise a liability) at the
time of the commitment but, rather, delays recognition until the ordered goods cr services have
been shipped, delivered, ¢r rendered,

{) in contrast to (b) above, however, a forward contracl - a commitment to purchase or sell a specified
financial instrument or commodity subject to this Standard on a fulure date at a specified price - is
recognised as an asset or a liability on the commitment date, rather than waiting until the closing
date on which the exchange acluaily lakes place. ‘When an enterprise becomes a parly to a
forward conirant, the fair values of the right and obligation are ofen equal, so that the net fair value
of the forward is zero, and only any nel fair value of the right and obligation is recognised as an
asset or liability. However, each parly is exposed to the price risk that is the subject of the contract
from that date, Such a forward contract satisfies the recognition principle of paragraph 27, from
the perspectives of both the buyer and the seller, at the time the enterprises become parties to the
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contract, even though it may have a zero net valug at that date. The fair value of the contract may
become a net asset or liability in the future depending.on, among other things, the time value of
money and @he value of the underying instrument or commedity that is the subject of the forward;

{d} financial oplions are recognised as assets or liabilities when the holder or writer becomes a party
to the contract; and

{e} ptanned future transactions, no matter how likely, are not assets and tiabilities of an enterprise
since the enterprise, as of the financial reporting date, has nol become a party o a contract
requiring future receipt or delivery of assets arising out of the fulure transactions.

Trade Date vs. Settlement Date

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

A ‘reqular way' purchase of financial assets should be recognised using trade date accounting or
seftlement date accountirig described in parzgraphs 32 and 33. The method used should be
applied consistently for each of the four categories of financial assets defined in paragraph 10, A
‘regular way' sale of financial assets should be recognised using settlement date accounting.

A contract for the purchase or sale of financia! assets that requires delivery of the assets within the time
frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place concerned {sometimes called
a ‘'regular way’ contract) is a financial instrument as described in this Standard. The fixed price
commitment between trade date and settlement date meets the definition of a derivative - it is a forward
contract. However, because of the short duration of the commitment, such 2 contract is not recogmsed
as a derivative financial instrument under this Standard.

The trade date is the date that an enterprise commits lo purchase the asset. Trade date accounting
refers o the recognition of the asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date.
Cenerally, interest does not slart to accrue on the asset and corresponding liability until the seltiement
date when title passes.

The settlement date is the date that the assel is delivered to the enterprise. Setllement date accounting
refers to the recognition of the asset on the day it is transferred to the enterprise. When seltlement date
ascounting is applied, under paragraph 106 an enterprise will account for any change in the fair value of
the asset to be received dusing the period between the trade date and the settiement date in the same
way as it will account for the acquired asset under this Standard. That is, the value change is not
recognised for assels carried at cost or amortised cost; it is recognised in net profit or loss for assels
classified as trading; and it is recognised in net profit or loss or in equity (as appropriate under paragraph
103} for assels classified as available for sale.

The following example illustrates the application of paragraphs 30-33 and later parts of this Standard that
specify measurement and recogaition of changes in fair values for various types of financial assets. On
29 December 20x1, an enterprise commits to purchase a financial asset for 1,000 (including transaction
costsy, which is its fair value on commitment (trade) date. On 31 December 20x1 {financial year end)
and on 4 January 20x2 (seltlement date) the fair value of the asset is 1,002 and 1,003, respectively. The
amounts to be recorded for the asse! will depend on how it is classified and whether trade date or
seltlement date accounting is used, as shown in the two tables below:



Balances

29 December 20x1

Financial asset
Liability

31 December 20x1

Receivable

Financial asset

Liability

Equity (fair value adjustment)
Retained earnings

{through net profit

or loss)

4 January 20x2

Receivable

Financial 2ge2!

Liability

Equity {fair value adjustment}
Retained earnings

(through net profit

or loss)
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SETTLEMENT DATE ACCOUNTING

Held-to-Maturity

Investments

Carried at Amortised

Cost

1,000

Available-for-Sale
- A s s et s -
Remeasured to
Fair Value with
Changes in Equity

- )

1,003

- Q)

Assets Held for
Trading and
Available-for-
Sale Assets -
Remeasured to
Fair Value with
Changes in
Profit or Loss

)

1,003

(3)



TRADE DATE ACCOUNTING

Balances

29 December 20x1

Financial asset
Liability

31 December 20x1

Receivable

Financial asset

Liability

Equity (fair value adjustment)
Retained earnings

(through net profit

or loss)

4 January 20x2

Receivable

Financial asset

Liahility

Equity (fair value adjustment)
Retained earnings

(through net profit
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Held-to-Maturity
Investments
Carried at Amortised

Cost

1,000
{1,000

1,000
(1,000)

1,000

Available-for-Sale
Assets -
Remeasured to
Fair Value with
Changes in Equity

1,000
11,000)

1,002
(1,000)
{2)

1,003

&)

Assets Held for
Trading and
Available-for-
Sale Assets -
Remeasured to
Fair Value with
Changes in
Profit or Loss

1,000
(1,000}

1,002
(1,000

2)

1,003

3

or |oss)

Derecognition

" Derecognition of a Financial Asset

35.

36.

37.

38.

An enterprise should derecognise a financial asset or a portion of a financial asset when, and
only when, the enterprise loses control of the contractual rights that comprise the financial asset
{or a portion of the financial asset}. An enterprise loses such control if it realises the rights to
benefits specified in the contract, the rights expire, or the enterprise surrenders those rights.

If a financial asset fs transferred to another enterprise but the transfer does nat satisfy the conditions for
derecognition in paragraph 35, the transferor accounts for the transaclion as a collateralised borrowing.
In that case, the transferor's right to reacquire the assel is not a derivative.

Deternining whether an enterprise has lost control of a financial asset depends both on the
enterprise’s position and that of the transferee. Consequently, if the position of either enterprise
indicates that the transferor has retained control, the transferor should not remove the asset from

its balance sheet,

A transferor has not lost control of a transferred financial asse! and, therefore, the asse!l is not
derecognised if, for example:

{(a) the transferor has the right to reacquire the transferred asset unless either (i) the asset is readily
obtainable in the market or (i) the reacquisition price is fair value at the time of reacquisition;

(b)  the transferoris both entitled and obligated to repurchase or redeem the transferred asset on terms
that effectively provide the transferee with a lender's return on the assets received in exchange for
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40,

41.

42,

43.
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the transferred asset, A lender's return is one that is not materially different from that which could
be obtained on a loan to the transferor that is fully secured by the transferred asset; or

(¢} the assel transferred is not readily obtainable in the market and the transferor has retained
substantially all of the risks and returns of ownership through a total return swap with the
transfaree or has retained substantially all of the risks of ownership through an uncenditional put
option on the transferred asset held by the transferee (a total return swap provides the market
returns and credit risks to one of the parlies in return for an interest index to the other party, such
as a LIBOR payment).

Under paragraph 38(a), a fransferred assel is not derecognised if the iransferor has the right to
repurchase the asset at a fixed piice and the assel is not readily oblainable in the market, because the
fixed price is not necessarily fair value al the time of reacquisition. For instance, a transfer of a group of
maorigage loans that gives the transferor the right to reacquire those same leans at a fixed price would
not result in derecognition.

A transferor may be both entitted and obligated o repurchase or redeem an asset by (a) a forward
purchase contract, (b} a call option held and a put oplion wrillen with approximately the same strike price,
or (¢} In olher ways. However, neither the forward purchase contract in (a) nor the combination of
options in (b} is sufficient, by itself, {o maintain control over a transferred asset if the repurchase price is
fair value at the time of repurchase.

A transferor generally has lost controt of a transferred financial asset only if the transferee has the ability
to obtain the benefits of the transferred assetl. That ability is demonstrated, for example, if the transferee:

(a) isfree either to sell or to pledge approximately {hie full fair value of the transferred asset; or

(D) is a special-purpose entity whose permissible aclivities are limited, and either the special purpose
entity itself or the holders of beneficial interests in that entity have the ability to obtain substantially
all of the benefits of the transferred asset.However, even if the transferor has derecognised the
asset, in some cases the transferor may be required to consolidate the special purpose entity
pursuant to IAS 27, Consolidated Financial Stalements and Accounting for Investments in
Subsidiaries, and IASC Interpretation SIC-12, Consclidation - Special Purpose Entities.

That ability may he demonstrated in other ways.-

Neither paragraph 38 nor paragraph 41 is viewed in isolation. For example, a bank transfers a loan to
another bank, but to preserve the relationship of the transferor bank with ils customer, the acquiring bank
is not allowed to sell or pledge the loan. Although the inability to sell or pledge would suggest that the
transferee has not obtained control, in this instance the transfer is a sale provided that the transferor
does not have the right or ability {o reacquire the transferred asset.

On derecognition, the difference between (a} the carrying amount of an asset {(or portion of an
asset) fransferred to another party and (b) the sum of (i} the proceeds received or receivable and
(i) any prior adjustment to reflect the fair value of that asset that had been reported in equity
should be included in net profit or foss for the period.

Accounting for Collateral

44.

45,

If a debtor delivers collateral to the creditor and the creditor is permitted to sell or repledge the
collateral without constraints, then:

{a) the debtor should disclose the collateral separately from other assets not ‘used as
collateral; and ‘

(b) the creditor should recognise the collateral in its bafance sheet as an assef, measured
initially at its fair value, and should also recognise its obligation to return the collateral as a
liabifity.

If the creditor is constrained from selling or repledging the collateral because the debtor has the right and
ability to redeem the collateral on short notice, for example, by substituting other collateral or by
terminating the contract, then the creditor does not recognise the collateral in its balance sheet.
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To illustrate application of paragraph 44, if A transfers and delivers cerlain securities to B but the
transaction does not qualify for derecognition on A's bo oks, and B takes possession of the collateral and
is free to sell or pledge it, the following journal entries would be made to reflect the collaleral:

A’s Books (the *borrower’): Debit Credit
Securities given as collateral %X '
Securities xx

{Ta separate the collateralised asset
from unrestricted assets.)

Cash XX
Liability XX

(To record the collateralised borrowing.)

B's Books (the ‘lender'): Debit Credit
Securities held as collateral XX
Obligation to return securities XX

(To reflect B's control of the asset and ils

obligation to return themto A)

Receivable xx
Cash o

(To record the collateralised lending.)

Derecognition of Part of a Financial Asset

47.

48.

49,

50.

If an enterprise transfers a part of a financial asset to others while retaining a pari, the carrying
amount of the financial asset should be allocated between the part retained and the part sold
based on their relative fair values on the date of sale. A gain or loss should be recognised based
on the proceeds for the portion sold. In the rare circumstance that the fair value of the part of the
asset that is retained cannot be measured reliably, then that asset should be recorded at zero.
The entire carrying amount of the financial asset should be attributed to the portion sold, and a
gain or loss should be recognised equal to the difference between (a) the proceeds and (b} the
previous carrying amount of the financial asset plus or minus any prior adjustment that had been
reported in equity to reflect the fair value of that asset (& ‘cost recovery’ approachy).

Examples of paragraph 47 are:

(a) separating the principal and interest cash flows of a bond and selling some of them to another
party while retaining the rest; and

(o) selling a pertfolio of receivables white retaining the right to service the receivables profitably for a
fee, resulting in an asset for the servicing right (see paragraph 50).

To illustrate application of paragraph 47, assume receivables with a carrying 2mount of 100 are sold for
80. The selling enterprise retains the right to service those receivables for a fee that is expected to
exceed the cost of servicing, but the fair value of the servicing right cannot be measured reliably. In that
case, a loss of 10 would be recegnised and the servicing right would be recorded at zero.

This example ilusirates how a transferor accounts for a sale or securitisation in which servicing is
retained. An enterprise originates 1,000 of loans that yield 10 per cent interest for their estimated lives of
g years. The enterprise sells the 1,000 principal plus the right to receive interes! income of 8 per cent to
another enterprise for 1,000. The transferor will continue to service the loans, and the contract stipulates
that its compensation for performing the servicing is the right to recefve half of the interest income not
sold (that is, 100 of the 200 basis points). The remaining half of the interest income not sold is
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considered an interest-only strip receivable. Al the dale of the transfer, the fair value of the loans,
including serivicing, is 1,100, of which the fair value of the servicing assel is 40 and the fair value of the
interest-only strip receivable is 60. Allocation of the 1,000 carrying amount of the loan is compuied as
follows:

Percentage  Allocated

of Total Carrying
Fair Value Fair Value Amount
Loans sold ' 1,000 91.0% 910
Servicing assel 40 36 38
Interest-only
strip receivable 60 5.4 54
Totai 1,100 100.0% 1,000

The transferor will recognise a gain of 90 on the sale of the loan - the difference between the net
proceeds of 1,000 and the allocaled carrying amount of 810, Its balance sheet will also report a
servicing assel of 36 and an interest-only stip receivable of 54. The servicing asset is an intangible
assel subject to the provisions of IAS 38, Intangible Assels.

Asset Derecognition Coupled with a New Financial Asset or Liability

51.

52.

53,

54,

If an enterprise transfers control of an entire financial asset but, in doing so, creates a new
financial asset or assumes a new financial liability, the enterprise should recognise the new
financial asset or financial liability at fair value and should recognise a gain or loss on the
transaction based on the difference between:

(a) the proceeds; and

(b} the carrying amount of the financial asset sold plus the fair value of any new financial
liability assumed, minus the fair value of any new financial asset acquired, and plus or
minus any adjustment that had previously been reported in equity to reflect the fair value of
that assel:

Examples of paragraph 51 are:

(a) selling a portfolio of receivables while assaming an obligation o compensate the purchaser of the
receivables if collections are below a specified level; and

(b)  selling a portfolio of receivables while retaining the right to service the receivables for a fee, and
the fee to be received is less than the costs of servicing, thereby resulting in a liability for the
servicing obligation.

The following example illusirates application of paragraph 51. A transfers cerain receivables to B for a
single, fixed cash payment. A is no! obligated to make future payments of interest on the cash it has
received from B. Howsver, A guarantezs B cgainsl default loss on the receivables up to a specified
amourl. Actuzl losses in excess of the ‘amount guaranteed will be bome by B, As a result of the
transaction, A has lost control over the receivables and B has obtained control. B now has the
contractual right to receive cash inherent in the receivables as well as a guarantee from A. Under
paragraph 51; '

() B recognises the receivables on its balance sheet, and A removes the receivables from its balance
sheet because they were sold to B; and

(b) the guarantee is treated as a separate financial instrumen}, created as a result of the transfer, to.be
recognised as a financial liability by A and a financial assel by B. For practical purposes, B might
include the guarantee asset with the receivables. '

In the rare circumstance that the fair value of the new financial asset or new financial lability

cannot be measured reliably, then:
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{a) if a new financial asset is created but cannot be measured reliably, its initial carrying
amount should be zero, and a gain or loss should be recognised equal to the difference
between (j) the proceeds and (ij) the previous carrying amount of the derecognised financial
asset plus or minus any prior adjustment that had been reported in equity to reflect the fair
value of that assef; and

(b) if a new financial liabllity is assumed but cannot be measured reliably, its initial carrying
amount should be such that no gain is recognised on the transaction and, if IAS 37,
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assels, requires recognition of a
provision, a loss should be recognised,

Paragraphs 95-102 provide guidance as to when fair value is reliably measurable,

To illustrate paragraph 54(b), the excess of the proceeds aver the carrying amount is not recogrised in
net profit or loss. Instead it is recorded as a liabifity in the balance sheet.

If a guarantee is recognised as a liability under this Standard, it continues to be recognised as a
tiability of the guarantor, measured at its fair value (or at the greater of its original recorded
amount and any provision required by IAS 37, if fair value cannot be reliably measured), untif it
expires. If the guarantee involves a large population of items, the guarantee should be measured
by weighting ali possible outcomes by their assocfated probabilities.

Derecognition of a Financial Liability

&7.

58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

An enterprise should remove a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its balance
sheet when, and only when, it is extinguished - that is, when the cbligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

The cendition in paragraph 57 is met when either:

(a) the deblor discharges the liability by paying the creditor, normally with cash, other financial assels,
goods, or services; of

() the debtor is legally released from prmary responsibility {sr the liability (or part thereof) either by
process of aw or by the creditor {the facl that the debtor may have given a guaraniee does not
necessarily mean that this condition is not met).

Payment to a third party including a trust (sometimes called ‘in-substance defeasance’) does not by itself
relieve the debtor of its primary obligation to the creditor, in the absence of legal refease.

While legal release, whether judicially or by the creditor, will result in derecognition of a liability, the
enterprise may have to recognise a new liability if the derecognition criteria in paragraphs 35-57 are not
met for the non-cash financial assets that were transferred. I those criteria are not met, the transferred
assels are not removed from the transferor's balance sheet, and the transferor recognises a new liability
relating to the transferred assets that may be equal to the derecognised liability.

An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with ‘substantially
different terms is an extinguishment of the old debt that should result in derecognition of that
debt and recognition of a new debt instrument. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms
of an existing debt instrument (whether or not due to the financial difficulty of the debtor) should
be accounted for as an extinguishment of the old debt

For the purpose of paragraph 61, the temms are substantially different if the discounted present value of
the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received, Is at least 10 per
cen! different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original debt
instrument. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any cosis or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is net accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or
fees incurred are an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified loan.
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The difference between the carrying amount of a liability (or part of a liability) extinguished or
transferred to another party, including refated wsnamortised costs, and the amount paid for it
should be included in net profit or loss for the period.

In some cases, a creditor releases a debtor from its present obligation to make payments, but the deblor
assumes an obligation to pay if the party assuming primary responsibility defaults. In this circumstance
the deblor:

(a) recognises a new financial liability based on the fair value of its obligation for the guarantee; and

(b) recognises a gain or loss based on the difference belween (i} any proceeds and (it} the carrying
amount of the origina! financial tiability (including any related unamortised cests) minus the fair

value of the new financial liability.

Derecognition of Part of a Financial Liability or Coupled with a New Financial Asset or Liability

65. If an enterprise transfers a part of a financial liability to others while retaining a parl, or if an
enterprise transfers an entire financial liability and in so doing creates a new financial asset or
assumes a new financial liabllity, the enterprise should account for the transaction in the manner
set out in paragraphs 47-56.

Measurement

Initial Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

66.

67.

When a financial asset or financial liability is recognised initially, an enterprise should measure it
at its cost, which is the fair value of the consideration given (in the case of an asset) or received
{in the case of a liability} for it. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of all

financial assets and liabilities. :

-The fair value of the consideration given or received nemally is determinable by reference to the

transaclion price or other market prices. |If such market prices are not refiably determinable, the fair
value of the consideralion is estimated as the sum of all future cash payments or receipts, discounted, if
the effect of doing so would be materal, using the prevailing market rate(s) of interest for a similar
instrument (similar as to currency, term, type of interest rate, and other factors) of an issuer with a similar
credit rating (see IAS 18, Revenue, paragraph 11). As an exception lo paragraph 66, paragraph 160
requires that certain hedging gains and losses be included as part of the initial measurement of the cost
of the related hedged asset.

Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets

68.

68.

For the purpose of measuring a financial asset subsequent to initial recognition, this Standard classifies
financia! assets into four categories:

(a) loans and receivables originated by the enterprise and not held for trading;

{) heid-to-maturity investments;

{c} available-for-sale financial assets; and

{d) financial assets held for trading.

After initial recognition, an enterprise should measure financial assets, including derivatives that
are assels, at their fair values, without any deduction for transaction costs that it may incur on
sale or other disposal, except for the foflowing categories of financial assets, which should be
measured under paragraph 73:

(a) loans and receivahles originated by the enterprise and not held for trading;

(b) held-to-maturity investments; and
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71.

72.

73,

74.

75,

76.

77.

78.
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(¢) any financial asset that does not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured (see paragraph 70).

Financial assels that are designated as hedged jtemns are subject to measurement under the
hedge accounting provisions in paragraphs 121-165 of this Standard.

There is a presumption that fair value can be rcliably determined for most financial assets
classified as available for sale or held for trading. However, that presumption can be overcome
for an investment in an equity instrument {including au investment that is in substanice an equity
instrument - see paragraph 71) that does not have a quoted market price in an active market and
for which other methods of reasonably estimating fair value are clearly inappropriate or
unworkable. The presumption can also be overcome for a derivative that is linked to and that
must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity Instrument. - See paragraphs 95-102 for
guidance on esiimating fair value.

An example of an investment that is in substance an equily instrument is special participation rights
without a specified maturity whose return is linked to an enterprise’s performance,

If a financial asset is required to be measured at fair value and its fair value is below zero, it is accounted
for as a financial liability as set out in paragraph 93.

Those financial assets that are excluded from fair valuation under paragraph 69 and that have a
fixed maturity should be measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Those that do not have a fixed maturity should be measured at cost. All financial assets are
subject to review for impairment as set out in paragraphs 109-118.

Shart-duration receivables with no stated inlerest rate are nomally measured at original invoice amount
unless the effect of imputing interest would be significant.

Loans and receivables originated by an enterprise and not held for trading are measured at amortised
cost withoul regard to the enterprise’s intent lo hold them to maturity.

For floating rate financial inslruments, periodic re-estimation of determinable cash flows 1o reflect
movemenis in market rates of interest changes the effective yield on a monetary financial asset. Such
changes in cash flows are recognised over the remaining term of the asset, or the next repricing date if
the asset reprices at market. {n the case of a floating rate financial assel recognised initially at an
amount equal to the principal repayable on maturity, re-estimating the future interest payments normally
has no significant effect on the carrying amount of the asset.

The following example illustrates how transaction costs relate to the initial and subsequent measurement
of & financial asset held for trading. An asset is acquired for 100 pius a purchase commission of 2.
Initially it is recorded at 102. At the next financial reporling date, the quoted market price of the asset
remains at 100. If the asset were sold, a commission of 3 would be paid. In that case, the assel is
measured al 100 (without regard te the possible commissien on sale) and a foss of 2 is recognised in net
profit or loss forthe period.

An enterprise applies |IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, to financial assets that
are mongtary items under JAS 21 and that are denominated in a foreign currency. Under IAS 21, any
foreign exchange gains and 10sses on monetary assets are reperted in net profit or loss. An exception is
a monetary item that is designated as a hedging instrtument in a cash flow hedge (see paragraghs 121-
165). Any recognised change in the fair value of such a monetary item apart from foreign exchange
gains and losses is accounted for under paragraph 103. With respect to financial assets that are not
monetary items under IAS 21 (for example, equity instruments), any recognised change in fair value,
including any component of that change that may relate {o changes in foreign exchange rates, is
accounted for under paragraph 103. Under the hedge accounting provisions of this Standard
{(paragraphs 121-165), if there Is a hedging relationship between a non-derivative monetary asset and a
non-derivative monetary fiability, changes In the fair values of those financial instruments are reported in
net profit or [oss.
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Held-to-Maturity Investments

79.

80.

81i.

82,

83.

84,

85,

An enterprise does not have the positive intent to hold to maturity an investment in a financial
asset with a fixed maturity if any one of the following conditions is met:

(a) the enterprise has the intent to hold the finaricial asset for only an undefined period;

(b} the enterprise stands ready to sell the financial asset (other than if a situation arises that is
non-recurring and could not have been reasonabfy anticipated by the enterpnse) in
response to changes in market interest rates or risks, liquidity needs, changes in the
avaifability of and the yield on alternative irivestments, changes in financing sources and
terms, or changes in foreign currency risk; cr

{c) the issuer has a right to settle the financial asset at an amount s;gmf‘cantly below its
amortised cost,

A debt security with a variable interest rale can satisfy the critena for a held-lo-maturity tnvestment. Most
equity securities cannol be held-to-maturity investments either because they have an indefinite life (such
as ordinary shares) or because the amounts the holder may receive can vary in a manner that is not
predetermined (such as share options, warrants, and rights). With respect {o held-to-maturty
investments, fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity means a coniractual arrangement thal
defines the amounts and dates of paymenis to the holder, such as interest and principal payments on
debt,

A financial asset that is callable by the issuer satisfies the criteria for a held-to-maturity investment if the
holder intends and is able to hold it until it is called oc until maturity and if the holder would recover
substantially all of its carrying amount, The call option, if exercised, simply accelerates the assel’s
maturity. However, if the financial assel is caliable in a manner such that the helder would notl recover
substantially all of its carrying amount!, the financial asset is not classified as held-to-maturity. The
enterprise considers any premium paid and capitalised transaction cosls in delermmmg whether the
carrying amount would be substantially recovered.

A financial asset that is puttable (the holder has the right to require that the issuer repay or redeem the
financial asset before malurity) is classified as a held-to-maturity investment only if the holder has the
positive intent and ability 1o hald it untit maturity and not to exercise 1he put feature.

An enterprise should not classify any financial assets as held-to-maturity if the enterprise has,
during the current financial year or during the two preceding financial years, sold, transferred, or
exercised a put option on more than an insignificant amount of held-fo-maturity investments
before maturity (more than insignificant in relation to the total held-to-maturity portfolic) other
than by:

(a) sales close enough fo maturity or exercised call date so that changes in the market rate of
interest did not have a significant effect on the financial asset's fair value;

(b) sales after the enterprise has already collected substantially all of the financial asset's
original principal through scheduled payments or prepayments; or

{c) sales due to an isolated event that is beyond the enterprise’s control and that is non-
recurring and could not have been reasonably anticipated by the enterprise.

Paragraphs 90-82 address reclassifications between fair value and amortised cost.

Under this Standard, fair value is a more appropriate measure for most financial assets than amortised
cost. The held-to-maturity classification is an exception, but only if the enterprise has the positive intent
and ability o hold the investment to maturity. When an enterprise’s actions have cast doubt on its intent
and ability to hold such investments to maturity, paragraph 83 precludes the exception for a reasonable
period of time.

A ‘disaster scenario’ that is extremely remaote, such as a run on a bank or a similar situation affecting an
insurance company, is not anticipated by an enterprise in deciding whether it has the positive intent and
ability to hold an investment to maturity. ‘
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Sales before maturily could satisfy the condition in paragraph 83 - and therefore not raise a question

. about the enterprise’s intent to hold other investments £0 maturity - if they are due to:

(a) a significant deterioration in the issuer's creditworthiness;

(t) achange in tax law that eliminates or significantly reduces the tax-exempt status of interest on the
held-to-maturity investment (but not a change in tax law that revises the marginal tax rates
applicable to interest income);

{c) a major business combination or major disposition {such as sale of a segment) that necessitates
the sale or transfer of held-to-maturity investments to maintain the enlerprise’s existing inlerest rale
risk position or credit risk policy (although the business combination itself is an event within the
enterprise’s control, the changes to its investment portfolic to maintain interest rate risk position or
credit risk policy may be consequential rather than anticipatad);

{dy a change in statutory or regulatory requirements significantly modifying either what conslitutes a
permissible investment or the maximum tevel of certain kinds of investments, thereby causing an
enterprise to dispose of a held-to-maturity investrment;

(&) a significant increase by the regulator in the industry's capital requirements that causes the
enterprise to downsize by selling held-to-maturity investments; or

¢  a significant increase in the risk weights of held-to-maturity investmenls used for regulatory risk-
based capital purposes.

An enterprise does not have a demonstrated ability to hold to maturity an investment in a
financial asset with a fixed maturity Iif either one of the following conditions is met:

(a} it does not have the financial resources availahle to continue to finance the investment until
maturity; or

(b) itis subject to an existing legal or other constraint that could frustrate its intention to hold
the financial asset to maturity (however, an issuer’s call option does not necessarily
frustrate an enterprise's intent to hold a financial asset to maturity - see paragraph 81).

Circumstances other than those described in paragraphs 79-87 can indicate that an enterprise does not
have a positive intent or ability to hotd ap investment to maturity.

An enlerprise assesses its intent and ability to hold its heid-to-maturity investments to maturity not enly
when these financial assels are initially acquired but also at each balance sheet date.

If, due to a change of intent or ability, it is no fonger appropriate to carry a held-to-maturity
investment at amortised cost, it should be remeasured at fair value, and the difference between
its carrying amount and fair value should be accounted for in accordance with paragraph 103.

Similarly, if a reliable measure becomes available for a financial asset for which such a measure
previously was not available, the asset should be remeasured at fair value, and the difference
between its carrying amount and fair value shiould be accounted for in accordance with

paragraph 103,

If, due to a change of intent or ability or in the rare circumstance that a reliable measure of fair
value is no longer available or because the ‘two preceding financial years’ referred fo in
paragraph 83 have now passed, it becomes appropriate to carry a financial asset at amortised
cost rather than at fair value, the fair value carrying amount of the financial asset on that date
becomes jts new amortised cost. Any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised directly in equity in accordance with paragraph 103 should be accounted for as
follows: :

{a) in the case of a financial asset with a fixed rhaturity, a previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised directly in equity should be amortised over the remaining life of
the held-to-maturity investment. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
maturity amount should be amortised over the remaining life of the financial asset as an
adjustment of yield, similar to amortisation of premium and discount; and
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(b} in the case of a financial asset that does not have a fixed maturity, a previous gain or loss
on that assef that has been recognised directly in equity should be left in equity until the
financial asset has been sold or otherwise disposed of, at which time it should enter into
the determination of net profit or loss.

Subsequent Measurement of Financial Liabilities

83.

84.

After initial recognition, an enterprise should measure all financial liabilities, other than liabilities

" - held for trading and derivatives that are liabilities, at amortised cost, After initial recognition, an

enterprise should measure liabilities held for tracling and derivatives that are liabilities at fair
value, except for a derivative liability that is linkedf to and that must be settled by delivery of an
unquefed equity instrument whose fair value canniot be reliably measured, which should be
measured at cost.  Financial liabilities that are designated as hedged ftems are subject to
measurement under the hedge accounting provisions in paragraphs 121-165 of this Standard.

An enlerprise applies IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, to financial liabilities
that are menetary items under IAS 21 and that are denominated in a foreign currency. Under 1AS 21,
any foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary liabilities are reported in net profit or loss. An
exception is a monetary item that is designated as a hedging instrument in a cash flow hadge (see
paragraphs 121-165). Any recognised change in the fair value of such a monetary item apar from
foreign exchange gains and losses is accounted for under paragraph 103. Wilh respact to financia
lizbilities that are not monelary items under 1AS 21 (such as some mandatorily redeemable preferred
stock issued by the enterprise), any recognised change in fair value, including any component of tha!
change that may relate to changes in foreign exchange rates, is accounted for under paragraph 103.
Under the hedge accounting provisions of this Standard (paragraphs 12i-165), if there is a hedging
relationship between a non-derivative monetary asset and a non-derivative monetary liability, changes in
the fair values of those financial instruments will be reported in net profit or loss.

Fair Value Measurement Considerations

95,

86.

97.

98,

The fair value of a financial instrument is reliably rmeasurable if (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is not significant for that instrument or (b) if the probabilities of
the various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value. Often, an enterprise will be able to make an estimate of the fair value of a financial
instrument that is sufficiently reliable to use in financial statements, Occasionally, the variability
in the range of reasonable falr value estimates is s0 great and the probabilities of the varjous
outcomes are so difficult to assess that the usefulness of a single estimate of fair value is
negated.

Situations in which fair value is reliably measurable include (a) a financial instrument for which
there is a published price quotation in an active public securities market for that instrument, (b} a
debt instrument that has been rated by an indepenrdent rating agency and whose cash flows can
be reasonably estimated, and (c¢) a financial instrument for which there is an appropriate
valuation model and for which the data inputs to that modal can be measured reliably because
the data come from active markets.

The fair value of a financial asset or financial liability may be determined by one of several generally
accepted methods. Valuation techniques should incorporate the assumptions that market participants
would use in their estimates of fair values, including assumptions about prepayment rates, rales of
estimated credit !osses, and interest or discount rales. Paragraph 167(a) requires disclosure of the
methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating fair values.

Underlying the definition of fair value is 2 presumption that an enterprise is a going concem withowt any
intention or need to liquidate, curtail materially the scale of its operations, or undertake a transaction on
adverse terms. Fair value is not, therefore, the amouat that an enterprise would receive or pay in a
forced transaction, involuntary liquidation, or distress sale. However, an enterprise takes its current
circumstances into account in determining the fair values of its financial assets and financia! liabilities.
For example, the fair value of a financial asset that an enterprise has decided to sell for cash in the
immediate fulure is determined by the amount that it expects to receive from such a sale, The amount of
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cash to be realised from an immediate sale will be affected by facters such as the current liquidity and
depth of the market for the assel. _ . :

The existence of published price quotations in an active market is normally the best evidence of fair
value. The appropriate quoled marke! price for an asset held or liability to be issued is usually the
current bid price and, for an asset to be acquired or liability held, the current offer or asking price. When
currert bid and offer prices are unavailable, the price of the most recent transaction may provide
evidence of the current fair value provided that there has not been a significant changs in economic
circumstances between the transaction date and the reporting date. When an enterprise has matching
assel and liability positions, it may appropriately use rnid-markel prices as a basis for establishing fair
values,

If the market for a financial instrument is not an active market, publishad price quotations may have to be
adjusted to asrive at a reliable measure of fair value, if there is infrequent activity in a market, the market
is not well established {for example, some ‘over the counler' markets) or small volumes are traded
relative 1o the number of trading units of a financial instrument to be valued, quoled market prices may
not be indicalive of the fair value of the instrument. In scme cases where the volume traded is relatively
small, a price quotation for a targer block may be available from the market maker in that instrument. In
other circumstances, as well as when a guoted market price is not available, estimation techniques may
be used to determine fair value with sufficient reliability to satisfy the requirements of this Standard.
Techniques that are well established in financial markets include reference to the current market value of
anolher instsument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing
models. In applying discounted cash flow analysfs, an enterprise uses the discount rate{s) equal to the
prevailing rate of return for financial instrumenls having subsiantially the same terms and characteristics,
including the creditworthiness of the debtor, the remaining temm over which the contractual interest rate is
fixed, the remaining term to repayment of the principal, and the currency in which payments are to be
made.

If & market price daes not exist for a financial instrument in its entirety but markets exist for its component
parts, fair value is constructed on the basis of the relevant market pAces. If a market does not exist for a-
financial instrument but a market exists for a similar financial instrument, fair value is constructed on the
basis of the markel price of the similar financial instrurent.

There are many situalions other than those enumerated in paragraphs 95-101 in which the variability in
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is likely not to be significant. It is normally possitle to
eslimate the fair value of a financial asset that an enterprise has acquired from an outside party. An
entesprise is ualikely ta purchase a financial instrument for which it does not expect {o be able to obtain a
reliable measure of fair value afler acquisition. The 1ASC Framework states: 'In many cases, cosl or
value musl be estimated; the use of reasonable eslimates is an essential part of the preparation of
financial statements and does not undermine their reliability.’

Gains and Losses on Remeasurement to Fair Value

103,

A recognised gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or financial
fiability that is not part of a hedging relationship (see paragraphs 121-165) should be reported as
foliows:

(2} againorlossan afinancial asset or liability held for trading should be included in net profit
or loss for the period in which it arises (in this regard, a derivative should always be
considered to be held for trading unless it is & designatzd hedging instrument - see
paragraph 122);

{b) . a gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset shoufd be either:
(i)  included in net profit or loss for the period in which it arises; or .

(i) recognised directly in equity, through the statement of changes in equity (see IAS 1,
Presentation of Financial Statements, paragraphs 86-88), until the financial asset Is
sold, colfected, or otherwise disposed of, or until the financial asset is determined to
be impaired (see paragraphs 117-119), at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity should be included in net profit or loss for the period.
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An enterprise should choose either paragraph 103(b)(i) or paragraph 103(b)(ii} as its accounting
policy and should apply that policy to all of its available-for-sale financial assets {except for
hedges - see paragraph 121).

IAS 8, Net Prafit or Loss for the Perod, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting Policies,
provides that a voluntary change in accounting policy should be made only if the change will result in a
more appropriate presentation of events or transactions in the financial statements of the enterprise. The
Board believes thal this is highly tnlixely to be the case for a change from paragraph 103(b){i) to
paragraph 103(b)(ii).

If an enterprise recognises purchases of financial assets using settlement date accounting (see
paragraph 30), any change in the fair value of the asset to be received during the period between
the trade dafe and the settfement date is not recognised for assets carried at cost or amortised
cost (other than impairment losses). For assets remeasured to fair value, however, the change
in fair value should be recognised in net profit or loss or in equity, as appropriate under
paragraph 103,

Because the designation of a financial asset as held for trading is based on the objective for
initially acquiring it, an enterprise should not reclassify its financial assets that are being
remeasured to fair value out of the trading category while they are held. An enterprise should
reciassify a financial asset into the trading category only if there js evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit taking that justifies such reclassification (see paragraph 21).

Gains and Losses on Financial Assets and Liabilities Not Remeasured to Fair Value

108.

For those financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost (paragraphs 73 and
93}, a gain or loss is recognised in net profit or loss when the financial asset or liability is
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. Howaever, if there is a
hedgling relationship between those financial assets or liabilities (the jtems being hedged) and a
hedging instrument as described in paragraphs 121-152, accounting for the gain or loss should
follow paragraphs 153-164.

lmpairment and Uncollectability of Financial Assets

109.

110,

A financial asset is impaired if its carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount. An enterprise should assess at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of assets may be impaired. If any such evidence exists,
the enterprise should estimate the recoverable amount of that asset or group of assets and
recognise any impairment loss in accordance with paragraph 111 (for financial assets carried at
amortised cost) or paragraph 117 (for financial assets remeasured to fair value).

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assels is impaired or uncollectable includes
information that comes 1o the attention of the holder of the asset about:

(a) significant financial difficutty of the issuer;

{b) an actual breach of contraci, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

(c) granting by the lender to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower's
financia! difficulty, of 2 concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;

{d) a high probability of bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation of the issuer;
{8) recognition of an impaimment loss on that asset in a pror financial reporting period;
()  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset due to financial difficulties; or

{@) a historical pattern of collections of accounts receivable that indicates that the entire face amount
of a portfolio of accounts receivable will not be collected.



268

The disappearance of an active market hecause an enterprise's secusities are no longer publicly fraded
is not evidence of impairmeant. A downgrade of an enlerprise’s credit raling Is not, of itself, evidence of
impairment, though it may be evidence of impairment whien considered with other available information.

Financial Assets Carried at Amortised Cost

111.

112

113.

114,

115,

if it is probable that an enterprise will not be able to collect alf amounts due {principal and
interest} according to the contractual terms of loans, receivables, or held-to-maturity
-Investments carried at amortised cost, an impairment or bad debt lass has occurred, The
amount of the loss is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value
of expected future cash flows discounted at the financial instrument’s original effective interest
rate (recoverable amount). Cash flows relating to short-termn recelvables generally are not
discounted (see paragraph 74). The carrying amount oF the asset should be reduced ta its
estimated recoverable amount either directly or through use of an allowance account. The
amount of the foss should be included in nef profit or loss for the period.

Impaimment and uncollectability may be measured and recognised individually for financial assets that are
individually significant. Impairment and uncollectability may be measured and recognised on a portfolio
basis for a group of similar financial assels.

impairment of a financial asset carried at amorlised cost is measured using the financial instrument's
original effective interest rate because discounting at the current marke! rate of interest would, in effact,
impose fair-value measurement on financial assels thal this Standard would otherwise measure at
amortised cost. If a loan, receivable, or held-to-maturity investrment has a variable interes! rate, the
discount rale for measuring recoverable amount pursuant to paragraph 111 is the current effective
interest rate(s) determined under the contract, As a surrogate for such a fair value calculation, a creditor
may measure impairment based on an instrument’s fair valug using an observable market price. If an
asset is collateralised and foreciosure is probable, then the holder measures impairment based on the

fair value of the collateral.

if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impalrment or bad debt foss decreases and the
decrease can be objectively related to an event occurring after the write-down (such as an
improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the write-down of the financial asset should be
reversed either directly or by adjusting an allowance account, The reversal should not result in
a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what amortised cost would have been, had
the impairment not been recognised, at the date the write-down of the financial asset is
reversed. The amount of the reversal should be included in net profit or loss for the period.

The carrying amount of any financial asset that is not carried at fair value becsuse its fair value
cannot be reliably measured (paragraph 69(c)) should be reviewed for an indication of
impairment at each balance sheet date based on an analysis of expected pet cash inflows.  If
there is an indication of impairment, the amount of the impairment loss of such a financial asset
is the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of expected future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of interest for a similar financial asset (recoverable

amount),

Interest Income After Impairment Recognition

1186,

Once a financial asset has been written down to its estimaled recoverable amount, inlerest income is
thereafter recagnised based on the rate of interest that was used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the recoverable amount. Additionally, after initially recognising an impairment loss,
the enlerprise will review this asset for further impaimment at subsequent financial reporting dates (see
paragraph 110(g)). 1AS 18 paragraph 30 provides guidance for recognising interest income on
unimpaired financial assets. '

Financial Assets Remeasured to Fair Value

117.

If a loss on a financial asset carried at fair value (recoverable amount is below original
acquisition cost) has been recognised directly in equity in accordance with paragraph 103{b)(i})
and there is objective evidence (see paragraph 110} that the asset is impaired, the cumulative
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" et loss that had been recognised directly in equity should be removed from equity and

recognised In net profit or Joss for the period even though the financial asset has not been
derecognised. .

The amount of the loss that should be removed from equity and reported in net profit or loss is
the difference between its acquisition cost {net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value (for equity instruments) or recoverable amount (for debt instruments), less any
impalrment loss on that asset previously recognised in net profit or loss. The recoverable
amount of a debt instrument remeasured to fair value is the present value of expected future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of interest for a similar financial asset.

ff, in a subsequent period, the fair value or recoverable amount of the financial asset carried at
fair value increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
loss was recognised in net profit or loss, the loss should be reversed, with the amount of the
reversal included in net profit or loss for the period.

Fair Value Accounting in Certain Financial Services Industries

120.

In some countries, either based on national law or accepted industry practice, enterprises in certain
financial services induslries measure substantially all financia! assets at fair value, Examples of such
industries include, in certain countries, mutual funds, unit trusts, securities brokers and dealers, and
insurance companies. Under this Standard, such an enterprise will be able to continue t¢ measure its
financial assets at fair value if its financial assets are classified under this Standard as either available for

sale or held fortrading.

Hedging

721.

If there is a hedying relationship between a hedging instrument and a related item being hedged
as described in paragraphs 122-152, accounting for the gain or loss should follow paragraphs
153-164. : ‘

Heﬂging Instruments

i22.

123.

124.

This Standard does not restricl the circumstances in which a derivative may be designated as a hedging
instrument, for hedge accounting purposes, if the conditions in paragraph 142 are met, except for certain
written options (see paragraph 124). However, a non-derivative financial asset or liability may be
designated as a hedging instrument, for hedge accounling purposes, only for a hedge of a foreign
currency fisk. The reason for this limitation is the different bases for measuring derivatives and non-
derivalives. Under this Standard derivatives are always regarded as held for trading or hedging and,
therafore, are {unless {hey are linked to and must be seltled by delivery of an unquoted equity instrument
whose fair value is not refiably measurable) remeasured to fair value, with changes in fair value included
in net profit or loss, or in equity if the instrument is a cash flow hedge. Non-derivatives, on the other
hand, are sometimes measured al fair value with changes in fair value included in net profit or loss,
sometimes measured at fair value with changes in fair value reported in equity, and soemetimes
measured at amorised cost. To allow non-derivatives to be designated as hedging instruments in more
than limited circumstances creales measurement inconsistencies.

An enterprise’s own equity securities are not financial assets or financial liabilities of the enterprise and,
therefore, are not hedging instruments. ’

Hedging involves a proportionate income offset between changes in fair value of, or cash flows
attributable to, the hedging instrument and the hedged item. The potential loss on an optien that an
enterprise writes could be significantly greater than the potential gain in value of a related hedged itern.
That is, a written option is not effective in reducing the exposure on net profit or loss. Therefore, a written

-option is.not & hedging instrument unless it is designaled as an offset to a purchased option, including

one that is embedded in another financia! instrument, for example, a written option used to hedge
callable debt. In contrast, a purchased option has potential gains equal to or greater than losses and,
therefore, has the potential to reduce profit or lass exposure from changes in fair values or cash flows.
Accordingly, it can qualify as a hedging instrument.
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He!d-io-rﬁatuﬁty investments carried at amortised cost may be effeclive hedging instruments with respect
to risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

A financial asset or financial iiabilty whose fair value cannot be reliably measured cannot be a hedging
instrument except in the case of a nonderivative instrument (a) that is denominated in a forelgn currency,
{b) that Is designatad as a hedge of foreign currency risk, and (c) whose foreign currency component is
reliably measurable. '

Hedged Items

127.

128.

129.

130.

131.

132

1383.

A hedged item can be a recognised asset o liability, an unrecognised firm commitment, or an
uncommitted but highly probable anticipated future transaction {forecasted transaction’). The hedged
iten can be (a) 2 single assei, liability, firn commitment, or forecasted transaction or (b) a group of
assets, liabilities, fimm commitments, or forecasted transactions with similar risk characterstics. Unlike
originated loans and receivables, a held-to-maturity investrment cannot be a hedged item with respect to
interest-rate risk because designation of an investment as held-to-maturily invalves not accounting for
associated changes in interest rates. However, a held-to-maturity invesiment can be a hedged item with
respect to risks from changes in forefgn currency exchange rates and credit risk.

If the hedged item is a financial asset or liability, it may be a hedged item with respect to the rsks
asseciated with only a portion of its cash flows or fair value, if effectiveness can be measured.

If the hedged item is a non-financial asset or Hability, it should be designated as a hedged item
either (a) for foreign currency risks or (b) in its entirety for all risks, becauss of the difficulty of
jsolating and measuring the appropriate portion of the cash fiows or fair value changes
attributable to specific Hisks other than foreign currency risks.

Because changes in the price of an ingredient or component of a non-financial asset or lability generally
do not have a predictable, separately measurable effect on the price of the itern that is comparable to the
effect of, say, a change in market interest rates or the price of  bond, a non-financial asset or liability is a
hedged item only in its entirety.

A single hedging instrument may be designated as a hedge of more than one type of risk provided that:
{a) the risks hedged can be clearly identified, (D) the efiectiveness of the hedge can be dsmonstraled,
and {c) it is possible to ensure that there is a specific designation of the hedging instrument and the
different risk positions.

If similar assels or similar liabilties are agaregated and hedged as a group, the individual zssets or
individua! liabilities in the group will share the risk exposure for which they are designated as being
hedged. Further, the change in fair value altributable to the hedged risk for each individual jtem in the
group will be expected to be approximately proportional to the overall change in fair value attributable to
the hedged risk of the group.

Because hedge effectiveness must be assessed by comparing the change in value or cash flow of 2
hedging instrument {or group of similar hedging instruments) and a hedged item {or group of similar
hedged items), comparing & hedging instrument to an overall net position rather than to a specific
hedged item (for example, the net of all fixed rate assets and fixed rate liabilities with similar maturities),
does not qualify for hedge accounting. However, approximately ihe same effect on net profit or loss of
hedge accounting for this kind of hedging relationship can be achieved by designating part of the
underlying items as the hedged position. For example, if a bank has 100 of assets and 90 of liabilities
with risks and terms of a similar nature and wishes to hedge the net 10 exposure, it can designate 10 of
those assets as the hedged item. This designation could be used if such assets and liabilities are fixed
rate instruments, in which case it is a fair value hedge, or if they are both variable rate instruments, in
which case it is a cash fiow hedge. Similary, if an enterprise has a firn commitment to make a purchase
in a foreign cumency of 100 and a firn commitment {0 make a sale in the foreign currency of 80, it can
hedge the net armount of 10 by acquiring a derivative and designaling it as a hedging instrumnent
associated with 10 of the firm purchase commitment of 100.
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For hedge accounting purposes, only derivatives that involve a parly external to the enterprise can be
designated as hedging instruments. Although individual companies within a ‘consolidated group or
divisions within a company may enter into hedging transactions with other companies within the group or
divisions within the comparny, any gains and losses on such transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
Therefore, such intra-group or intra-company hedging transaclions do not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment in consclidation,

A firm commitment to acquire a business in a business combinalion cannat be a hedged itern except with
respect to foreign exchange risk because the other risks being hedged cannot be specifically identified
and measured. liis a hedge of a general business risk.

Hedge Accounting

136.

137.

138.

139.

140.

Hedge accounting recognises symmetrically the offsetting effects on net profit or loss of changes in the
fair values of the hedging instrument and the related iltem being hedged.

Hedgling refationships are of three types:

(a) fair yalue hedge: a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset
or liability, or an identified portion of such an asset or liability, that is attributable to a
particular risk and that will affect feported net income;

(b) cash flow hedge: a hedge of the exposure t0 variability in cash flows that (i) Is attributable
to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability (such as all or some future
interest payments on variable rate debt) or a forecasted transaction (such as an anticipated
purchase or sale) and that (ii) will affect reported net profit or loss, A hedge of an
unrecognised firm commitment fo buy or self an asset at a fixed price in the enterprise’s
reporting currency is accounted for as a cash fiow hedge even though it has a fair value
exposure; and

(¢) hedge of a net investment in a foreign entity as defined in IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates,

An example of a fair value hedge is a hedge of exposure to changes in the fair value of fixed rate debt as
a result of changes in interest rates. Such a hedge could be entered into either by the issuer or by the

holder.

Examples of cash flow hedges are;

(a) a hedge of the future foreign currency risk in an unrecognised contraciual commitment by an airine
to purchase an aircraft for a fixed amount of a foreign currency, : -

(b) a hedge of the change in fuel price relaling to an unrecognised contractual commitment by an
electrc utility to purchase fuel at a fixed price, with payment in its domestic currency; and

(c) use of a swap to, in effect, change floating rate debt to fixed rate debt (this is a hedge of a future
transaction: the future cash flows being hedged are the future interest payments).

A hedge of a firn commitment in an enterprise’s own reperting currency is not a hedge of a cash flow
exposure but rather of an exposure to a change in fair value. Nonetheless, such a tiedge is accounted
for as a cash flow hedge under this Standard, rather than as 2 fair value hedge, to avoid recognising as

_ an asset or a liability a commitment {hat otherwise would not be recogniseu as an asset or liability under

141.

142,

current accounting practice.

As defined in IAS 21, a foreign entity is a foreign operation, the activities of which are not an integral par
of the reporting enterprise. Under IAS 21, all foreign exchange differences that resuit from translating the
financial statements of the foreign entily into the parent's reporting cumency are classified as equity untit
disposal of the net investment.

Under this Standard, a hedging relationship qualifies for special hedge accounting as sef out in
paragraphs 153-164 if, and only if, aif of the folfowing conditions are met:
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(a) at the inception of the hedge there is formal documentation of the hedging relationship and
the enterprise's risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. That
documentation should include identification of the hedging instrument, the related hedged
itern or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged, and how the enterprise will assess
the hedyging instrument's effectiveness in offsefting the exposure to changes in the hedged
ftem's fair value or the hedged transaction’s cash fiows that is attributable to the hedged
1isk;

(b) the hedge is expected to be highly effective (see paragraph 146} in achieving offsetting
changes in fair valie or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk, consistent with the
originally documented risk management strategy for that particular hedging relationship;

(c) for cash flow hedges, a forecasted transaction that is the subject of the hedge must be
highly probable and must present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could
ultimately affect reported net profit or loss;

() the effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured, that is, the fair value or cash flows
of the hedged item and the fair value of the hedging instrument can be reliably measured
(see paragraph 95 for guidance on fair vaiue); and

(e) the hedge was assessed on an engoing basis and determined actually to have been highly
effective throughout the financial reporting period.

In the case of interest rate risk, hedge effectiveness may be assessed by preparing a maturity schedule
that shows a recuction of all or part of the rate exposure, for each stip of maturity schedule, resuiting
from the aggregation of elements, the net position of which is hedged, providing such net exposure can
be associated with an asset or Jiability giving rise 1o such net exposure and correlation can be assessed
against that asset or liability.

There is normally a single fair value measure for a hedging instrument in its entirety, and the factors that
cause changes in fair value are co-dependent. Thus a hedging relationship is designated by an
enterprise for a hedging instrument in its entirety. “The onty exceptions permitted are (a) splitting the
intrinsic value and the time value of an cption and designating only the change in the intrinsic value of an
option as the hedging instrument, while the remaining component of the opticn (ils time value} is
excluded and (b) splitling the interest element and the spot prce on a forward. Those exceplions
recagnise that the intdnsic value of the option and the premium on the forward generally can be
measured separately. A dynarnic hedging strategy that assesses both the intrinsic and the time value of
an option can qualify for hedge accounting, .

A proportion of the enlire hedging instrument, such as 50 per cent of the notional amount, may be
designated in a hedging relationship. However, a hedging relationship may not be designated for only a
portion of the time period in which a hedging instrument is outstanding.

Assessing Hedge Effectiveness

146.

147.

A hedge is normally regarded as highly effective if, at inception and throughou! the life of the hedge, the
enterprise can expect changes in the fair valug or cash flows of the hedged item to be almost fully offset
by the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument, and aclual results are within a
range of 80 per cent to 125 per cenl. For example, if the loss on the hedging instrument is 120 and the
gain on the cash instrument is 100, offsel can be measured by 120/100, which is 120 per cent, or by
100/120, which is 83 per cent. The enterprise will conclude that the hedge is highly effective.

The method an enterprise adopts for assessing hedge effectiveness wili depend on its risk management
strategy. In some cases, an enterprise will adopt different methods for different lypes of hedges. If the
principal terms of the hedging instrument and of the entire hedged assel or liability or hedged forecasted
transaction are the same, the changes in fair value and cash flows attributable to the risk being hedged
offset fully, both when the hedge is entered into and thereafter untit completion. For instance, an interest
rate swap is likely to be an effective hedge if the notional and principal amounts, term, repricing dates,
dates of interest and principal receipts and payments, and basis for measuring interest rates are the
same for the hedging instrument and the hedged item.



148,

149.

150,

151,

152,

273

On the other hand, sometimes the hedging instrument will offsel the hedged risk only parially. For
instance, a hedge would no! be fully effective ¥ the hedging instrument and hedged item are
denominated in different currencies and the two do not move in tandem. Also, a hedge of interest rate
risk using a derivative would not be fully effective if part of the change in the fair value of the derivative is
due to the counterparty’s credit risk.

To qualify for special hedge accounting, the hedge must relate 1o a specific identified and designated
risk, and not merely to overall enterprise business risks, and must ullimately affect the enterprise’s net
prafit or foss. A hedge of the risk of cbsolescence of a physical assel or the risk of expropriation of
property by a government would not be eligiple for hedge accounting; effectiveness cannot be measured
since those risks are not measurable reliably.

An equity method investment cannot be a hedged item in a fair value hedge because the equity method
recognises the investor's share of the associate's accrued net profit or loss, rather than fair value
changes, in net profit or loss, If it were a hedged item, it would be adjusted for both fair value changes
and profit and loss accruals - which would result in doubie counting because the fair value changes
include the profit and loss accruals. For a similar reason, an investment in a consolidated subsidiary
cannot be a hedged item in a fair value hedge because consolidation recognises the parent's share of
the subsidiary's accrued net profit or foss, rather than fair value changes, in net profit or loss. A hedge of
a net investment in a foreign subsidiary is different. There is no double counting because it is a hedge of
the foreign currency exposure, not a fair value hedge of the change in the value of the investment.

This Standard does not specify a single method for assessing hedge effectiveness. An enterprise's
documentation of its hedging strategy will include its procedures for assessing effectiveness. Those
procedures will state whether the assessment will include all of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument
or whether the instrument's time value will be excluded. Effecliveness is assessed, at a minimum, at the
time an enerprise prepares its annual or interim financial report. If the critical terms of the hedging -
instrument and the eatire hedged asset or lability (as opposed to selected cash flows) or hedged
forecasted transaction are the same, an enterprise could canclude that changes in fair value or cash
flows atlributable 1o the risk being hedged are expected to completely offset at inception and on an
ongoing basis, For example, an entity may assume that a hedge of a forecasted purchase of a
commodily with a forward centract wili be highly effective and that there will be no ineffectiveness to be
recognised in net profit or loss if:

(a) the forward contract is for purchase of the same quantity of the same commodity at the same time
and location as the hedged forecasted purchase;

(by the fair value of the forward contract at inception is zero; and

(cy either the change in the discount or premium on the forward contract is excluded from the
assessment of effectiveness and included directly in net profit er loss or the change in expected
cash flows on the forecasted transaction is based on the forward price for the commodity.

In assessing the effectiveness of a hedge. an enterprise will generally need to consider the time value of
money. The fixed rate on a hedged item need not exactly match the fixed rate on a swap designated as
& fair value hedge. Nor does the varable rate on an interest-bearing asset or liability nesd to be the
same as the variable rate on a swap designated as a cash flow hedge. A swap's fair value comes from
its net settlements. The fixed and variable rates on a swap can be changed without affecting the net
setilement if both are changed by the same amount.

Fair Value Hedges

153,

If a fair value hedge meets the conditions in paragraph 142 during the financial reporting period,
it should be accounted for as follows:

(3} the gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value should be
recognised immediately in net profit or loss; and

{b) the gain or loss on the hedged itemn attributable to the hedged risk should adjust the
carrying amount of the hedged item and be recognised Immediately in net profit or loss.
This applies even if a hedged item is otherwise measured at fair valué with changes In fair
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_ value recognised d:rectiy in equity inder paragraph 103(b}. It arso apphes if the hedged
. item is otherwise measured at cost.

The following illustrates how paragraph 153 applies to a hedge of exposure to changes in the fair value
of an investment in fixed rate debt as a result of changes in interest rates. This example is presented
from the perspective of the holder. In Year 1 an investor purchases for 100 a debl security that is
classified as available for sale. Atthe end of Year 1, current fair value is 110. Therefore, the 10 increase
is reported in equity (assuming the investor has elected this method), and the carrying amount is
increased tc 110 In the balance sheet. To protect the 110 value, the holder enters into a hedge by
acquiring a derivative. By the end of Year 2, the derivalive has a gain of 5, and the debt szcurily has a
corresponding decline in fair value.

Investor's Books Year 1: Debit Credit
Investment in debt security 100
Cash 100

(To reflect the purchase of the security.}

investment in debt security i0
Increase in fair value (included in equity) 10

(To reflect the increase in fair value of the security.)

Investor's Books Year 2 Dehit Credit
Derivative asset 5
Gain (included in net profit or loss) 5

(To reflect the increase in fair value of the derivalive))

Loss (included in nat profit orlcss) 5
investment in debl security 5

(To reflect the decrease in fair value of the debt security.)

The carrying amount of the debt security is 105 &t the end of Year 2, and the carrying amount of the
derivative is 5. The gain of 10 is reported in equily until the debt security is soid, and it is subject to
amortisalion in accardance with paragraph 157. '

If only certain risks altributable 1o a hedged item have been hedged, recognised changes in the fair value
of the hedged item unrelated to the hedge are reported in one of the two ways set out in paragraph 103,

An enterprise should discontinue prospectively the hedge accounting specified in paragraph
153 if any one of the following occurs:

(a) the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised (for this purpose, the
replacement or a roflover of a hedging instrument into another hedging instrument is not
considered an expiration or termination if such replacement or rollover is part of the
enterprise's documented hedging strategy); or

{b) the hedge no longer meets the criteria for qualification for hedge accounting in paragraph
' 142,

An adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged interest-bearing financial instrument should
be amortised to net profit or loss. Amortisation should begin no later than when the hedged
item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.
The adjustment should be fully amortised by maturity.
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Cash Flow Hedges

158,

158.

760,

161.

162,

163,

If a cash flow hedge meets the conditions in paragraph 142 during the financial reportmg period,
it should be accounted for as follows:

(a) the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined fo be an
effective hedge (see paragraph 142) should be recognised directly in equity through the
statement of changes in equity (see lIAS 1, paragraphs 86-88); and

(b) the ineffective portion should be reported:
{}  immediately in net profit or loss if the hedging instrument is a derivative; or

(i} in accordance with paragraph 103 in the limited circumstances in which the hedging
instrument is not a derivative.

More specifically, a cash flow hedge is accounted for as follows:

(a) the separate component of equity associated with the hedged item is adjusied to the lesser of the
following (in absolute amounts):

(iYthe cumutative gain or loss on the hedging instrument necessary to offset the cumulative change
in expected future cash flows on the hedged item from inception of the hedge excluding the
ineffective component discussed in paragraph 158(kb); and

(i)  the fair value of the cumulative change in expected future cash flows on the hedged item
from inception of the hedge;

(b) any remaining gain or loss on the hedging instrument (which is not an effective hedge) is included
in net profit or loss or directly in equity as appropriale under paragraphs 103 and 158; and

(c) if an enterprise’s documented risk management strategy for a particular hedging relationship
excludes a specific component of the gain or loss or related cash flows on the hedging instrument
from the assessment of hedge effectiveness (see paragraph 142(a)), thal excluded component of
gain or Joss is recegnised in accordance with paragraph 103.

If the hedged firm commitment or forecasted transaction results in the recognition of an asset or
a liability, then at the time the asset or Kability is recognised the associated gains or losses that
were recognised directly in equity in accordance with paragraph 158 should be removed from
equity and should enter into the jnitial measurement of the acquisition cost or other carrying
amount of the asset or liability.

The gain orioss on the hedging instrument that was included in the initial measurement of the acquisition
cost or other carrying amount of the asse! or liability is subsequently included in net profit or lass when
the assel or liability affects net profit or loss (such as in the periods that depreciation expense, interest
income or expense, or cast of sales is recognised). The provisions of other Intermational Accounting
Standards with respect to impairment of assels (see |AS 36, Impainrment of Assets) and net realisable
values of inventories (see |AS 2, lnvenlores) apply to assels arising from hedges of forecasted
transactions. '

For all cash flow hedges other than those covered by paragraph 160, amounts that had been
recognised directly in equity shovld pe included in net profit or loss in the same period or
periods during which the hedged firm commitrment or forecasted transaction affects net profit or
loss (for example, when a forecasted sale actually occurs).

An enterprise should discontinue prospectively the hedge accounting specified in paragraphs
158-162 if any one of the following occurs:

(a) the hedging instrument expires or Is sold, terminated, or exercised (for this purpose, the
replacement or a rollover of a hedging instrument into anaother hedging instrument is not
considered an expiration or termination if such replacement or rollover is part of the
enterprise’s documented hedging strategy). In this case, the cumulative gain or loss on the
hedging instrument that initially had been reported directly in equity when the hedge was
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effective (see paragraph 158(a)) should remain separately in equify until the forecasted
transaction occurs, When the transaction occurs, paragraphs 160 and 162 apply;

the hedge no longer meets the criteria for qualification for hedge accounting in paragraph
142, In this case, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that Initially had
been reported directly In equity when the hedge was effective (see paragraph 168(a)) should
remain separately in equity until the committed or forecasted transaction occurs, When the
transaction occurs, paragraphs 161 and 162 apply; or

e committed or forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, in which case any
related net cumulative gain or loss that has been reported directly in equity should be
reported in net profit or loss for the period.

Hedges of a Net Investmentin a Foreign Entity

164. Hedges of a net investment in a foreign entity (see IAS 21, The Effects of Changes In Forelgn
Exchange Rates) should be accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges:

)

)

the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an
effective hedge {see paragraph 142} should be recognised directly in equity through the
statement of changes in equity (see IAS 1, paragraphs 86-88); and

the ineffective portion should be reported:
() immediately in net profit or loss if the hedging instrument is a derivative; or

(i} in accordance with paragraph 19 of IAS 21, in the limited circumstances in which the
hedging instrument is not a derivative. ]

The gain or loss on the hedying instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge should '
be classlfied in the same manner as the foreign currency translation gain or loss.

If a Hedge Does Not Qualify for Speciat Hedge Accounting

165. If a hedge does not qualify for special hedge accounting because it fails to meet the criteria in paragraph
142, gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of a hedged item that is measured at tair
value subsequent to initial recognition are reported in one of the two ways set out in paragraph 103. Fair
value adjustments of a hedging instrument that is a derfvalive would be reported in net profit orloss.

Disclosure

166. Financial statements should include all of the disclosures required by IAS 32, except that the
requirements in IAS 32 for supplementary disclosure of fair values (paragraphs 77 and £8) are
not applicable to those financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value.

167. The following should be included in the disclosures of the enterprise’s accounting policies as
part of the disclosure required by IAS 32 paragraph 47(b):

(@

()

(c)

the methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating fair values of financial
assets and financial liabilities that are carried at fair value, separately for significant classes
of financial assets (paragraph 46 of IAS 32 provides guidance for determining classes of
financial assets);

whether gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of those available-for-sale
financial assets that are measured at fair value subsequent to initial recognition are
included in net profit or loss for the period or are recognised directly in equity until the
financial asset is disposed of; and

for each of the four categories of financial assets defined in paragraph 10, whether ‘regular
way' purchases of financial assets are accounted for at trade date or seftlement date (see
paragraph 30).
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168. In applying paragraph 157(a), an enterprise will disclose prepayment rates, rates of estimated credit
losses, and inlerest or discount rates.

169. Financial statements should include afl of the following additional disclosures relating to
hedging:

E))

describe the enterprise’s financial risk management ohjectives and policies, including its

policy for hedging each major type of forecas€ed transaction (see paragraph 1 42(a));

For example, in the case of hedges of risks relaling to future sales, that description indicates the nature
of ihe risks being hedged, approximately how many months or years of expected future sales have been
hedged, and the approximate percentage of sales in those future months or years;

)

{c)

disclose the following separately for designated fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, and
hedges of a net investment in a foreign entity:

(i)  a description of the hedge;

(i) a description of the financial instruments designated as hedging instruments for the
hedge and their fair values at the balance sheet date;

(i) the nature of the risks being hedged; and

(ivy for hedges of forecasted transactions, the periods in which the farecasted
transactions are expected to occur, when they are expected to enter into the
determination of net profit or loss, and & description of any forecasted transaction for
which hedge accounting had previously been used but that is rio longer expected to
occtr; and

if a gain or loss on derivative and nen-derivative financial assets and liabilities designated
as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges has been recognised directly in egquity,
through the statement of changes in equity, disclose:

(0 the amount that was so recognised in equity during the current period;

(i) the amount that was removed from equity and reported in net prafit or loss for the
period; and :

(i) the amount that was removed from equity and added to the initial measurement of the
acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the asset or tiability in a hedged
forecasted transaction during the current period (see paragraph 160).

170. Financial statements should include all of the following additional disclosures relating to
financial instruments; .

@

)

(c)

if a gain or lass from remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets to falr value (other than
assets relating to hedges) has been recognised directly in equity, through the statement of
changes in equity, disclose:

(i) the amount that was so recognised in equity during the current period; and

{ii) the amount that was removed from equity and reported in net profit or loss for the
period;

if the presumption that fair value can be reliably measured for all financial assets that are
available for sale or held for trading has been overcome (see paragraph 70; and the
enterprise is, therefore, measuring any such financial assets af amortised cost, disclose
that fact together with a description of the financial assets, their carrying amount, an
explanation of why falr value cannot be reliably measured, and, if possible, the range of
estimatas within which fair value is highly likely to lie. Further, if financial assets whose fair
value previously could not be measured relfably are sold, that fact, the carrying amount of
such financial assets at the time of sale, and the amount of gain or loss recognised should
be disclosed;

disclose significant items of income, expense, and gains and losses resulting from financial
assets and financial liabilities, whether included in net profit or loss or as a separate
component of equity.. For this purpose:
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(i) total interest mcome and ftotal interest expense (both on a historical cost bas;s)
*  should be disclosed separately;

(i) with respect to available-for-sale financial assets that are adjusted to fair value after
initial acquisition, total gains and losses from derecognition of such financial assets
included In net profit or loss for the period should be reported separately from fotal
gains and losses from fair value adjustments of recognised assets and liabilities
included in net profit or foss for the period (a similar split of ‘realised’ versus
‘unrealised’ gains and losses with respect to financial assets and liabilities held for
trading is not required);

{(if)  the enterprise should disclose the amount of interest income that has been accrued
on impaired loans pursuant to paragraph 116 and that has not yet been received in
cash;

if the enterprise has entered into a securitisation or repurchase agreement, disclose,
separately for such transactions occurring in the current financial reporting period and for
remaining retained interests from transactions occurring in prior financial reporting
periods:

(i)  the nature and extent of such transactions, including a description of any collateral
and guantitative information about the key assumptions used in calculating the falr
values of new and retained interests;

(i whether the financial assets have been derecognised;

if the enterprise has reclassified a financial asset as one required to be reported at
amortised cost rather than at fair value (see paragraph 92), disclose the reason for that
reclassification; and

disclose the nature and amount of any impairment loss or reversal of an Impairment loss

recognised for a financial assef, separately for each significant class of financial asset
(paragraph 45 of IAS 32 provides guidance for determining classes of financial assets).

Effective Date and Transition

171.

172,

This International Accounting Standard becomes operative for financial statements covering
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2001. Earlier application is permitted only as of
the beginning of a financial year that ends after 15 March 1989 (the date of issuance of this
Standard). Retrospective application is not permitted.

The transition to this Standard should be as follows:

(3

(b)

(c)

recognition, derecognition, measurement, and hedge accounting policies followed in
financial statements for perfods prior fo the effective date of this Standard should not be
reversed and, therefore, those financial statements should not be restated;

for those transactions entered into before the beginning of the financial year in which this
Standard is initially appfied that the enterprise did previously designate as hedges, the
recognition, derecognition, and measurement provisions of this Standard should be applied
prospectively. Therefore, if the previously designated hedge does not meet the conditions
for an effective hedge set out in paragraph 142 and the hedging instrument is still held,
hedge accounting will no fonger be appropriate starting with the beginning of the financial
year in which this Standard js Initially applied. Accounting in prior financial years should
not be retrospectively changed fo conform to the requirements of this Standard.
Paragraphs 156 and 163 explain how to discontinue hedge accounting;

at the beginning of the financial year in which this Standard is initially applied, an enterprise
should recognise ail derivatives In its balance sheet as either assets or Jiabilities and
should measure them at fair value (except for a derivative that is linked to and that must be
settled by delivery of an unquoted equity instrument whose fair value cannot be measured
reliably). Because all derivatives, other than those that are designated hedgmg
instruments, are considered held for trading, the difference hetween previous carrying
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amount (which may have been zero) and fair value of derivatives should be recognised as
an adjustiment of the balance of retained earnings at the beginning of the financial year in
which this Standard is initially applied (other than for a derivative that is a designated
hedging instrument);

at the beginning of the financiaf year in which this Standard Is initially applied, an enterprise
should apply the criteria in paragraphs 66-102 to identify those financial assets and
liabilities that should be measured at fajr value and those that should be measured at
amortised cost, and jf should remeasure £hose assets as appropriate. Any adjustment of
the previous carrying amount should be recognised as an adjustment of the balance of
retained earnings at the beginning of the financial year in which this Standard is initially
applied;

at the beginning of the financial year in which this Standard Is initially applied, any balance
sheet positions In fair value hedges of existing assets and liabilities should be accounted
for by adjusting their carrying amounts to reflect the fair value of the hedging instrument;

if an enterprise’s hedge accounting policies prior to initial application of this Standard had
included deferral, as assets and liabilities, of gains or losses on cash flow hedges, at the
beginning of the financial year in which this Standard is initially applied, those deferred
gains and Josses should be reclassified as a separate component of equity to the extent
that the transactions meet the criteria in paragraph 142 and, thereafter, accounted for as set
cutin paragraphs 160-162;

transactions entered into before the beginning of the financial year in which this Standard

. is initially applied should not be retrospectively designated as hedges;

if a securitisation, transfer, or other derecognition transaction was entered into prior to the
beginning of the financial year in which this Standard is initiaiiy applied, the accounting for-
that transaction should not be retrospectively changed to conform to the requirements of
this Standard; and

at the beginning of the financial year in which this Standard is initially applied, an enterprise
should classify a financial instrument as equity or as a liability in accordance with
paragraph 11 of this Standard.

Amendments to Existing [AS

This Standard amends existing International Accounting Standards as follows:

Amendments to IAS 18

This Standard adds the following words to the end of the last sentence of paragraph 11 of IAS 18, Revenue:

and in accordance with 1AS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Amendments to IAS 21

In the Bound Volume of Infernational Accounting Standards 1998, several paragraphs of guidance relating to
hedge accounting had been included immediately before the beginning of IAS 21, The Effecis of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rales. That guidance was in the eriginal 1AS 21 but was deleted when IAS 21 was revised
in 1993 in the expeclation that a new Standard addressing hedge accounting would be issued in 1994,
Because IAS 39 covers hedge accounting, the guidance from the original IAS 21 wifl not be included in fulure
editions of the Bound Volume.

This Standard amends the last sentence of paragraph 2 of IAS 21 1o read as follows:

.Other aspects of hedge accounting, inciuding the cr‘rteria__to use hedge accounting, are dealt with in 1AS
39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurernent.
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“This Standard amends the last Sentence of Paragraph 14 of IAS 21 to read as follows:

Other aspects of hedge accounting, including the criteria to use hedge accounting, are dealt with in 1AS
39, Financial Instrumeants! Recognition and Measurement.

Amendments to [AS 25

This Standard supersades those portions of IAS 25, Accounting for Investments, that address accounting for
investments in debt and equity securities and other financial instruments. The remailning portion of IAS 25,
which addresses accounting for investments in fand and buildings and oiher tangible and intangible assets
acquired for investment purposes rather than for use, is currently urder review. Paragraph 3 of IAS 25 lists the
types of investments excluded from the scope of 1AS 25, and the following subparagraph is added to that list:

() investments in financial assets to which IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, applies.

Amendments to IAS 27

This Standard amends the last sentence of paragraph 13 of IAS 27, Consolidated Financial Statements and
Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries, to read as follows:

Such subsidiaries should be accounted for as if they are investments jn accordance with JAS 35,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

This Stancard amends the first sentence of paragraph 24 of IAS 27 to change the reference from AS 25,
Accounting for Investments’, to 'fAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.

This Standard amends paragraph 29 of 1AS 27 to read as follows:

29. In a parent's separate financial statements, investments In subsidiaries that are included in
the consolidated financial statements should be either:
(a} carrfed at cost;

(b) ~ accounted for using the equity method as described in IAS 28, Accounting for
Investments in Associates; or

(c) accounted for as avaliable-for-sale financial assets as described in IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurernent. N

This Standard amends paragraph 30 of IAS 27 to read as follows:

30. In a parent's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries that are excluded
from consolidated financial statements should be either:
(a) carried at cost;

{b} accounted for using the equity method as described in IAS 28, Accounting for
Investments in Associates; or

{c) accounted for as available-for-sale financial assets as described in IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurernient.

Amendments to [AS 28

The words ‘in accerdance with International Accounting Standard IAS 25, Accounting for Investments' are
deleted from the end of paragraph 7 of IAS 28.

This Standard amends paragraph 12 of IAS 28 to read as follows:
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An jnvestment in an associate that is inclu ded In the separate financial statements of an
investor that issues consolidated financial statements and that is not held exclusively with
a view o jts disposal in the near fufure should be either;

carried at cost;

accounted for using the equity method as described in this Standard; or

accounted for as an available-for-sale financial asset as described in IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

This Standard amends paragraph 14 of IAS 28 lo read as {ollows:

14.

(@
(0}

(c)

An investment in an associate thatis included in the financial statements of an investor that
does not isstie consolidated financial statemaents should be either:

carried at cost;

accounted for using the equity method as described in this Standard if the equity method
would be appropriate for the assaociate if £he investor had jssued consolidated financial
statements,; or

accounted for under IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, as an
avaifable-for-sale financial asset or a financial asset held for trading based on the
definitions in IAS 39.

Amendments to IAS 30

This Standard amends paragraphs 24 and 25 of 1AS 30, Disclosures in the Financia! Stalements of Banks and .
Simila:r Financial Institutions, as follows:

24.

25.

A bank should disclose the fair values of each class of its financial assets and liabilities as
required by IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, and IAS 38,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,

IAS 39 provides for four classifications of financial assels: loans and receivables originated by the
enterprise, held-to-maturily investments, financial assets held for trading, and available-for-sale
financial assets. A bank will disclose the fair values of its financial assets for these four
classifications, as a minimum.

Amendments to IAS 31

This Standard amends the first sentence of paragraph 35 of 1AS 31 as follows:

35.

A venturer should account for the following investments either at cost or in accordance
with IAS 389, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurament.,

This Standard amends paragraph 42 of |AS 31 as follows:

42,

An investor in a joint venture, which does not have joint contro!, should report its interest in
a joint venture in its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IAS 38, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, or, if it has significant influence in the joint
venture, in accordance with IAS 28, Accounting for Investments in Associates. In the
separafe financial statements of an investor that issues consolidated financial staternents,
it may also report the investment at cost,
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Amendments to 1AS 32

This Standard amends |AS 32 to i.nc[ude the following addition to the definition of financial instrument in
paragraph 5 of that Standard;

Commodity-based contracts that give either party the right to settle in cash or some other
financial instrument should be accounted for as if they were financial instruments, with the
exception of commodity contracts that (a) were entered into and continue to meet the enterprise’s
expected purchase, sale, or usage requirements, {b) were designated for that purpose at their
inception, and (¢} are expected to be settled by delivery.

This Standard amends IAS 32 to include the following elaboration an the definition of financial liability in
paragraph 5 of that Standard:

An enterprise may have a contractual obligation that it can settle either by payment of tinancial
assels or by payment in the form of its own equity securities. In such a case, if the number of
equity securities required to settle the obligation varies with changes in their falr value so that the
total fair value of the equity securities paid always equals the amount of the contractual
obligation, the holder of the obligation is not exposed to gain or loss from fiuctuations in the
price of the eguity securities. Such an obligation should be accounted for as a financial liablity
of the enterprise, :

The clause ', adjusted for the transaction costs that would be incurred inan actual transaction,” is deleted from
the guidance in paragraph 81 of 1AS 32. .

The words ‘takes into account’ in the first sentence of paragraph 83 of IAS 32 are replaced with the words ‘is
determined without deduclion for'.

This Standard amends 1AS 32 to add the following subheading and paragraph between paragraphs 43 and 44:
Disclosure of Risk Management Policies

43A. An enterprise should describe its financial risk management objectives and policies,
including its policy for hedging each major type of forecasted transaction for which hedge -
accounting is used.

The first sentence of paragraph 52 of IAS 32 is deleted. The reference in the second sentence to 1AS 1,
Disclasure of Accounling Policies’, is changed to 'IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements'.

Amendments to [AS 38

This Standard amends paragraph 2(f) of IAS 38, Intangible Assets, to repface the rererence to 1AS 25,
Accounting for Investments, by reference to IAS 39, and to delete footnote 1.
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SIC Standing Interpretations Committee

Interpretation SIC -3
Elimination of Unrealised Profits and Losses On Transactions with Associates

Paragraph i1 of IAS 1 (revised 1997), Presentation of Financial Statements, requires that financial
statements should not be described as complying with International Accounting Standards unless they
comply with all the requirements of each applicable Standard and each applicable Interpretation issued by
the Standing Interpretations Committee. SIC Interpretations are not intended to apply to immaterial items.

Reference: IAS 28, Accounting for investments in Associates

ISSUE

I

Although TAS 28.16 refers to consolidation procedures set out in IAS 27, it does not give explicit
guidance on the elimination of unrealized profits and losses resulting from “upstream™ or “downstream”
transactions between an investor (its consolidated subsidiaries) and associates “Upstream™ transactions
are, for example, sales of assets from an associate to the investor (or its consolidated subsidiaries).
“Downstream™ transactions are, for example, sales of assets from the investor (or its consolidated
subsidiaries) to an associate.

The issue is to what extent an investor should eliminate unrealized profits and losses resulting from
transactions between an investor {or its consolidated subsidiaries) and associates accounted for using the
equity method.

CONSENSUS

3.

Where an associate is accounted for using the equity method, unrealized profits and losses resulting
from “upstream” and “downstream” transactions between an investor (or its consolidated subsidiaries)
and associates should be eliminated to the extent of the investor’s interest in the associate,

Unrealised losses should not be eliminated to the extent that the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.

BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS

5.

IAS 28.16 states that many consolidation procedures are similar for subsidiaries and associates.
Regarding subsidiaries, IAS 27.17 requires that unrealized profits and losses resulting from intragroup
transactions should be eliminated in full. However, unlike subsidiaries, associates are not under the
control of the investor.

IAS 31.32 allows a venturer to report its interest in a jointly controlled entity using the equity method.
TAS 31.39 and .40 require the proportionate elimination of intercompany profits and losses resulting
from transactions with a joint venture. The rationale of these provusuibs fir ebtutues under joint control
regarding the elimination of intercompany profits and losses applies to entities under significant
influence as well. In addition, the consistent application of the equity method requires that
intercompany profits and losses resulting from transactions with joint ventures and with associates be
treated in the same way.

IAS 31.39 and .40 require the immediate recognition of any unrealized losses resulting from
transactions between a venturer and a joint venture when they represent a reduction in the net realizable
value of current assets or a decline, other than temporary, in the carrying amount of a long-term asset.
The same rationale applies to transactions between an investor and an associate.

Date of Consensus: July 1997

Effective Date: Periods beginning on or after 1 January 1998; earlier application is encouraged. Changes in
accounting policies should be accounted for according to the transition requirements of [AS 8.46
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Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.94
Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries

An amendment of ARB No. 51, With related _
Amendments of APB Opinion No. 18 and ARB NO.43,
Chapter 12

STATUS

i

Issued: October 1987
Effective Date: For fiscal years ending after December 15,1 988

Affects: Supersedes ARB 43, Chapter 12, paragraphs 8 and 9
Supersedes ARB 51, paragraphs 2, 3, and 19 through 21
Amends APB 18, paragraphs 1,16, 17, 19, 19(a), and 20(d)
Supersedes APB 18, paragraphs 14 and 20 © and footnotes 1, 3, and 4

Affected by: Paragraph 14 superseded by FAS 131
Issues Discussed by FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (EI'TF)
Affects: Resolves EITF Issues No. 84-41 and 8528
Interpreted by: Paragraph 13 interpreted by EITF Issues No. 90-15 and 97-2

Related Issues: EITF Issues No. 84-23, 84-30, 84-33, 84-40, 85-21, 96-16,
96-20, 97-1, 97-6 and 9 Topics No. D-14 and D-74

SUMMARY

This Statement amends ARB No.51, Consolidated Financial Statements, to require
consolidation majority-owned subsidiaries unless control is temporary of does not rest with the
majority owner. The met requires consolidation of a mmajority-owned subsidiary even if it has
“nonhomogencous” overlarge minority interest, or a foreign location.

This Statement also makes certain related amendments to APB Opinion No. 18, The Equity
Method counting for Invesiments in Common Stock, and to ARB No, 43, Chapter 12, “Foreign
Operations and Exchange.” Among other changes, those amendments preclude use of parent-company
financial statement prepared for issuance to stockholders as the financial statements of the primary
reporting entity.

This Statement requires that summarized information about the assets, liabilities, and results
of (or separate statements) of previously unconsolidated majority-owned subsidiaries continue to be
promoter those subsidiaries are consolidated.

This Statement is effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 15,
1 statement of comparative financial statements for earlier years is required.
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Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries

An amendment of ARB No. 51, with related amendments of APB
Opinion
No.18 and ARB No.43, Chapter 12
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Introduction

1. Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements, adopted by the
Committee on Accounting Procedure of the AICPA in 1959, concisely describes the purpose of
consolidated financial statements in its first paragraph.

The purpose of consolidated statements is to present, primarily for the benefit of the
sharcholders and creditors of the parent company, the results of operations and the financial
position of a parent company and its subsidiaries essentially as if the group were a single
company with one or more branches or divisions. There is a presumption that consolidated
statements are more meaningful than separate statements and that they are usually necessary
for a fair presentation when one of the companies in the group directly or indirectly has a
controlling financial interest in the other companies,

2. Similarly, the first sentence of paragraph 2 describes its general rule of consolidation policy.
The usual condition for a controlling financial interest is ownership of a majority voting
interest, and, therefore, as a general rule ownership by one company, directly or indirectly, of
over fifty percent of the outstanding voting shares of another company is a ¢condition pointing
toward consolidation.

3. While ARB 51°s general rule is to consolidate all majority-owned subsidiaries, its paragraphs 2
and 3 describe “exceptions to that general rule.”
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Paragraph 2 precludes consolidation of a majority-owned subsidiary under two condition — “where
control is likely to be temporary, or where it does not rest with the majority owners (as, for
instance, where the subsidiary is in legal reorganization or in bankruptcy).” It also permits
exclusion from consolidation of a subsidiary having a relatively large minority interest and of a
foreign subsidiary.? :

The exception in paragraph 3 of ARB 51 has become the basis for excluding from consolidation

the greatest number of majority-owned subsidiaries. It has often been called exclusion of

“nonhomogeneous” operations because of its wording:
....even though a group of companies is heterogeneous in character, it may be better to make a
full consolidation than to present a large number of separate statements. On the other hand,
separate statements or combined statements would be preferable for a subsidiary or group of
subsidiaries if the presentation of financial information concerning the particular activities of
such subsidiaries would be more informative to shareholders and creditor of the parent
company than would the inclusion of such subsidiaries in the consolidation. For example,
separate staternents may be required for a subsidiary which is bank or an insurance company
and may be preferable for a finance company where the parent and the other subsidiaries are
engaged in manufacturing operations.

Business enterprises have increasingly used “nonhomogeneity” as a basis for excluding from
consolidation majority-owned (even wholly owned) subsidiaries considered different in character
from the parent and its other affiliates. Subsidiaries most commonly not consolidated on that basis
have been finance, insurance, real estate, and leasing subsidiaries of manufacturing and
merchandising enterprises.

However, certain diversified enterprises consolidate all of their majority-owned subsidiaries
despite differences in their operations, and significant question about the “nonhomogeneity”
exception have arisen. Present practice has been criticized not only because apparently similar
enterprises use different consolidation policies but also because excluding some subsidiaries from
consolidation results in the omission of significant amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and
expenses from the consolidated statements of many enterprises. Omissions of large amounts of
liabilities, especially those of finance and similar subsidiaries, have led to the criticism that not
consolidating those subsidiaries is an important factor in what is often called “off-balance-shest
financing.”

3 Paragraph 2 permits omission of majority-owned foreign subsidiaries from consolidation by reference to the
broad provisions of ARB No.43, Chapter 12, “Foreign Operations and Foreign Exchange”. Paragraphs 8 and 9:

In view of the uncertain values and availability of the assets and net income of forcign subsidiaries

subject to control and exchange restrictions and the consequent unrealistic statements of income that may result
from the translation of many foreign currencies into dollars, careful consideration should be given to the
fundamental question of whether it is proper to consolidate the statements of foreign subsidiaries with the
statements of United States companies. Whether consolidation of foreign subsidiaries is decided upon or not,
adequate disclosure of foreign operations should be made.

The following are among the possible’ ways of providing information relation to such foreign

subsidiaries:

a. To exclude foreign subsidiaries from consolidation and to furnish (1) statements in which only
domestic subsidiaries are consolidated and (2) as to foreign subsidiaries, a summary in suitable
form of their assets and liabilities, their income and losses for the year, and the parent company’s
equity therein...
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The “nonhomogeneity” exception has only relatively recently become the most prominent reason
for excluding majority-owned subsidiaries from consolidation. When ARB 51 was issued, other
restrictive consolidation policies-to consolidate only wholly owned subsidiaries, only subsidiaries
owned to a specified degree (such as 66 2/3 percent, 75 percent, or 80 percent), only domestic
subsidiaries, only North American subsidiaries, and the like-were more common. Those other
restrictive policies have become less widely used while exclusion for “nonhomogeneity” has
become more widespread.

Consolidation

This Statement eliminates three exceptions to the general rule that majority-owned subsidiaries
should be consolidated: the exceptions for “nonhomogeneous” operations, for relatively large
minority interests (which apparently is seldom used in practice), and for other restrictive policies.
It amends ARB No. 43, Chapter 12, “Foreign Operations and Foreign Exchange,” to narrow the
exception for a majority-owned forcign subsidiary from one that permits exclusion from
consolidation of any or all foreign subsidiaries to ome that effectively eliminates distinctions
between foreign and domestic subsidiaties.

The other exceptions noted in paragraph 4 control that is likely to be temporary and control that
does not rest with the majority owner because of, for example, corporate reorganization or
bankruptcy-have not been reconsidered in this Statement. They relate to the concept of control and
its place in consolidation policy, which are not within the scope of this Statement but are part of a
broader FASB project on he reporting entity, including consolidations and the equity method (par-
subsidiaries controlled by means other than ownership of a majority voting interest-control by
significant minority ownership, by contract, lease, or agreement with other steckholders, by court
decree, or otherwise-has not been reconsidered in this Statement because that subject also is part of
the project on the reporting entity.

Continued Disclosure

The FASB project on the reporting entity, including consolidations and the equity method, will
consider what disaggregated information should be disclosed with consolidated financial
statements. To prevent foss in the meantime of information about unconsolidated subsidiaries now
required by APB Opinion No.18, The Equity Method of Accounting for investments in Common
Stock, this Statement requires continued disclosure of that information for subsidiaries that are
consolidated as a result of this Statement,

The time between issuance of this Statement and one that would require disclosure of specified
disaggregated information provides an opportunity for business enterprises to explore ways to
provide additional information that is useful to investors, creditors, and others in understanding
and assessing the effects of the differing risks and retums of various activities. A number of
enterprises have been providing information about consolidated subsidiaries that goes beyond that
required by Opinion 18 and FASB Statement No.14, Financial Reporting for Segments of a
Business Enterprise, and the Board encourages them to continue with and to strive to improve that
disclosure and encourages others to follow their example. That experimentation not only should
result in improved disclosure but also will provide the Board and its constituents with experience
on which to draw in considering the broad issue of disclosures of disaggregated information.
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STANDARDS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING
Amendments of ARB No.51, APB Opinion No.18, and ARB No.43, Chapter 12 .
13. Paragraphs 2 and 3 of ARB 51 are amended to read*

2. The usual condition for a controlling financial interest is ownership of a majority voting
interest, and, therefore, as a general rule ownership by one company, directly or indirectly, of
over fifty percent of the outstanding voting shares of another company is a condition pointing
toward consolidation. However, there are exceptions to this general rule. A majority owned
subsidiary shall not be consolidated if control is likely to be temporary or if it does not rest
with the majority owner (as, for instance, if the subsidiary is in legal reorganization or in
bankruptcy or operates under foreign exchange restrictions, controls, or other governmentally
imposed uncertainties so severe that they cast significant doubt on the parent’s ability to
control the subsidiary.

3. All majority-owned subsidiaries-all companies in which a parent has a controlling financial
interest through direct or indirect ownership of a majority voting interest-shall be consolidated
except those described in the last sentence of paragraph 2.

14. The heading “Unconsolidated Subsidiaries in Consolidated Statements” and paragraph 19-21 of
ARB 51 are deleted and replaced by the following heading and new paragraph 19:

DISCLOSURE ABOUT FORMERLY UNCONSOLIDATED MAJORITY - OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES

19. Information that was disclosed under APB Opinion No.18, paragraph 20(c), about
majority-owned subsidiaries that were unconsolidated in financial statements for fiscal years
1986 or 1987 shall continue to be disclosed for them after they are consolidated pursuant to
the provisions of this pronouncement as amended by FASB Statement No.94. That is,
summarized information about the assets, liabilities, and resuits of operations (or separate
statements) shall be provided for those subsidiaries, either individually or in groups, as
appropriate, in the consolidated financial statements or notes.

* Details of the changes: Paragraph 2 of ARB 51 is amended to delete the fourth, fifth, and sixth sentences and to
delete “For example,” to change “should” to “shall,” and to add an example in the parentheses in the third
gentence. The deleted sentences read: “There may also be situations where the minority interest in the subsidiary is
so large, in relation to the equity of the shareholders of the parent in the comsolidated net assets, that the
presentation of separate financial statements for the two companies would be more meaningful and useful.
However, the fact that the subsidiary has a relatively large indebtedness to bondholders or others is not in itself a
valid argument for exclusion of the subsidiary from conselidation. (Also, see Chapter 12 of Accounting Research
Bulletin No.43 for the treatment of foreign subsidiaries.)” Paragraph 3 (most of which is quoted in paragraph 5 of
this statement) is entirely deleted and replaced by a new paragraph 3. :
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15. Opinion 18 is amended to eliminate its requirement to use the equity method to account in
consolidated financial statements for unconsolidated majority-owned subsidiaries and to eliminate
its provisions applying to “parent-company financial statements prepared for issuance to
stockholders as the financial statements of the primary reporting entity,” which are precluded by
this Statement.® The paragraphs primarily affected are 1, 14, 16, and 17 and the footnotes to them;
changes in other paragraphs primarily remove “subsidiaries” or “unconsolidated subsidiaries” from
expressions such as “subsidiaries, joint ventures, and other investee which qualify for the equity
method” or remove other words or sentences that no longer apply.®

a. The second sentence of paragraph 1 is amended to read:

This Opinion extends the applicability of the equity method of accounting (paragraph 6(b)) to
investments in common stock of corporate joint ventures and certain other investments in
common stock.

The third sentence and footﬁote 1 are deleted.
b. Footnote 3 to paragraph 4 is amended to read:

See paragraphs 2 and 3 of ARB No.51 as amended by FASB Statement No.94.
c. - Paragraph 14 is amended to read:

14, ARB No.51, paragraph 2 and 3 (as amended by FASB Statement No.94). requires
consolidation of all majority-owned subsidiaries except the few that meet conditions described
in paragraph 2. The equity method is not a valid substitute for consolidation. Moreover, since
ARB No.51 as amended requires the general-purpose financial statements of companies
having one or more majority-owned subsidiaries to be consolidated statements, parent-
company statements are not a valid substitute for consolidated financial statements.

d. Paragraph 14, footnote 4, is amended to read:

Paragraph 2 and 3 of ARB No.51 (as amended by FASB Statement No.94) describe the
conditions under which a majority-owned subsidiary shall not be consolidated. The limitations
in paragraphs 2 and 3 of ARB No.51 (as amended by FASB Statement No.94) should also be
applied as limitations to the use of the equity method.

5 Opinion 18 was silent about parent-company financial statements prepared for purposes other than issuance as
the general-purpose financial statements of the primary reporting entity. This Statement also does not consider that
subject.

8 Details of major change: paragraphs I, 16, and 17-The deleted parts of all three paragraphs pertain to “parent-
company financial statements prepared for issuance to stockholders as the financial statements of the primary
reporting entity.” A similar provision is also deleted from paragraph 14. Paragraph 14— The first sentence, “The
Board reaffirms the conclusion that investors should account for investments in common stock of unconsolidated
domestic subsidiaries by the equity methed in consolidated financial statements, and the Board now extends this
conclusion to investments in commeon stock of all unconsolidated subsidiaries (foreign as well as domestic) in
consolidated financial statements,” and the third sentence (whose content was just described) are deleted and
replaced by new sentences. In the second sentence the words “and should not be used to justify exclusion of a
subsidiary when consolidation is otherwise appropriate” and deleted. Paragraph 19— The deleted sentences read:
“The difference between consolidation and the equity method lies in the details reported in the financial

statements. Thus, an investor’s net income for the period and its stockholders’ equity at the end of the period are
the same whether an investment in a subsidiary is accounted for under the equity method or the subsidiary is
consolidated (except as indicated in paragraph 191).”



291

FAS 94
e. The second sentence of paragraph 16 is amended to read.

Therefore, investors should account for investments in common stock of corporate joint
ventures by the equity method in consolidated financial statements.”

£ The last sentence of paragraph 17 is deleted.

g. The first two sentences of paragraph 19 are deleted.

h. Inthe third sentence of paragraph 19, the words “unconsolidated subsidiaries” are deleted.
i. Inthe first sentence of paragraph 19(a), the word “subsidiary” is deleted.

j-  Paragraph 20(c), is deleted.

k. Paragraph 20(d) is amended to delete “of 50% or less” from the first sentence.

16. Paragraphs 8 and 9 of ARB 43, Chapter 12, “Foreign Operations and Foreign Exchange,” are
deleted. (Paragraph 8 and part of 9 are quoted in footnote 1 of this statement.)

Effective Date and Tramsition

17. This Statements shall be effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending after December
15, 1988. Earlier application is encouraged: Application to interim financial statements for the year
of adoption is not required at the time of their issuance; however, comparative financial statements
for earlier periods including those of the year of adoption shall be restated when this Statement is
applied.

The provisions of this Statement need not
be applied to immaterial items.

This statement was adopted by the affirmative votes of six members of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board. Mr. Brown dissented.

Mr. Brown does not support this Statement’s requirement to comtinue disclosures for
subsidiaries formerly exempt from consolidation. He believes that, although this Statement improves
financial reporting by requiring consolidation of most subsidiaries formerly exempt from consolidation,
the requirement for continued disclosure is not evenhanded and has not been justified. By requiring
continued disclosures for subsidiaries that were not consolidated in 1986 and 1987, this Statement
would oblige certain business enterprises to disclose information not required of enterprises in similar
circumstances, That additional disclosure would not be based on different circumstances but merely on
differences in past accounting practices.

Mr. Brown believes that comparability of financial statements will not be enhanced by those
disclosure requirements. On the effective date of the Statement, similarly situated enterprises will have
different disclosure requirements. That lack of comparability will increase over time because the

7 «“Representational faithfulness is correspondence or agreement between a measure or description and the
phenomenon it purports to represent. In accounting, the phenomena to be represented are economic resources and
obligations and the transactions and cvents that those resources and obligations” (Concepts Statement 2, par.63).
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proportion of subsidiaries subject to those requirements will decline. That decline will oceur because
newly formed subsidiaries will not be subject to the disclosure requirements and because the number of
subsidiaries for which disclosure is initially required will decrease over time due to attrition. The
disclosure requirements are characterized as expedient and are expected to be temporary, pending
Board consideration of the board issue of disclosure of disaggregated activities. Mr. Brown notes,
however, that this consideration may be some years in the future.

The stated purpose of those disclosure requirements is to avoid possible loss of information
previously disclosed. Mr. Brown observes, however, that the importance of the information that might
be lost has not been substantiated, nor is it even clear that significant information would be lost. Many
subsidiaries that are newly required to be consolidated under this Statement will be segments under
FASB Statement No.14, Financial Reporting for Segments of a Business Enterprise. For those
enterprises, segment reporting will provide supplementary information. In addition, enterprises may
well choose to disclose information voluntarily as suggested by the fact that many enterprises already
provide information about consolidated subsidiaries that goes beyond existing requiremenis. Further,
Mr. Brown thinks that enterprises will have strong incentives to provide disclosures to minimize the
possibility that investors, creditors, and others will misinterpret financial statements in which formerly
unconsolidated subsidiaries are consolidated.

Members of the Financial Accounting Standard Board:
Dennis R. Beresford, Chairman ~ Raymond C. Lauver C. Arthur Northrop

James J. Leisenring Robert J. Swieringa Victor H. Brown
David Mosso
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Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities
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Introduction
1. This Statement addresses the accounting and reporting for certain investments in debt securities®

and equity securities. It expands the use of fair value accounting for those securities but retains
the use of the amortized cost method for investments in debt securities that the reporting enterprise
has the positive intent and ability to.hold to maturity.

This Statement was undertaken mainly in response to concerns expressed by regulators and others
about the recognition and measurement of investments in debt securities, particularly those heid by
financial institutions. They questioned the appropriateness of using the amortized cost method for
certain investments in debt securities in light of certain trading and sales practices. Their concerns
also were prompted by the existence of inconsistent guidance on the reporting of debt securities
held as assets in various AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides. The AICPA’s Accounting
Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) and the major CPA firms, among others, urged the
Board to reexamine the accounting for certain investments in securities.

STANDARDS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Scope

3.

Except as indicated in paragraph 4, this Statement establishes standards of financial accounting
and reporting for investments in equity securities that have readily determinable fair values and for
all investments in debt securities.

a. The fair value of an equity security is readily determinable if sale prices or bid-and-asked
quotations are currently available on a securities exchange registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) or in the over-the-counter market, provided that those prices or
quotations for the over-the-counter market are publicly reported by the National Association

¥ Words that appear in the glossary in Appendix C are set in boldface type the first time they appear.
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of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations systems or by the National Quotation Bureau.
Restricted stock” does not meet that definition.

b. The fair value of an equity security traded only in a foreign market is readily determinable if

that foreign market is of a breadth and scope comparable to one of the U.S. markets referred to
above.

c. The fair value of an investment in a mutual fund is readily determinable if the fair value
pershare (unit) is determined and published and is the basis for current transactions.

This Statement does not apply to investments in equity securities accounted for under the equity
method nor to investments in consolidated subsidiaries. This Statement does not apply to
enterprises whose specialized accounting practices included accounting for substantially all
investments in debt and equity securities at market value or fair value, with changes in value
recognized in earnings (income) or it the change in net assets. Examples of those enterprises are
brokers and dealers in securities, defined benefit pension plans, and investment companies. This
Statement also does not apply to not-for-profit organizations; however, it does apply to
cooperatives and mutual enterprises, including credit unions and mutual insurance companies.

This Statement supersedes FASB Statement No.12, Accounting for Certain Marketable Securities,
and supersedes or amends other accounting pronouncements listed in Appendix B.

Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities

6.

At acquisition, an enterprise shall classify debt and equity securities into one of three categories:
held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, or trading. At each reporting date, the appropriateness of the
classification shall be reassessed.

Held-to-Maturity Securities

7.

Investments in debt securities shall be classified as held-to-maturity and measured at amortized
cost in the statement of financial position only if the reporting enterprise has the positive intent and
ability to hold those securities to maturity.

The following changes in circumstances, however, may cause the enterprise to change its intent to
hold a certain security to maturity without calling into question its intent to hold other debt
securities to maturity in the future. Thus, the sale or transfer of a held-to-maturity security due to
one of the following changes in circumstance shall not be considered to be inconsistent with its
original classification:

a. Evidence of a significant deterioration in the issuer’s creditworthiness.
b. A change in tax law that eliminates or reduces the tax-exempt status of interest on the debt

security (but not a change in tax law that revises the marginal tax rates applicable to interest
income).

? Restricted stock, for the purpese of this Statement, means equity securities for which sale is restricted by
governmental or contractual requirement (other than in connection with being pledged as collateral) except if that
requirement terminates within one year or if the holder has the power by contract or otherwise to cause the
requirement to be met within one year. Any pottion of the security that can be reasonably expected to qualify for
sale within one year, such as may be the case under Rule 144 or similar rules of the SEC, is not considered
restricted.
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¢. A major business combination or major disposition (such as sale of a segment) that
necessitates the sale or transfer of held-to-maturity securities to maintain the enterprise’s
existing interest rate risk position or credit risk policy.

d. A change in statutory or regulatory requirements significantly modifying either what
constitutes a permissible investment or the maximum level of investments in certain kinds of
securities, thereby causing an enterprise to dispose of a held-to-maturity security.

e. A significant increase by the regulator in the industry’s capital requirements that causes the
enterprise to downsize by selling held-to-maturity securities.

f. A significant increase in the risk weights of debt securities used for regulatory risk-based
capital purposes.

In addition to the foregoing changes in circumstances, other events that are isolated, nonrecurring, and
unusual for the reporting enterprise that could not have been reasonably anticipated may cause the
enterprise to sell or transfer a held-to-maturity security without necessarily calling into question its
intent to hold other debt securities to maturity. All sales and transfers of held-to-maturity securities
shall be disclosed pursuant to paragraph 22.

9.

10.

11.

An enterprise shail not classify a debt security as held-to-maturity if the enterprise has the intent to
hold the security for only an indefinite period. Consequently, a debt security should not, for
example,

be classified as held-to-maturity if the enterprise anticipates that the security would be available to
be sold in response to:

a. Changes in market interest rates and related changes in the security’s prepayment risk.

b. Needs for liquidity (for example, due to the withdrawal of deposits, increased demand for
loans, surrender of insurance policies, or payment of insurance claims)

c. Changes in the availability of and the yield on alternative investments
d. Changes in funding sources and terms
e, Changes in foreign currency risk.

Although its asset-liability management may encompass consideration of the maturity and
repricing characteristics of all investments in debt securities, an enterprise may decide that it can
accomplish the necessary adjustments under its asset-liability management without having all of its
debt securities available to be sold to accomplish those ongoing adjustments deemed necessary
under its asset-liability management, thereby enabling those debt securities to be accounted for at
amortized cost on the basis of a positive intent and ability to hold them to maturity.

Sales of debt securities that meet either of the following two conditions may be considered as
maturities for purposes of the classification of securities under paragraphs 7 and 12 and the
disclosure requirements under paragraph 22:

a. The sale of a security occurs near enough to its maturity date (or call date if exercise of the
call is probable) that interest rate risk is substantially eliminated as a pricing factor. That is,
the date of sale is so near the maturity or call date (for example, within three months) that
changes in market interest rates would not have a significant effect on the security’s fair value.
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b. The sale of a security occurs after the enterprise has already collected a substantial portion (at
least 85 percent) of the principal outstanding at acquisition due either to prepayments on the
debt security of to scheduled payments on a debt security payable in equal installments (both
principal and interest) over its term. For variable-rate securities, the scheduled payments need
not be equal.

Trading Securities and Available-for-Sale
Securities

12. Investments in debt securities that are not classified as held-to-maturity and equity securities that
have readily determinable fair values shall be classified in one of the following categories and
measured at fair value in the statement of financial position:

a. Trading securities. Securities that are bought and held principally for the purpose of
seiling them in the near term (thus held for only a short period of time) shall be classified
as trading securities. Trading generally reflects active and frequent buying and selling,
and trading securities are generally used with the objective of generating profits on short-
term differences in price. Mortgage backed securities that are held for sale in conjunction
with mortgage banking activities, as described in FASB Statement No.65, Accounting for
Certain Mortgage Banking Activities, shall be classified as trading securities. (Other
mortgage-backed securities not held for sale in conjunction with mortgage banking
activities shall be classified based on the criteria in this paragraph and paragraph 7.)

b, Available-for-sale securities. Investments not classified as trading securities (nor as held-
to-maturity securities) shall be classified as available-for-sale securities.

Reporting Changes in Fair Value

13. Unrealized holding gains and losses for trading securities shall be included in earnings.
Unrealized holding gains and losses for available-for-sale securities (including those classified as
current assets) shall be excluded from earnings and reported as a net amount in a separate
component of shareholders’ equity until realized. Paragraph 36 of FASB Statement No,109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, provides guidance on reporting the tax effects of unrealized holding
gains and losses reporied in a separate component of shareholders’ equity.

14. Dividend and interest income, including amortization of the premium and discount arising at
acquisition, for all three categories of investments in securities shall continue to be included in
earnings. This Statement does not affect the methods used for recognizing and measuring the
amount of dividend and interest income. Realized gains and losses for securities classified as either
available-for-sale or held-to-maturity also shall continue to be reported in earnings.

Transfers between Categories of Investments
15. The transfer of a security between categories of investments shall be accounted for at fair value.™
At the date of the transfer, the security’s unrealized holding gain or loss shall be accounted for as

follows:

a. For a security transferred from the trading category, the unrealized holding gain or loss at the
date of the transfer will have already been recognized in earnings and shall not be reversed.

1% For a debt security transferred into the held-to-maturity category, the use of fair value may create a premium or
discount that, under amortized cost accounting, shall be amortized thereafter as an adjustment of yield pursuant to
FASB Statement No.91, Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Cosits Associated with Originating or Acquiring
Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases.
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b. For a security transferred into the trading category, the unrealized holding gain or loss at the

date of the transfer shall be recognized in earnings immediately.

c. For a debt security transferred into the available-for-sale category from the held-to-maturity
category, the unrealized holding gain or loss at the date of the transfer shall be recognized in a
separate component of shareholders’ equity.

d. For a debt security transferred into the held-to-maturity category from the available-for-sale
category, the unrealized holding gain or loss ay the date of the transfer shall continue to be
reported in a separate component of shareholders’ equity but shall be amortized over the
remaining life of the security as an adjustment of yield in a manner consistent with the
amortization of an unrealized holding gain or loss reported in equity will offset or mitigate the
effect on interest income of the amortization of the premium or discount (discussed in
footnote 3) for that held-to-maturity security.

Consistent with paragraphs 7 — 9, transfers from the held-to-maturity category should be rare,
except for transfers due to the changes in circumstances identified in subparagraphs &(a) — 8 (f).
Given the nature of a trading security, transfer into or from the trading category also should be
rare. /

Impairment of Securities

For individual securities classified as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity, an enterprise
shall determine whether a decline in fair value below the amortized cost basis is other than
temporary. For example, if it is probable that the investor will be unablie to collect all amounts due
according to the contractual terms of a debt security not impaired at acquisition, an other-than-
temporary impairment shall be considered to have occurred.'” If the decline in fair value is judged
to be other than temporary, the cost basis of the individual security shall be written down to fair
value as a new cost basis and the amount of the write down shall be included in earnings (that is,
accounted for as a realized loss). The new cost basis shall not be changed for subsequent
recoveries in fair value. Subsequent increases in the fair value of available-for-sale securities shall
be included in the separate component of equity pursuant to paragraph 13; subsequent decreases in
fair value, if not an other-than-temporary impairment, also shall be included in the separate
component of equity.

Financial Statemeni Presentation

17.

An enterprise that presents a classified statement of financial position shall report all trading
securities as current assets and shall report individual held-to-maturity securities and individuai
available-for-sale securities as either current or noncurrent, as appropriate, under the provisions of
ARB No.43, Chapter 3A, “Working Capital Current Assets and Current Liabilities” "

"' A decline in the value of a security that is other than temporary is aiso discussed in AICPA Auditing
Interpretation, Evidential Matter for the Carrying Amount of Marketable Securities, which was issued in 1975 and

incorporated in Statement on Auditing Standards No.1, Cedification of Auditing Standards and Procedures, as
Interpretation 20, and in SEC Staff 4ccounting Bulletin No.59, Accounting for Noncurrent Marketable Equity
Securities.

12 Chapter 3A 0fARB43 indicates in paragraph4 that “the term current assefs is used to designate cash and other
assets or resources commonly identified as those which are reasonably expected to be realized in cash or sold or
consumed during the normal operating cycle of the business” That paragraph further indicates that the term also
comprehends “marketable securities representing the investment of cash available for current operations™
Paragraph5 indicates that “a one-year time period is to be use as a basis for the segregation of current assets in
cases where there are several operating cycles occurring within a year”.
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Cash flows from purchase, sales, and maturities of available-for-sale securities and held-to-
maturity securities shall be classified as cash flows from investing activities and reported gross for
each security classification in the statement of cash flows. Cash flows from purchases, sales, and

* maturities of trading securities shall be classified as cash flows from operating activities.

Disclosures

19.

20.

21.

For securities classified as available-for-sale and separately for securities classified as held-to-
maturity, all reporting enterprises shall disclose the aggregate fair value, gross unrealized holding
gains, gross unrealized holding losses, and amortized cost basis by major security type as of each
date for which a statement of financial position is presented. In complying with this requirement,
financial institutions’ shall included in their disclosure the following major security types, though
additional types also may be included as appropriate:

Equity securities

Debt securities issued by the U.S. treasury and other U.S. government corporations and
agencies

Debt securities by states of the United States and political subdivisions of the states

Debt securities issued by foreign governments

Corporate debt securities

Mortgage-backed securities

Other debt securities

gp

e Ao

For investments in debt securities classified as available-for-sale and separately for securities
classified as held-to-maturity, all reporting enterprises shall disclose information about the
contractual maturities of those securities as of the date of the most recent statement of financial
position presented. Maturity information may be combined in appropriate groupings. In complying
with this requirement, financial institutions shall disclose the fair value and the amortized cost of
debt securities based on at least 4 maturity groupings: (a) within 1 year, (b) after 1 year through 5
years, (c) after 5 years through 10 years, and (d) after 10 years. Securities not due at a single
maturity date, such as mortgage-backed securities, may be disclosed separately rather than
allocated over several maturity groupings; if allocated, the basis for allocation also shall be
disclosed.

For each period for which the results of operations are presented, an enterprise shall disclose:

a. The proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities and the gross realized gains and gross
realized losses on those sales.

b. The basis on which cost was determined in computing realized gain or loss (that is, specific
identification, average cost, or other method used)

c. The gross gains and gross losses inciuded in earnings from transfers of securities from the
available-for-sale category into the trading category

d. The change in net unrealized holding gain or loss on available-for-sale securities that has been
included in the separate component of shareholders’equity during the period

13 For purpose of the disclosure requirements of paragraphs 19 and 20, the term financial institutions includes
banks, savings and loan associations, savings banks, credit unions, finance companies, and insurance companies,
consistent with the usage of that term in AICPA Statemnent of Position 90-11, Disclosure of Certain Information by
Financial Institutions About Debt Securities Held as Assets.
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e. The change in net unrealized holding gain or loss on trading securities that has been included
in earning during the period

For any sale of or transfers from securities classified as held-to-maturity, the amortized cost
amount of the sold or transferred security, the related realized or nnrealized gain or loss, and the
circumstances leading to the decision to sell or transfer the security shall be disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements for each period for which the results of operations are presented. Such
sales or transfers should be rare, except for sales and transfers due to the changes in circumstances
identified in subparagraphs 8(a) — 8 (f).

Effective Date and Transition

23.

24.

25.

This Statement shall be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1993. Except as
indicated in the following paragraph, initial application of this Statement shall be as of the
beginning of an enterprise’s fiscal year; at that date, investments in debt and equity securities
owned shall be classified based on the enterprise’s current intent. Earlier application as of the
beginning of a fiscal year is permitted only in financial statements for fiscal years beginning after
igsuance of this Statement. This Statement may not be applied retroactively to prior years’
financial statements.

For fiscal years beginning prior to December 16, 1993. Enterprises are permitted to initially apply
this Statement as of the end of a fiscal year for which annual financial statements have not
previously been issued. This Statement may not be applied retroactively to the interim financial
statements for that year.

The effect on retained earnings of initially applying this Statement shall be reported as the effect of
a change in accounting principle in a manner similar to the cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle as described in paragraph 20 of APB Opinion No.20, Accounting Changes.
That effect on retained earnings includes the reversal of amounts previously included in earnings
that would be excluded from earnings under this Statement (refer to paragraph 13). The unrealized
holding gain or loss, net of tax effect, for securities classified as available-for-sale as of the date
that this Statement is first applied shall be an adjustment of the balance of the separate component
of equity. The pro forma effects of retroactive application (discussed in paragraph 21 of Opinion
20) shall not be disclosed.

The provisions of this Statement need not

Be applied to immaterial items.

This Statement was adopted by the affirmative votes of five members of the

Financial Accounting Standards Board. Messrs. Sampson and Swieringa dissented.

Messrs. Sampson and Swieringa disagree with the accounting treatment prescribed in
paragraphs 6 — 18 of this Statement because it does not resolve two of the most important
problems that caused the Board to address the accounting for certain investments in debt and
equity securities-namely, accounting based on intent, and gains trading. They believed that those
problems can only be resolved by reporting all securities that are within the scope of this Statement
at fair value and by including unrealized changes in fair value in earnings.

This Statement requires that debt securities be classified as held-to-maturity, available-for-
sale, or trading and that securities in each classification be accounted for differently. As a result,
three otherwise identical debt securities could receive three different accounting treatments within
the same enterprise. Moreover, classification of debt securities as held-to-maturity is based on
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management’s positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. The notion of intent to hold to
maturity (a) is subjective at best, (b) is not likely to be consistently applied, (c) given the
provisions in paragraphs 8 — 11, is not likely to be descriptive of actual transactions and events,
and (d) disregards the best available information about the present value of expected future cash
flows from a readily marketable debt security-namely, its observable market price. Effective
management of financial activities increasingly requires a flexible approach to asset and liability
management that is inconsistent with a hold-to-maturity notion.

This Statement also requires that certain debt securities classified as held-to-maturity be
reported at amortized cost and that certain debt and equity securities classified as available-for-sale
be reported at fair value with unrealized changes in fair value excluded from eamnings. Those
requirements provide the opportunity for the managers of an enterprise to manage its earnings by
selectively selling securities and thereby selectively including realized gains in earnings and
selectively excluding unrealized losses from earnings. An impressive amount of empirical
evidence indicates that many financial institutions have engaged in that behavior. That behavior
undermines the relevance and reliability of accounting information.

The Board concluded that unrealized changes in fair value for trading securities should be
reported in earnings because that reporting reflects the economic consequences of the events of the
enterprise (such as changes in fair values) as well as the transactions (such as sales of securities)
when those events and transactions occur and results in more relevant reporting (paragraph 92).
However, the Board concluded that similar reporting of unrealized changes in fair value for
available-for-sale securities has the potential for significant earnings volatility that is
unrepresentative of both the way enterprises manage their businesses and the impact of economic
events on the overall enterprise and, therefore, decided that those changes should be excluded from
earning (paragraph 93 and 94). Those conclusion do mot alleviate the potential for volatility in
reported earnings; rather, they provide the opportunity for selective volatility in reported earnings-
that is, the volatility in reported earnings that results from the recognition of unrealized changes in
fair value in earnings through selective sales of securities.

Reporting all securities that are within the scope of this Statement at fair value and including
unrealized changes in fair value in earnings would result in reflecting the consequences of
economic events (price changes) in the periods in which they occur rather than when managers
wish to selectively recognize ghose consequences in earnings. Messrs. Sampson and Swieringa
believe that this reporting is the only way to resolve the problems of accounting based on intent
and gains trading that have raised concerns about the relevance and credibility of accounting for
certain investments in debt and equity securities.

In addition, Mr. Sampson is concerned that the conclusions adopted in this Statement may, in
some cases, portray unrepresentative volatility in capital because enterprises are not permitted to
recognize the unrealized changes in fair value of the liabilities that are related to investments
accounted for as available-for-sale securities.

Members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board:
Dennis R. beresford, Chairman Victor H. Brown A. Clarence Sampson

James J. Leisenring Robert J. Swieringa Joseph V. Anania
Robert H, Northeutt
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